Alexander Olsen

Cognitive Control Function and Moderate-to-Severe Traumatic Brain Injury

Functional and Structural Brain Correlates

Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Trondheim, December 2014

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Medicine Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging



NTNU – Trondheim Norwegian University of Science and Technology

NTNU

Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Faculty of Medicine Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging

© Alexander Olsen

ISBN 978-82-326-0660-3 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-0661-0 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181

Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2014:372

Printed by NTNU-trykk

Kognitiv kontroll og moderat til alvorlig traumatisk hjerneskade – funksjonelle og strukturelle hjernekorrelat

Hvert år rammes mange av traumatiske hjerneskader (traumatic brain injury - TBI) i Norge og resten av verden. For å kunne defineres som TBI må skaden være påført av en ytre kraft, og de vanligste årsakene til TBI er trafikk- og fallulykker. Kliniske tegn på TBI kan for eksempel være nedsatt- eller tap av bevissthet, andre nevrologiske utfall, eller funn ved bruk av konvensjonelle kliniske hjerneavbildningsmetoder. Nevropsykologiske tester kan også brukes i klinikken for å utrede mulige kognitive utfall etter skade. Alle disse kliniske metodene danner et viktig grunnlag for å kunne diagnostisere, behandle, og si noe om generell prognose for de som rammes. En utfordring i klinikken er imidlertid at ikke alle langtidsfølgevirkninger av TBI er påvisbare- eller kan forutsees ut fra disse metodene alene.

I denne avhandlingen ble det brukt avanserte hjerneavbildningsmetoder (funksjonell magnetresonans avbildning - fMRI, og diffusjon tensor avbildning - DTI) for å generere ny kunnskap om funksjonelle og strukturelle endringer i hjernen i kronisk fase (mer enn ett år siden skaden) etter moderat og alvorlig traumatisk hjerneskade. Det ble også undersøkt hvordan slike endringer var assosiert med kliniske variabler og andre funksjonsmål som tidligere har blitt vist å ha stor betydning for pasientenes funksjonsnivå i kronisk fase. Eksekutive funksjoner, også kalt kognitive kontrollfunksjoner, ble særlig undersøkt, siden disse funksjonene har vist seg å være betydningsfulle for hvordan pasienter med moderate og alvorlige traumatiske hjerneskader har det, og hvordan de klarer seg i hverdagen på lang sikt. Kognitive kontrollfunksjoner dreier seg om de mentale prosessene som er involvert i målrettet regulering av tanker, handlinger, og følelser.

Avhandlingen består av fire artikler. I første artikkel ble en stor gruppe friske deltakere inkludert i en studie for å validere en nyutviklet klinisk relevant fMRI protokoll som kunne måle hjerneaktivitet knyttet til kognitive kontrollprosesser med ulik temporal oppløsning. Resultat fra denne studien viste at det finnes et "kjernenettverk" av hjerneområder, som aktiveres både under adaptive reaktive- (raske), samt mer stabile proaktive (mer langsomme) kognitive kontrollprosesser. Når det gjaldt de prosessene som ikke tilhørte "kjernenettverket", fant vi at de adaptive reaktive prosessene var lokalisert lengre fram i frontallappen, sammenlignet med de stabile proaktive prosessene. Videre ble det vist at hjerneaktiviteten knyttet til de stabile proaktive prosessene endret seg over tid utover i oppgaven, noe som indikerte at denne type aktivitet i særlig grad var sensitiv for å detektere adaptive endringer knyttet til å opprettholde målrettet atferd. For å forstå hjernedysfunksjon er det viktig å først gjøre seg kjent med hva som kjennetegner normal funksjon. Resultatene fra denne studien bidro til dette, og dannet et viktig grunnlag for å undersøke nevrale korrelater til kognitive kontrollprosesser etter TBI i artikkel nummer tre.

I artikkel nummer to ble det vist at personer med TBI rapporterte mer vansker (2-5 år etter skaden) knyttet til kognitiv kontrollfunksjon, samt emosjonelle og atferdsmessige problemer, enn kontrollgruppen. Studien viste også at diffus aksonal skade påvist med konvensjonell klinisk MR i tidlig fase, samt depressive symptomer målt ett år etter skaden, var særlige risikofaktorer for senere selvrapporterte plager. Samme studie viste for øvrig ingen statistisk signifikant sammenheng mellom resultater på kognitive tester fra det første året etter skade, og senere selvrapporterte plager.

I artikkel nummer tre ble det påvist ulik påvirkning av de nevrale korrelatene til henholdsvis adaptive reaktive-, og stabile proaktive kognitiv kontroll prosesser, som følge av TBI. Det ble også vist at TBI gruppen hadde økt hjerneaktivering, sammenlignet med kontrollene, knyttet til de stabile proaktive prosessene, jo lenger ut i oppgaven de var. Denne økte aktiveringen viste en doseavhengig lineær sammenheng med alvorligheten av hjerneskaden, med mer aktivering for de med høyere alvorlighetsgrad. Det ble også funnet at høyere hjerneaktivering etter TBI var relatert til mindre selvrapporterte kognitive kontrollproblemer i hverdagen. Dette indikerer at den økte hjerneaktiveringen under oppgaveløsning for TBI gruppen, synes å gjenspeile kompensatoriske mekanismer som også kan nyttiggjøres i mer hverdagslige situasjoner.

I artikkel fire ble det vist at mer alvorlig hjerneskade, basert på kliniske tegn, og funn på konvensjonell MR, var relatert til mer uttalte hvitsubstansforandringer i hjernen målt med DTI. Det ble også vist at mer uttalte hvitsubstansforandringer var relatert til dårligere fungering, både generelt, og også når det gjaldt test-basert kognitiv kontrollfunksjon. Det ble imidlertid ikke funnet noen statistisk signifikant sammenheng mellom ulike DTI mål og selvrapportert kognitiv kontrollfunksjon i hverdagslige situasjoner.

Samlet sett viste funnene i avhandlingen at en bred kartlegging med flere metoder er viktig for å få en best mulig forståelse av de atferdsmessige og nevrale konsekvensene av TBI. Videre ble det vist at subtile endringer i hjernens struktur og funksjon, som ikke nødvendigvis er mulig å detektere med konvensjonelle hjerneavbildningsteknikker, kan ha stor innvirkning på hvordan mennesker med TBI har det, og hvordan de klarer seg i hverdagen. Et særlig interessant funn med mulige kliniske implikasjoner, var at test-basert kognitiv kontrollfunksjon, var relatert til subtile strukturelle endringer i hjernen (målt med DTI), mens selvrapporterte vansker knyttet til kognitive kontrollproblemer i hverdagen var relatert til adaptive endringer i hjerneaktivitet (målt med fMRI). Det er ikke helt uvanlig i klinisk sammenheng at pasienter kan skåre relativt godt på nevropsykologiske tester ment å måle kognitiv kontrollfunksjon, men allikevel rapporterer vansker i hverdagslivet. Å vite at slike selvrapporterte plager kan relateres til forskjeller i hjerneaktivitet, bidrar med et viktig perspektiv i så måte. I og med at det ble vist at økt hjerneaktivitet var relatert til kompensatoriske prosesser, indikerer dette også en mulig innfallsvinkel for målrettet behandling.

Kandidatens navn:	Alexander Olsen
Institutt:	Institutt for sirkulasjon og bildediagnostikk
Veiledere:	Asta Kristine Håberg og Nils Inge Landrø (biveileder)
Finansieringskilde:	Norges forskningsråd via MI Lab, NTNU.

Overnevnte avhandling er funnet verdig for offentlig forsvar for graden PhD i klinisk medisin. Disputas vil finne sted i auditoriet på MTFS, NTNU, Fredag 12.12.2014 kl. 12.15.

Acknowledgements

My thesis would not have been possible without the collaboration, interest and support of others. I would first like to thank all TBI survivors and healthy controls that participated in the studies included in my thesis. I would also want to especially thank all those who contributed to the massive data collection, including research assistants, and the awesome and hard working radiographers at St. Olavs Hospital!

I would also like to thank the following people:

Professor Asta Håberg, my main supervisor, for letting me take-on such an ambitious PhD project, and for sharing your broad knowledge from so many of the sub-disciplines necessary for the completion of my thesis. I am also grateful for the insight you have given me into how to plan and organize projects, how you encouraged me to be patient and aim for high quality in my work, and for supporting me in seeking international experience and collaboration.

Professor Nils Inge Landrø, my co-supervisor, whose comments have not only been important for the scientific quality of my thesis, but also for me being more confident about those qualities.

Neuropsychologist Jan Brunner, co-author and clinical mentor, who did not only spend most weekends and holidays over a two-year period with the rest of us in order to collect data, but also served as an inspiration and thought me a lot on linking knowledge from clinical neuroscience to actual clinical cases.

Professor Olav Haraldseth, head of MI Lab, for believing in happy researchers.

Professors Toril Skandsen and Anne Vik, co-authors and queens of TBI research in Trondheim, for letting me stand on your shoulders when including my PhD project in your larger research activities in Trondheim TBI research group. I also want to thank you for your support, and important and insightful comments on my work, especially towards the last part of my PhD period.

Professor Live Eikenes, for serving as a mentor for the DTI part of my thesis, and for cheerful support and insightful comments during the most hectic end-phase of my PhD period.

I would also like to thank my other co-authors who have contributed extensively to this truly interdisciplinary work; Torun Finnanger, Kari Anne Indredavik Evensen, Kent Gøran Moen, Kari Schirmer-Mikalsen, Elke Visser, Stian Lydersen, Benjamin Garzon, Stein Andersson, and Marit Indredavik.

My work was dependent on a broad collaboration between several departments at the Norwegian university of science and technology (NTNU), and St. Olavs Hospital, and I want to thank all of them. I would especially want to thank my home departments of circulation and medical imaging at NTNU, and physical medicine and rehabilitation at St. Olavs Hospital. I would also like to thank MI Lab, for providing funding for the work. I would also like to thank my prior and current superiors at St. Olavs Hospital for believing in the value of research activities linked to the patient groups treated in our clinic, and for supporting those of us who are involved in it. Gisle Meyer, Bjørn Skogstad, Inger Ragna Sivertsen, and Anne Lise Brein, thank you!

I would also like to thank all my friends and colleagues in Trondheim fMRI group, Trondheim TBI research group, MI Lab, the department of physical medicine and rehabilitation, St. Olavs Hopital, University of California Los Angeles (UCLA), and the department of psychology, NTNU.

I would also like to thank all my friends outside work; lets have some more fun in the time to come, and do something crazy.

All those who have directly or indirectly contributed to my work know whom you are and that your effort has meant a lot to me. If you have not been mentioned by name yet in this acknowledgement section, please feel free to insert it here:

Insert your name here

Finally,

I would like to thank my parents Helen Svea Olsen and Per Harald Olsen, my sister Annikken Olsen Skjæran, and the rest of my extended family, for steady support, and for always being there. And Nina.

Trondheim September 12th 2014

Alcoande Obe

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	.1
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	.5
LIST OF PAPERS Paper I Paper II Paper III Paper IV	.9 .9 .9 .9
SUMMARY1	11
INTRODUCTION 1 DEFINITION OF TBI 1 CAUSES OF TBI 1 INCIDENCE OF TBI IN EUROPE AND NORWAY 1 CLINICAL EVIDENCE OF TBI, EARLY PROGNOSTIC FACTORS, AND GLOBAL OUTCOM COGNITIVE AND EMOTIONAL OUTCOME AFTER TBI COGNITIVE FUNCTION AND COGNITIVE CONTROL AFTER TBI Procession Procession DIFFUSION TENSOR IMAGING (DTI) AND TBI	15 15 15 15 15 16 23 26 28 33 38
AIMS FOR THE THESIS	45
MATERIALS AND METHODS 4 PARTICIPANTS 4 MRI DATA ACQUISITION 4 NOT-X CONTINUOUS PERFORMANCE TEST (CPT) - FMRI PARADIGM 4 BOLD FMRI DATA ANALYSIS 5 DTI DATA ANALYSIS 5 OTHER STATISTICAL ANALYSES 5	47 48 49 50 51 52
SUMMARY OF THE PAPERS	53
PAPER I	53 54 55 56

GENERAL DISCUSSION	59
Findings associated with cognitive control function in healthy	
PARTICIPANTS	59
Findings related to clinical signs of TBI	61
COGNITIVE CONTROL FUNCTION AND COMPENSATORY MECHANISMS AFTER TBI.	63
CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS	66
METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	69
TBI SAMPLE	69
COGNITIVE CONTROL- AND EMOTIONAL FUNCTION MEASURES	69
Functional MRI	70
DIFFUSION TENSOR IMAGING	73
FUTURE PERSPECTIVES AND CONCLUSION	77
REFERENCES	79
PAPER I-IV	01

List of abbreviations

ACC = anterior cingulate cortex AD = axial diffusivity ASEBA-ASR = Achenbach system of empirically based assessment; Adult Self Report BOLD = blood-oxygen-level-dependent bPLS = behavioral least squares analysis BRIEF-A = behavioral rating inventory of executive function-adult version CBF = cerebral blood flow CBV = cerebral blood volume CCPT = Conners continuous performance test CDE = common data elements CMRO₂ = cerebral blood oxygen consumption CPP = cerebral perfusion pressure CPT = continuous performance test CSF = cerebrospinal fluid CT = computed tomography DAI = diffuse axonal injury DKEFS = Delis-Kaplan executive function system DKI = diffusion kurtosis imaging DLPFC = dorsolateral prefrontal cortex DMN = default mode network DSM-IV = Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition DTI = diffusion tensor imaging DWI = diffusion weighted imaging EEG = electroencephalography EPI = echo planar imaging FA = fractional anisotropy FEF = frontal eyefield FLAIR = fluid attenuated inversion recovery fMRI = functional magnetic resonance imaging FSL = FMRIB's Software Library

FWHM = full-width at half-maximum

GCS = Glasgow coma scale

GLM = general linear model

GMT = goal management training

GOAT = Galveston orientation and amnesia test

GOS = Glasgow outcome scale

GOSE = Glasgow outcome scale extended

GRE = gradient echo

GRF = Gaussian random field

IBM = International Business Machines Corporation

ICP = intra cranial pressure

IPL = inferior parietal lobe

LOC = loss of conciousness

MCS = minimally concious state

MD = mean diffusivity

MEG = magnetoencephalography

MFC = medial frontal cortex

MNI = Montreal neurological imstitute

MPRAGE = magnetization-prepared rapid acquisition with gradient echo

MRI = magnetic resonance imaging

MRS = magnetic resonance spectroscopy

MVA = motor vehicle accident

NIRS = near infrared spectroscopy

NOK = Norwegian kroner

NSE = neuron-specific enolase

PET = positron emission tomography

PFC = prefrontal cortex

PTA = post traumatic amnesia

PTC = post traumatic confusion

RD = radial diffusivity

ROI = region of interest

SPECT = single-photon emission computed tomography

SPSS = statistical package for the social sciences

SWI = susceptibility imaging

T = tesla

TAI = traumatic axonal injury

TBI = traumatic brain injury

TBSS = tract based spatal statistics

TOT = time on task

TPJ = temporoparietal junction

VFC = ventral frontal cortex

VS = vegetative state

WM = white matter

List of papers

Paper I

Olsen, A., Brunner, J.F., Evensen, K.A.I., Garzon, B., Landrø, N. I., Håberg, A.K. The functional topography and temporal dynamics of overlapping and distinct brain activations for adaptive task control and stable task-set maintenance during performance of an fMRI-adapted clinical continuous performance test. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience* 2013; 25, 903-919.

Paper II

Finnanger, T., Olsen, A., Skandsen, T., Lydersen, S., Vik, A., Evensen, K.A.I., Håberg, A. K., Andersson, S., Indredavik, M. Self-reported executive, emotional and behavioural function 2-5 years after moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury – a prospective follow-up study. *Submitted manuscript*.

Paper III

Olsen, A., Brunner, J. F., Evensen, K. A. I., Finnanger, T., Vik, A., Skandsen, T., Landrø, N. I., Håberg, A. K. Altered cognitive control activations after moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury and their relationship to injury severity and everyday-life function. *Cerebral Cortex* 2014; Feb 20. [Epub ahead of print].

Paper IV

Håberg, A. K., Olsen, A., Moen, K. G., Schirmer-Mikalsen, K., Visser, E., Finnanger, T., Evensen, K. A. I., Vik., A., Skandsen, T., Eikenes, L. White matter microstructure in moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury: the impact of acute phase injury related variables and associations with global outcome, performance-based and self-reported cognitive control function. *Submitted manuscript*.

Summary

Clinical signs of traumatic brain injury (TBI) such as altered- or complete loss of consciousness, other neurological signs, and findings based on conventional neuroimaging, represents important information for initial treatment and further follow-up of TBI survivors. However, not all real-life problems after TBI are easily detected by conventional imaging methods or neurological exams. This is particularly evident when trying to assess the more subtle effects of TBI, such as cognitive and emotional problems, that are often experienced in the chronic stage, after the initial recovery period has passed. The main aim for this thesis was to extend current knowledge on functional and structural changes in the brain after moderate-to-severe TBI by means of advanced neuroimaging methods, and to relate these findings to injury-related variables and functional measures known to be important for outcome. A particular focus was on investigating cognitive control function, as this has been demonstrated to play an especially important role for functional outcome after TBI. In order to reach this aim, several studies with different but related perspectives were performed, and four papers (Paper I – IV) based on these studies are included in this thesis.

In Paper I, a large group of healthy participants was included in a study in order to validate a clinically relevant task protocol that could measure both adaptive and stable cognitive control processes in the brain by means of blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). Results from this study gave further support for a core network of cognitive control, with overlapping activations for both stable and adaptive processes, comprised by brain regions bilaterally in the insula (and adjacent cortices) and dorsal medial frontal cortex. It was also established that in this particular task, adaptive cognitive control processes by and large were distributed in more anterior regions of the prefrontal cortex as compared to stable cognitive control processes. Another novel and important finding, was that only stable cognitive control processes were affected by time on task (TOT), indicating that this contrast might be particularly sensitive for detecting adaptive changes in the brain. In Paper II, it was demonstrated that executive, emotional and behavioral problems were more frequently reported in chronic moderate-to-severe TBI survivors as compared to healthy controls. The results also indicated that identification of traumatic axonal injury (TAI) and symptoms of depression in an earlier phase after injury, might give a warning of later problems. Furthermore, self-report measures of cognitive control seemed to extend the information obtained from performance-based measures.

In Paper III, it was shown that neuronal correlates of adaptive and stable cognitive control processes were differently affected by moderate-to severe TBI. Moreover, TBI survivors exhibited increased TOT related BOLD activation related to stable cognitive control processes in the right inferior parietal lobe and right prefrontal cortex. Increases in BOLD activations had a dose-dependent relationship with injury severity, with increased activation with more severe injury. Interestingly, increased BOLD activations after TBI were related to better self-reported cognitive control function in everyday-life situations, indicating a compensatory role for these activations.

In paper IV, it was shown that more severe injury based on clinical signs, and findings on conventional MRI evaluations, was related to more pronounced alterations of white matter microstructure in a wide range of tracts as measured with diffusion tensor imaging (DTI). Reduced white matter integrity in TBI survivors was also associated with worse global outcome, and poorer cognitive control function as measured by performance-based measures. No association was found between any of the DTI measures and self-reported cognitive control function.

The findings presented in this thesis demonstrated that a broad assessment is warranted in order to optimize our understanding and follow-up of TBI patients. Also, it was shown that subtle changes in brain structure and function, not necessarily detectable with conventional imaging tools, might still have an important impact on how TBI survivors are able to cope with every-day life. A particularly interesting finding with possible clinical implications was that performance-based cognitive control function in chronic TBI was related to subtle structural changes in the brain as measured with DTI, whereas selfreported problems were exclusively related to functional adaptations as measured with fMRI. In general, knowing that self-reported cognitive control function in chronic moderate-to-severe TBI survivors is associated with functional changes in the brain, gives an important perspective when seeing patients where such problems are not easily explained by conventional neuropsychological measures. More than that, as these functional changes were shown to play a potential compensatory role, this might indicate a potential target for neuro-rehabilitation.

Introduction

Definition of TBI

According to the International and Interagency Initiative toward Common Data Elements for Research on Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychological Health, TBI can be defined as "...an alteration in brain function, or other evidence of brain pathology, caused by an external force" (Menon et al., 2010). TBI is, however, a highly heterogeneous condition in terms of cause, injury severity, pathology, and prognosis (Maas et al., 2011). Recognizing the heterogeneity of TBI is important for both clinical work as well as research.

Causes of TBI

The most common causes of TBI are falls and vehicle accidents, followed by acts of violence and other reasons, such as for instance sports injuries (Langlois, Rutland-Brown, & Wald, 2006; Tagliaferri, Compagnone, Korsic, Servadei, & Kraus, 2006). Obvious external forces caused by such events are when the head is hit by an object, or hits an object. The brain is also particularly vulnerable to acceleration/deceleration forces, which can occur even without direct impact to the head. Foreign objects penetrating the skull may also cause brain trauma. Furthermore, increased attention in the later years has been given to TBI caused by forces created by blasts or explosions (Rosenfeld et al., 2013).

Incidence of TBI in Europe and Norway

A comprehensive systematic review of TBI epidemiology in Europe, demonstrated that the yearly incidence rates of hospital-treated TBI varied between 91 and 546 per 100,000 (Tagliaferri et al., 2006). The same review also revealed a great variability for how TBI was defined in different studies and how differences in health care systems and criteria for being registered affected the estimates. Despite these factors creating considerable uncertainty in the data material, the authors observed that most of the reported incidence rates were between 150-300/100,000, and concluded with a fairly conservative estimate of 235/100,000, when excluding the most extreme values. Mortality rates were found to be 15-20/100,000. As for injury severity, 70-80% was found to be mild. Moderate and severe TBI, which is the main focus in this thesis, represented around 10% each of the total rate.

Based on these numbers, European incidence rates are similar to other large regions of the world, such as Australia (Hillier, Hiller, & Metzer, 1997), however, possibly higher than in the US (Langlois et al., 2006). In Norway, findings from a study looking at data from 2005-2006 gathered from the Oslo population revealed an incidence rate of hospital treated TBI of 83.3/100,000 (Andelic, Sigurdardottir, Brunborg, & Roe, 2008). In this study the male-female ratio was 1.8-1, underlining the well known increased risk of TBI in the male population. The same study showed that 86% of the injuries were categorized as being mild, 7.9% moderate, and 6.1% severe. The main proportions of injuries were due to falls (51%) and motor vehicle accidents (29.7%), followed by assaults (12.8%) and other injuries (6.5%). Hence, although the most recent incidence rate seems to be lower in this Norwegian urban area compared to most other countries, the proportions of injury severities, gender, and external cause of injury were generally within the range of those previously reported elsewhere (Langlois et al., 2006; Tagliaferri et al., 2006).

Clinical evidence of TBI, early prognostic factors, and global outcome

An important clinical sign of TBI is a period of altered- or complete loss of consciousness (LOC) with onset at the time of injury. Other clinical signs of altered brain function after TBI include posttraumatic amnesia (PTA), and various neurological deficits within sensory and motor systems (Marmarou et al., 2007; Marshman, Jakabek, Hennessy, Quirk, & Guazzo, 2013). Both length and clinical presentation of LOC are important factors for evaluating injury severity and predicting outcome after TBI. The most extensively used tool for classification of injury severity after TBI is the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) (G. Teasdale & Jennett, 1974). GCS measures the level of consciousness by assessing motor-, verbal, and eye responses in the patient (table 1). Based on this assessment, patients get a score between 3 (deep coma) and 15 (fully alert and oriented). Most commonly, a GCS sum score of 3-8 is considered as severe-, 9-12 as moderate-, and 13-15 as mild TBI, respectively. However, it is increasing accept for categorizing a GCS score of 13 as moderate TBI (Maas, Stocchetti, & Bullock, 2008).

Table 1. Glasgow coma scale (GCS)

Domain	Response	Score
Eye opening	Spontaneous	4
	To speech	3
	To pain	2
	None	1
Best verbal response	Oriented	5
	Confused	4
	Inappropriate	3
	Incomprehensible	2
	None	1
Best motor response	Obeying	6
	Localizing	5
	Withdrawal	4
	Flexing	5
	Extending	3
	None	1
Total score	Deep coma or death 3	
	Fully alert and oriented	15

Longer period of LOC and lower GCS score are both related to more severe injury and worse outcome after TBI (Maas et al., 2008). However, the validity and reliability of these measures are challenged by differences in timing of the assessment (at site of injury, hospital admission etc.), as well as other co-occurring confounders such as the presence of intoxication, medical sedation, and/or paralysis. In fact, it has been suggested that the GCS has lost some of its prognostic value due to changes in treatment protocols in prehospital acute care, involving increased use of intubation and medical sedation of patients (Stocchetti et al., 2004). Despite these limitations, GCS alone or together with other additional measures, currently provides the platform for most severity classifications after TBI. The GCS motor response is thought to be less prone to some of the abovementioned confounders, and has been shown to be the best outcome predictor in several studies, particularly for the more severely injured patients (Marmarou et al., 2007). Also, adding information about other neurological assessments of altered brain function, such as pupillary response, has shown to increase the predictive power of prognostic models (Marmarou et al., 2007). The head injury severity scale (HISS) is an example of a systematic approach including additional information on complications and other factors (such as neuroradiological findings) in combination with GCS score (Stein & Spettell, 1995). HISS is included as part of the Scandinavian guidelines for management of TBI, and the experience is

that it adds value to injury severity classification, particularly in the acute (neurosurgical) setting.

During the initial recovery after TBI, several levels of consciousness can be observed, ranging from full coma to fully alert and oriented patients. The different levels of altered consciousness are commonly categorized into coma, vegetative state (VS), minimally conscious state (MCS), and posttraumatic amnesia/confusion (PTA/PTC) (Giacino, Fins, Laureys, & Schiff, 2014; Marshman et al., 2013; Stuss et al., 1999). Although clear distinctions between each category is challenging to establish, and highly debated by experts in the field, each level is thought to indicate a progressively increased level of consciousness. Depending on injury severity, each patient may or may not go through all levels. For patients going through several phases of recovery, each level usually lasts longer than the previous one. The time spent recovering consciousness through these phases contains prognostic information for final outcome.

Particularly, a longer period of PTA has a negative impact on functional outcome (Marshman et al., 2013). PTA refers to the typically observed posttraumatic anterograde amnesia, and patients are thought to be out of PTA when they again can form continuous memories. However, such amnesia most often occurs in the context of a state of confusion in the patient, hence, the term posttraumatic confusion (PTC) has been advocated (Stuss et al., 1999). It has even been suggested that PTC is a main contributor to the lack of ability to form- and retrieve memories, and that this state should be understood as a condition more closely related to other delirious states (Nakase-Thompson, Sherer, Yablon, Nick, & Trzepacz, 2004; Stuss et al., 1999). Although widely recognized, no unitary and universally accepted definition of this posttraumatic phenomenon of altered brain function currently exists, and the terms PTA/PTC are used somewhat interchangeably. The clinical presentation of PTA can fluctuate, and the condition may eventually resolve quickly. It is therefore challenging to get an accurate measurement of the exact length of PTA in a clinical hospital setting. For practical reasons, PTA is most commonly measured from the time of injury and until a fully alert and oriented state is reach by the patient (including potential periods of coma, VS and MCS). Structured assessment tools such as the Orientation-log and Galveston Orientation and Amnesia Test (GOAT) has been

developed in order to aid the assessment of PTA, and have been shown to have reasonably good reliability and validity when used in an everyday clinical setting (Frey, Rojas, Anderson, & Arciniegas, 2007).

Clinical signs of altered brain function are susceptible to other confounding factors affecting the level of consciousness. Such confounders do not affect neuroimaging methods assessing the presence of structural brain injury. Neuroimaging therefore plays an important role in modern detection of TBI. Computed Tomography (CT) is the main modality in the acute stage, due to the quick assessment, and less restrictions when it comes to eligibility as compared to magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). However, MRI is often a preferred choice in the sub-acute stage for follow up scans and in the chronic phase, due to increased sensitivity for detecting certain types of brain injuries. Another advantage is that MRI does not expose subjects to radiation, which may be a potential risk factor for developing cancer with repeated CT assessments (Smith-Bindman et al., 2009).

The most common pathological characteristics of TBI detectable by use of various neuroimaging techniques are skull fractures, extra- and intra cerebral hematomas, contusions, diffuse/traumatic axonal injury (DAI/TAI), brain swellings/edema and mass effects (Haacke et al., 2010). Focal injuries such as contusions and intra cerebral hematomas are more commonly seen in older individuals after falls, whereas diffuse or traumatic axonal injuries are more prevalent and extensive in the upper end of the severity scale, and are often caused by motor vehicle accidents, probably due to the high-energy acceleration/deceleration- and rotational forces involved (Davceva, Janevska, Ilievski, Petrushevska, & Popeska, 2012). However, all types of pathological characteristics of TBI can potentially occur throughout the entire severity scale and across different causes. Also, the different pathological characteristics in individual patients are most often multifactorial and multifocal, providing considerable complexity to the information to be used for clinical prognosis and decision-making.

For CT, it has been developed classification schemes, such as the Marshall- (Marshall et al., 1991) and Rotterdam (Maas, Hukkelhoven, Marshall, & Steyerberg, 2005) CT classifications, in order to aid the work of researchers. These tools have proven valuable in the

acute stage, particularly for predicting mortality and categorization into broad outcome groups in severely injured patients (Bobinski, Olivecrona, & Koskinen, 2012; Maas et al., 2005). The classification systems are, however, less valuable for those presenting with less severe injuries, and for more fine-tuned estimation of long-term prognosis (de Oliveira Thais et al., 2014; Williams, Rapport, Hanks, Millis, & Greene, 2013).

Extending the qualities of CT, MRI sequences such as those based on standard T2weighted, fluid attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR), and T2* gradient echo (GRE), are generally more sensitive to detection of smaller lesions, such as those associated with DAI/TAI (Ashikaga, Araki, & Ishida, 1997; Kinoshita et al., 2005). The sensitivity of MRI increases with using stronger magnetic fields (within the conventional range for clinical use, e.g. 1.5T scanner vs. 3T). Further sensitivity for detecting DAI/TAI can be provided by adding MRI sequences such as susceptibility- (SWI) (Spitz, Maller, Ng, et al., 2013) and diffusion weighted imaging (DWI), which are now standard methods in many hospitals (Edlow & Wu, 2012).

Overall, the various neuroimaging modalities used in conventional clinical practice are instrumental for acute or sub-acute care of patients. Classification of type and location of the lesions seen in TBI has also been shown to be valuable for prediction of long-term global function (Skandsen et al., 2011). The full potential of conventional neuroimaging in TBI is, however, likely to be unfulfilled. With increased sensitivity, the amount and complexity of information increases, and hence makes classification and integration of this knowledge for meaningful clinical interpretation very challenging. There has also been a lack of universal standardization for imaging protocols and terms used to describe different pathologies. This issue has, however, been addressed recently, through the development of international recommendations for how to classify, define, and report the different TBI pathologies found on various neuroimaging methods data (Duhaime et al., 2010; Haacke et al., 2010). This will in time be integrated in in clinical research projects, which in turn may lead to an increased knowledge base to be used in future diagnostic and prognostic models.

Parallel to this, there is ongoing research focusing on development of new advanced imaging methods, as well as new applications of existing methods in order to increase the knowledge of about pathological characteristics after TBI. Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), and more recently, diffusion kurtosis imaging (DKI), are particularly promising MRI based techniques for detection of DAI/TAI (Shenton et al., 2012). These methods are based on assessing the microscopic motion of water molecules in the brain, whose properties are closely correlated to white matter (axonal) integrity (Le Bihan et al., 2001). Other examples of more experimental non-invasive methods used to detect evidence of structural or functional brain injury in TBI are different kinds of perfusion MR and CT, MR spectroscopy (MRS), functional MRI (fMRI), positron emission tomography (PET), single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS), magnetoencephalography (MEG), electroencephalography (EEG), and Doppler ultrasonography. The advanced neuroimaging work presented in this thesis utilized the properties of blood-oxygen-level dependent response (BOLD) fMRI, as well as metrics based on DTI, and belongs to this experimental line of neuroimaging research.

In addition to being a heterogeneous condition, TBI is also a dynamically evolving process. It should be stressed that TBI should not be understood as merely a single event, but encompasses a cascade of events, that can or cannot be treated, and that affects the development and progression of secondary injury and clinical signs, as well as the final outcome. For example, already in the pre-hospital setting it is important to avoid hypoxia and hypotension, as these are associated with poorer outcome (McHugh et al., 2007). At admission to the hospital, an important aim is to further stabilize the patient, and to treat or prevent neurological deterioration, for example through neurosurgery or medications (Morris, Juul, Marshall, Benedict, & Marshall, 1998). Further monitoring of the patient in a neurointensive care unit is often instrumental in order to inform different treatments related to for example reducing brain swelling, in order to avoid increased intra cranial pressure (ICP) and maintain cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) (Bullock & Povlishock, 2007; M. Smith, 2008; Vik et al., 2008). Although specific neuroprotective treatments are a focus of research, and have shown promising effects especially in animal models (Kabadi & Faden, 2014), the main goal of current early TBI management is to prevent secondary injuries, and to provide optimal conditions for spontaneous neurorecovery. A consequence

of the dynamically evolving nature of TBI is that prognostic factors such as those based on neuroimaging (CT, MRI), GCS, and pupillary response, are commonly monitored multiple times throughout the early phase to guide treatment. It is therefore important to consider the multifactorial and temporal context of such data when estimating prognosis. It is also important to consider premorbid factors. For example, anticoagulant medications and older age are considered risk factors for worse outcome (Lingsma, Roozenbeek, Steyerberg, Murray, & Maas, 2010; Maas et al., 2008).

The main bout of recovery after moderate-to-severe TBI happens within the first 6 months post-injury (Ghajar, 2000). Most of this recovery is considered to be spontaneous, but may potentially be facilitated by specialized rehabilitation programs (Turner-Stokes, Disler, Nair, & Wade, 2005). The most common tools for assessing global outcome after TBI are the Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) (Jennett & Bond, 1975), and the extended GOS (GOSE) (G. M. Teasdale, Pettigrew, Wilson, Murray, & Jennett, 1998). The GOS allocates patients into 5 broad outcome categories based on their functional level, ranging from death to good recovery (table 2). The GOSE was later introduced in order to increase the resolution and sensitivity of the GOS, by introducing "upper" and "lower" levels for the disability- and good recovery categories (table 2). A structured interview protocol demonstrating satisfactory inter-rater reliability has been developed for administration of GOS and GOSE (Wilson, Pettigrew, & Teasdale, 1998).

Despite playing an undisputed major and important role in providing clinically meaningful classification of function after TBI, particularly in large cohort studies, these tools have limitations due to their broad categories (Lingsma et al., 2010). This is particularly evident when trying to assess the more subtle effects of TBI, which may still have a strong impact for the individual patient, and that are often experienced in the chronic stage, after the initial recovery period has passed. Such effects may for example present as cognitive and emotional problems only detectable through more fine-tuned assessment. Furthermore, some of these may be caused by subtle changes in brain function and structure, which may not be detected by conventional clinical neuroimaging. Gaining new knowledge on detecting such subtle effects of TBI falls within the main scope of the scientific work presented in this thesis.

GOS	GOSE	Interpretation
1 = Dead	1 = Dead	Dead
2 = Vegetative state	2 = Vegetative state	Absence of awareness of self and environment
3 = Severe disability	3 = Lower severe disability	Needs full assistance in ADL
	4 = Upper severe disability	Needs partial assistance in ADL
4 = Moderate disability	5 = Lower moderate disability	Independent, but cannot resume work/school
		or all previous social activities
	6 = Upper moderate disability	Some disability exists, but can partly resume
		work or previous activities
5 = Good recovery	7 = Lower good recovery	Minor physical or mental deficits that affects
		daily life
	8 = Upper good recovery	Full recovery or minor symptoms that do not
		affect daily life

Table 2. Glasgow outcome scale (GOS) and Glasgow outcome scale extended (GOSE)

ADL = activities of daily living.

Cognitive and emotional outcome after TBI

Cognitive impairments within a variety of domains have been documented from the subacute stage, to the chronic phase several years after TBI, across different mechanisms of injury, and have been shown to be associated with injury severity (Dikmen et al., 2009; Draper & Ponsford, 2008; Finnanger et al., 2013; Rabinowitz & Levin, 2014). In addition to injury severity, higher age at injury, and a lower level of education, have been related to worse cognitive outcome after TBI (Senathi-Raja, Ponsford, & Schonberger, 2010b; Sigurdardottir, Andelic, Roe, & Schanke, 2009; Spitz, Ponsford, Rudzki, & Maller, 2012). Cognitive function after TBI is most typically assessed by neuropsychological methods, using a large variety of different performance-based standardized tests, often categorized within domains such as attention, processing speed, memory and executive function. Deficits within all these domains have been found across all injury severities for TBI survivors. Common data elements (CDEs) for measuring cognitive outcome have been suggested, by and large covering these key domains (Hicks et al., 2013; Wilde et al., 2010). Also, as only partly appreciated in the CDEs, cognitive dysfunction after TBI is multifaceted and should be addressed through a range of methodologies, including selfreport, both from the injured and significant others (Draper & Ponsford, 2009; Garcia-Molina, Tormos, Bernabeu, Junque, & Roig-Rovira, 2012; Gioia & Isquith, 2004; Isquith, Roth, & Gioia, 2013; Lannoo et al., 1998).

Emotional problems are also more prevalent in the TBI population, as compared with the general population. In the clinical range, an increased risk for developing Axis I disorders as defined by the DSM-IV criteria have been associated with TBI (Whelan-Goodinson, Ponsford, Johnston, & Grant, 2009). An increased risk for the clinical diagnosis of a wide range of psychiatric disorders (including depression, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and organic mental disorders) after TBI was also recently confirmed in a large population-based study in Denmark (Orlovska et al., 2014). However, it should also be appreciated that a broad assessment is needed in order to capture all the relevant emotional and psychosocial challenges TBI survivors might experience, including those in the sub-clinical range, which may still have an impact on long-term outcome and function (Draper, Ponsford, & Schonberger, 2007). Using extensive self-report questionnaires tapping into the different aspects of emotional and psychosocial problems often experienced after TBI may provide added value to both clinicians and researchers interested in capturing these phenomena (Warriner & Velikonja, 2006).

Although there are some studies of interest with regards to indicating a biological gradient for the development of emotional problems after TBI, results have varied, and it is considered premature to conclude on the association between injury severity and such problems (Rogers & Read, 2007). Studies have linked reduced grey matter volume in the hippocampus (Jorge, Acion, Starkstein, & Magnotta, 2007) and left prefrontal cortex (Jorge et al., 2004) to an increased risk for developing of mood disorders after TBI. Furthermore, a rationale for investigating certain properties of the white matter has been proposed (Maller et al., 2010), and there is some evidence supporting that white matter abnormality in fronto-temporal regions might be predictive of development of major depression after TBI (Rao et al., 2012). However, although the association between brain anatomy and the development of emotional problems has been a topic for several research papers which have provided interesting hypotheses (Jorge & Starkstein, 2005; Rogers & Read, 2007; Warriner & Velikonja, 2006), there is still a relative paucity of studies directly investigating such relationships after TBI by use of advanced neuroimaging. Most of the recovery of cognitive problems occurs within the first 6-12 months after TBI (Christensen et al., 2008). However, changes in cognitive function have also been observed many years after injury (Draper & Ponsford, 2008). As for the trajectory of the development and recovery from emotional problems, the findings are less clear. A study focusing on the first year after injury, found that the average duration of major depression was <6 months for patients who developed the disorder (Jorge et al., 2004). This is similar to what has also been observed in the general population (Richards, 2011; Spijker et al., 2002). In a longer perspective (5-22 years) there is evidence indicating that older individuals experience higher emotional distress in the earlier phase after TBI, whereas younger individuals are more prone to such distress in the later phase (Senathi-Raja, Ponsford, & Schonberger, 2010a). That changes in both cognitive and emotional function may be observed many years after TBI underlines the importance of long term follow-up of patients, as well as the need for detecting risk factors as early as possible in the rehabilitation trajectory in order to plan for preventive measures.

Also interesting within this context is that cognitive function and the risk for developing emotional problems seem to be highly interrelated. Higher degree of cognitive impairment has for example been related to higher levels of anxiety and depression after TBI (Spitz, Schonberger, & Ponsford, 2013). In general, including information about cognitive function provides a more accurate representation of functional outcome, at least one year after injury (Finnanger et al., 2013; Spitz et al., 2012). In particular, executive function seems to have the strongest effect on functional outcome (Spitz et al., 2012). In fact, even when adjusting for injury severity, executive function appears to be most important for the ability to resume independent living, leisure activities and employment (Finnanger et al., 2013). Moreover, executive dysfunction after TBI is associated with the development of major depression, and common pathophysiologic mechanisms for these phenomena involving disruption of fronto-striatal-thalamic circuits has been suggested (Jorge et al., 2004). Understanding executive function and how it may be altered by injury, may therefore give particularly valuable knowledge for optimizing clinical follow-up of TBI survivors.

Executive function and cognitive control after TBI

Despite a wide range of empirical and theoretical work, there is no unitary agreed upon definition of executive function and its related sub-components, or terminology that is used to describe them. However, most models include the notion that executive functions are those involved in a goal-directed regulatory control of thoughts, emotions, and actions. In other words, executive functions are thought to control the use of domain-specific abilities (e.g. visuospatial functions, language, memory, motor skills, emotions etc.) in order to achieve a desired goal. The focus on the control aspect of executive functions is also highly evident through use of the term "cognitive control", which is used about the same functions. Executive function and cognitive control is used interchangeably in the literature, and will to some degree also be so in this thesis. However, the impression from the literature is that the term executive function is more used within the field of cognitive neuroscience. Hence, since this thesis mainly operates within the field of cognitive neuroscience, the term cognitive control will be used most frequently.

Examples of sub-components of cognitive control includes, but are not limited to, task-set maintenance and shifting, adaptive task control, monitoring, switching, inhibition, initiation, and regulation of emotions. Cognitive control is also highly interrelated- or even overlapping with functions (or terms) such as working memory and attention. Furthermore, different cognitive control functions have been found to be correlated, but separable from each other (Miyake & Friedman, 2012). Also important when attempting to measure cognitive control is to acknowledge the "task impurity" problem (Miyake & Friedman, 2012; Miyake et al., 2000). Although cognitive control is by most definitions separable from domain specific cognitive functions, it is always measured in context of these, meaning that the latter will always influence the result to some degree (e.g. language function will influence the result on a verbal fluency task, which is also believed to be a measure of cognitive control). Also important to acknowledge is that cognitive control is indeed multifaceted and can only to a certain degree be measured by performance-based neuropsychological tasks (Isquith et al., 2013; Toplak, West, & Stanovich, 2013). It is therefore particularly important to rely upon several forms of information in the assessment of cognitive control dysfunction after TBI. Self-report measures represent an alterna-
tive approach for structured and systematic assessment of executive functions in every-day situations (Isquith et al., 2013). Although overlapping to a certain degree, information from performance-based and self-report measures are clearly also measuring different aspects of cognitive control, and the questions of how they are related, or which methods that are most valid for predicting every-day functioning still remains to be resolved (Isquith et al., 2013; Toplak et al., 2013). This may partly be related to the fact that the definition, operationalization, and knowledge about cognitive control function are still premature, despite a huge amount of research effort in the field. Moreover, this not only highlights the importance of taking a broad approach when assessing cognitive control, but also the parallel need for improved and/or alternative complementary methods to extend todays knowledge.

Better cognitive control function after TBI, has been related to more frequent use of problem-focused (planful problem solving), compared to emotion-focused (escape avoidant), coping strategies (Krpan, Levine, Stuss, & Dawson, 2007). This finding was independent from other factors such as intelligence and injury severity, and no such relationship was found in a healthy control group. Neither was there a general between-group difference in coping style. It has therefore been suggested that TBI survivors actively engage cognitive control to implement an adaptive coping strategy, whereas this happens rather automatically or effortlessly in healthy controls (Krpan et al., 2007). Similar differences in coping style have also been observed in a real-life task (Krpan, Stuss, & Anderson, 2011b), and cognitive control dysfunction was the best predictor for an avoidant coping style in this task (Krpan, Stuss, & Anderson, 2011a). A problem-focused coping style has been associated with a favorable outcome (Curran, Ponsford, & Crowe, 2000; Dawson, Cantanzaro, Firestone, Schwartz, & Stuss, 2006), and may therefore be a mediator explaining the negative effects of cognitive control dysfunction on overall outcome (Finnanger et al., 2013; Spitz et al., 2012). Cognitive control function also plays an important role for the potential effects of rehabilitation strategies targeted at dealing with cognitive dysfunction. For example, the success of learning a compensatory strategy for memory disorders is clearly affected by cognitive control function (Fish, Manly, Emslie, Evans, & Wilson, 2008). Given its central role in regulation of other cognitive domains, cognitive control is therefore a particularly good candidate for mediating compensatory

mechanisms after TBI, and a promising target for neuro-rehabilitation (Levine et al., 2011).

Advancing the knowledge of cognitive control dysfunction after TBI, may improve the understanding of problems often experienced by TBI survivors, as well as guide future treatment and rehabilitation. Given the multifaceted nature of cognitive control, and the difficulty of measuring all of its aspects by use of conventional clinical measures, advanced neuroimaging may play an important part in extending the knowledge of cognitive control alterations after TBI. Such methods could also have a future role as biomarkers or proxies for dysfunction after TBI, as well as work as tools for evaluating the effect of treatment interventions (Nordvik et al., 2014). However, the potential success of such an approach relies on several factors, including well-designed studies informed by the theoretical neurocognitive models of cognitive control function. As always, when seeking to gain knowledge about brain dysfunction, the importance of first becoming familiar with normal function should be stressed.

Neurocognitive models of cognitive control function

Although there is no unitary agreed upon definition of cognitive control, a common element for most neurocognitive models of this phenomena is the separation between *processors* and *controllers* in the brain (Petersen & Posner, 2012; Posner & Petersen, 1990; Power & Petersen, 2013). This distinction highlights the difference between areas in the brain involved in *processing* domain-specific operations (e.g. memory, language, decisionmaking, movement etc.), and the regions involved in the domain-general operations related to *control* such processes (e.g. select and implement). How these domain-general processes operates, and are distributed anatomically in the brain, has been a central question through decades of research in neuroscience. Several theoretical frameworks have been developed, many of which are not exclusive of others, but rather highlights different aspects of cognitive control function. The most influential frameworks the later years within the field of neuroimaging have for example focused on dorsal- and ventral systems for top-down and bottom up control (Corbetta & Shulman, 2002), conflict monitoring involving the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) (Botvinick, Braver, Barch, Carter, & Cohen, 2001; Carter & van Veen, 2007); Carter & Krug, 2012), hierarchical distribution of cognitive control functions within the PFC (Badre, 2008; Badre & D'Esposito, 2007, 2009; Kim, Johnson, Cilles, & Gold, 2011; Koechlin, Ody, & Kouneiher, 2003; Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007; Venkatraman, Rosati, Taren, & Huettel, 2009), and organization based on the temporal aspect of cognitive control processing (Braver, 2012; Dosenbach, Fair, Cohen, Schlaggar, & Petersen, 2008).

In 2002 Corbetta and Shulman reviewed evidence for brain networks involved in goaldirected (top-down) and stimulus-driven (bottom-up) cognitive control (Corbetta & Shulman, 2002). The conclusion from their review was that it seems to be two partially segregated systems associated with these two types of control, and that they rely on different brain regions. Whereas the top-down system seem to mainly be related to dorsal fronto-parietal regions (including the inferior parietal lobe and frontal eye field), the bottomup system seem to mainly rely on a right-lateralized ventral fronto-parietal network (including the temporoparietal junction and ventral frontal cortex). Being prepared through having prior knowledge has been shown to improve performance in a variety of task domains. This facilitation of performance is most likely related to a top-down implementation of perceptual-, motor and attentional task-sets, which are associated with prolonged neural activation within the dorsal fronto-parietal system (Corbetta & Shulman, 2002). On the contrary, if a sufficiently salient stimulus appears (such as a loud noise, lowfrequent target stimuli, object with a feature that stands out from the crowd - "pop out effect"), this facilitates bottom-up processing associated with more transient activation within the ventral fronto-parietal system. Corbetta and Shulman suggest that the ventral system acts like a "circuit breaker" for the dorsal system, through detecting salient stimuli outside the focus of current processing, which may interrupt or redirect the ongoing taskset.

A similar interaction between two separate systems is described in the conflict-monitoring framework (Botvinick et al., 2001; Carter & van Veen, 2007); Carter & Krug, 2012). However, in this framework, the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) is thought to detect stimuli- or response conflicts, and then signal the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), which is considered a key area where cognitive control is carried out. According to this

framework, processors in the brain have limited processing capacity, and a conflict occurs if two different processes compete for this capacity. Such conflicts need to be detected, and solved or prevented through cognitive control. Typical behavioral consequences of high conflict are that processing time of the task at hand, as well as the likelihood for errors increases. The conflict-monitoring framework has gained quite some criticism more recently, after a study showed that increases in brain activity within the ACC, may be better explained by the typical increased time-on-task, rather than conflict processing per se (Grinband et al., 2011). This study therefore also highlight the importance of taking into account differences in task performance (in this case reaction time) when modeling brain activations (Price, Crinion, & Friston, 2006).

There are a multitude of different frameworks based on a notion of a hierarchical distribution of cognitive control functions within the PFC. Considerable evidence supports a rostro-caudal distribution of different cognitive control processes within the PFC (Badre, 2008; Badre & D'Esposito, 2007, 2009; Kim et al., 2011; Koechlin et al., 2003; Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007; Venkatraman et al., 2009). However, how the specific properties of these processes may govern their anatomical distribution is still highly debated (Badre, 2008). One framework suggests that cognitive control processes are distributed more rostral with higher task demand, for example through increasing task complexity or abstractness (Badre, 2008; Badre & D'Esposito, 2007, 2009). Moreover, according to this "cognitive demand framework", processes with lower task demands, such as those more closely related to simple motor responses, are believed to be located in more caudal regions of PFC (Kim et al., 2011; Venkatraman et al., 2009). In contrast, the "information cas*cade*" framework states that the anatomical distribution of cognitive control processes is rather based on their temporal context relative to action selection (Koechlin et al., 2003; Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007). Within this framework, information (cues) presented temporally remote from the action selection process itself, and that has to be maintained for an extended period of time (typically over several trials), is thought to be located in rostral regions of the PFC. In contrast, information that gets available in close proximity to the action selection process (e.g. properties of the current stimulus/trial), should be located more caudally. The former is referred to as "episodic control", and the latter as "contextual control", respectively. Although the cognitive demand framework and the

information cascade framework both originate from a rostro-caudal perspective of cognitive control, they therefore differ with regards to their emphasis on the temporal dimension of cognitive control.

There has been a sparked interest in the temporal dynamics of cognitive control the later years, and frameworks based more exclusively on this dimension have emerged. A large part of the scientific work included in this thesis was influenced by this trend in the field. Perhaps the most comprehensive frameworks focusing on the temporal dimension of cognitive control are the "Dual Mechanisms" (Braver, 2012), and the "Dual Networks" (Dosenbach et al., 2008) frameworks. These frameworks propose that cognitive control processes are indeed operating on (at least) two distinct temporal scales. Processes related to proactive control (Braver, 2012), or stable task-set maintenance (Dosenbach et al., 2008), are maintained over an extended period of time, typically across several trials in a cognitive task. Reactive- (Braver, 2012) or adaptive task control (Dosenbach et al., 2008), operates within a much narrower time-frame and is tightly coupled to moment-tomoment processing and rapid adjustments based on particular stimuli. Studies so far have shown that stable and adaptive cognitive control processes can be separated from each other on a behavioral level, and that their neural correlates are found in both overlapping and distinct brain regions. Regions that are overlapping for stable and adaptive task control have previously been found bilaterally in the anterior insula and adjacent areas, as well as in the medial frontal cortex (MFC) (Dosenbach et al., 2006). Moreover, these regions are among the most frequently activated areas in fMRI studies across different task types, which support their domain generality, and are hence strong candidates for serving as true "controllers" in the brain. Due to the strong overlap across tasks and temporal resolution, these areas have been suggested to represent a "core system" for cognitive control (Dosenbach et al., 2006). There is still more uncertainty with regards to the anatomical distribution of the neural correlates unique to stable- and adaptive task control processes. There is data suggesting that the two can be separated into distinct brain networks based on resting state fMRI, where adaptive task control is related to a fronto-parietal network (dorsolateral prefrontal cortex - intraparietal sulcus), whereas a cingulo-opercular (dorsal anterior cingulate cortex/medial superior frontal cortex - anterior insula/frontal operculum) network subserve stable task control (Dosenbach et al., 2007). The fronto-parietal

network overlaps with regions demonstrating solely transient brain activations during task performance. However, the cingulo-opercular network demonstrates both sustained and transient activation during task performance, and one may therefore argue that it is still premature to separate it from the earlier mentioned *"core system"* (Dosenbach et al., 2006). Hence, more research is needed to further delineate the controllers uniquely related to adaptive and stable task control, how they may be separated from a potential *"core net-work"*, as well as domain-specific processors of the brain.

Interesting observations of variability within the two different temporal systems of cognitive control have been made, that may suggest an explanatory framework for compensation after injury or disease (Braver, 2012). On an intra-individual level (state or taskrelated), it has been demonstrated that subjects shift towards relaying more on ongoing proactive control during performance of an interference task when there is a high expectancy for probes to occur. In contrast, during a low-expectancy condition, subjects were rather demonstrating increased reliance on reactive control (Burgess & Braver, 2010). Furthermore, inter-individual (trait related) variation was also demonstrated as relatively higher utilization of proactive control was associated with higher fluid intelligence (Burgess & Braver, 2010). On the other side, anxiety has been related to increased reliance on reactive control (Fales et al., 2008). Furthermore, a shift towards relying more on reactive- relative to proactive processes has been observed both as an effect of healthy aging (Paxton, Barch, Racine, & Braver, 2008) and schizophrenia (Edwards, Barch, & Braver, 2010), hence demonstrating between-group variability (related to changes in brain function or integrity in different populations) in the temporal aspects of cognitive control function. In summary, all these findings suggest that variability within the temporal dimension of cognitive control may explain differences in adaptive behavior, both in healthy individuals as well as after injury or disease.

As mentioned earlier, each of the different frameworks for cognitive control are not necessarily exclusive of the others. In fact, they have several similarities with regards to operationalization of various elements of cognitive control. For example, the constructs topdown control (Corbetta & Shulman, 2002), episodic control (Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007), proactive control (Braver, 2012), and stable task-set maintenance (Dosenbach et al., 2008), seem to have a considerable overlap in their definitions. Likewise, bottom-up control (Corbetta & Shulman, 2002), conflict processing (Botvinick et al., 2001), contextual control (Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007), reactive control (Braver, 2012), and adaptive task control (Dosenbach et al., 2008), clearly share some important properties. That being said, the different frameworks each add some unique insight into the understanding of cognitive control functions, and do in specific instances provide different predictions for particular cognitive tasks. It is not within the scope if this thesis to delineate the entire picture of similarities and differences between each framework. However, although the main focus in large parts of the scientific work included in this thesis was on the temporal dimension of cognitive control (i.e. Dual Mechanisms/Dual Networks frameworks), our findings were indeed tested in relation to, or discussed within the context of several of the other frameworks. Common for all neurocognitive models for cognitive control function is that they involve several brain regions anatomically spread apart. Given the heterogenic pathophysiology of TBI, cognitive control deficits may be observed after injury or dysfunction in the controllers themselves, in the communication between controllers, and/or between controllers and processors.

Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and TBI

BOLD fMRI has been the method of choice in the majority of fMRI studies in TBI. This is also the method used for the functional imaging studies in this thesis, and will be the main focus for this literature review. The neurovascular coupling as measured with the BOLD response is influenced by several factors, including cerebral blood flow (CBF), cerebral blood volume (CBV), and cerebral blood oxygen consumption (CMRO₂). When increased neural firing is elicited (e.g. by a cognitive task), CBF, CBV and CMRO₂ increase to provide neurons with more oxygen. However, the CMRO₂ increase is relatively lower than the increase in CBF, leading to a decrease of paramagnetic deoxygenated hemoglobin as compared to diamagnetic oxygenated hemoglobin. The BOLD response is based on detecting such differences in the ratio between diamagnetic oxygenated hemoglobin and paramagnetic deoxygenated hemoglobin (Ogawa et al., 1990).

Although some studies have shown hypo-activations when compared with controls (Sanchez-Carrion, Gomez, et al., 2008; Soeda et al., 2005), the most consistent finding

has been that moderate-to-severe TBI survivors exhibit increased and/or more widespread activation during performance of a wide range of cognitive tasks (Bonnelle, 2011; Christodoulou et al., 2001; Kohl, Wylie, Genova, Hillary, & Deluca, 2009; Maruishi, Miyatani, Nakao, & Muranaka, 2007; Raja Beharelle, Tisserand, Stuss, McIntosh, & Levine, 2011; Rasmussen et al., 2008; Scheibel et al., 2007; Scheibel et al., 2009; Sozda, Larson, Kaufman, Schmalfuss, & Perlstein, 2011; Turner & Levine, 2008; Turner, McIntosh, & Levine, 2011). Results from fMRI studies after TBI are consistent with those found in other neurological conditions such as multiple sclerosis (DeLuca, Genova, Hillary, & Wylie, 2008; Hillary et al., 2003), suggesting that increased activation during task performance may represent an adaptation due to compromised integrity of the brain. Increased activation, particularly in frontal brain regions, has also been observed in healthy subjects when task difficulty is increased (Arsalidou, Pascual-Leone, Johnson, Morris, & Taylor, 2013), and in healthy aging (Turner & Spreng, 2012). It therefore seems like increased BOLD activation may be related to increased engagement of neural resources as a function of increased challenges for the brain (Hillary, Genova, Chiaravalloti, Rypma, & DeLuca, 2006). "Cerebral challenge" (Hillary et al., 2006) may be transient or stable, and can be given by external demands in the environment, or related to different state- trait- or injury dependent factors within the individual.

It has been suggested that increased BOLD activation after TBI might represent compensatory mechanisms, related to upholding adequate performance levels during task performance (Kohl et al., 2009; Turner & Levine, 2008; Turner et al., 2011). Some studies have found increased BOLD activation after TBI to be positively correlated to better performance (Scheibel et al., 2009; Turner et al., 2011), whereas others have found a negative relationship (Bonnelle et al., 2012), or both (Newsome et al., 2007). A positive relationship between BOLD activation and better performance has also been observed in a study, even when TBI survivors displayed hypo-activation as compared with healthy controls on a group level (Sanchez-Carrion, Gomez, et al., 2008). Although a positive association between increased BOLD activation and better performance, as well as increased BOLD activation in the context of highly similar performance (Maruishi et al., 2007; Newsome et al., 2007; Scheibel et al., 2009; Turner et al., 2011) might support the compensation hypothesis, the variability of findings indicate that this issue needs further elucidation. Furthermore, most studies of altered BOLD activation after TBI has been observed in the context of group differences in fMRI task performance, which has not been accounted for (Bonnelle et al., 2012; Christodoulou et al., 2001; Hillary et al., 2011; Raja Beharelle et al., 2011; Rasmussen et al., 2008; Sanchez-Carrion, Gomez, et al., 2008; Scheibel et al., 2007; Sozda et al., 2011). Moreover, in some of the studies that have reported highly similar performance or adjusting for performance differences, this has been true for performance accuracy, but not reaction time (Bonnelle, 2011; Kohl et al., 2009; Turner & Levine, 2008).

As modeling task-related BOLD signal changes directly or indirectly is affected by fMRItask performance, failing to adjust for group differences in performance may lead to circular reasoning, when interpreting such relationships. Accordingly, it has been stressed that the validity of fMRI group differences observed in neurologically impaired participants, is highly dependent on keeping task performance similar across groups and/or statistically adjusted for (Price et al., 2006). One important factor is that the degree of compensation may be individual, in the sense that even though an individual performs at a sub-optimal level as compared to others (and/or with less activation), they may still have performed worse without neuronal compensation. This may for example explain why increased activation still can be observed in the context of poorer task performance after TBI (Christodoulou et al., 2001), or that BOLD activation might be related to better task performance despite observing hypo-activation on a group level (Sanchez-Carrion, Gomez, et al., 2008). Without adjusting for fMRI task performance in situations like this, correlations between the BOLD response and an external functional measure could potentially be flawed. Another implication from this is that validation of the functional role of BOLD differences ideally should not rely on measures highly correlated with the particular fMRI task used, such as very similar neuropsychological task paradigms. Furthermore, TBI survivors often do not display deficits on neuropsychological tasks administered in highly controlled settings, despite reporting problems in everyday life. This is particularly true for cognitive control function, where performance-based and self-report measures seem to measure different aspects of this function (Isquith et al., 2013; Toplak et al., 2013). Relating increased BOLD activation after TBI to self-report measures, while adjusting for fMRI task performance, might shed new light on potential compensatory

mechanisms, more closely related to everyday function as perceived by TBI survivors. However, no previous studies have investigated such relationships.

An interpretation related to the compensation hypothesis is that increased BOLD activations after TBI might represent a failure to effectively enhance neuronal efficiency due to practice effects, or more automatic processing as the task progresses. Very few studies have investigated such effects as a function of time-on-task (TOT). However, some support for this interpretation has been found in a study of a small group of severe TBI survivors (Newsome et al., 2007). Another study demonstrated increased within-group TOT related activation for TBI survivors, as well as compared with healthy controls (Kohl et al., 2009). Healthy controls in the same study on the other hand exhibited decreased activation on a within-group level (Kohl et al., 2009), indicating that habituation and compensation mechanisms might be displayed differently in healthy, as compared to injured brains. Upholding performance throughout a prolonged task is clearly a "cerebral challenge" (Hillary et al., 2006), and is typically associated with performance decline even in healthy subjects (Langner, Steinborn, Chatterjee, Sturm, & Willmes, 2010). Engaging more neuronal resources due to compensation or a failure to habituate to the task may therefore be related to the often-reported experience of cognitive fatigue, which is prevalent for the TBI group (Kohl et al., 2009; Ponsford et al., 2012). Investigating TOT effects is hence potentially informative for many important aspects of subtler dysfunction after TBI.

Another question is also whether the increased activation is related to transient alteration of functional engagement in task-relevant brain regions that have been preserved after injury, or if it is better explained by permanent reorganization through recruitment of novel regions, not normally activated in healthy brains. This question is still up for debate (Hillary, 2011), however, a study investigating this issue by means of behavioral partial least squares analysis (bPLS) of fMRI data from eight TBI survivors, gave preliminary evidence in favor of the altered functional engagement hypothesis (Turner et al., 2011). This study showed that areas of the PFC that were co-activated in healthy controls as a function of increased task difficulty in a working memory task were engaged at lower levels of difficulty in TBI survivors. More studies like this, also including investigation of within-task changes (e.g. TOT effects or longitudinal studies) are needed in order to gain traction on this issue (Hillary, 2011).

Injury severity might represent increased "cerebral challenge" with more severe injury, and if so, should therefore be related to an increased need for compensation. A study investigating severe TBI found a positive association between increased activation during performance of an N-Back task and lower GCS score when the task load was low (Newsome et al., 2007). However the opposite was observed when the task load was increased. Results from this study should, however, be interpreted with caution, because of a small sample size (n = 10) and an extremely narrow range of GCS scores (3-5). A study investigating the relationship between GCS and BOLD activation in 14 TBI survivors, initially found no relationship between GCS and BOLD activation (Scheibel et al., 2007). However, after tweaking the statistical threshold some indications for increased activation with more severe injury were found. However, this study did not adjust for task-performance, or relevant demographic factors known to be important for functional outcome after TBI (Scheibel et al., 2007). In a later study that in fact also adjusted for age, education, estimated IQ, and task accuracy, lower GCS score was related to increased cognitive control related activation within the MFC and thalamus (Scheibel et al., 2009). However, this study failed to adjust for task reaction time in the regression model, which has been demonstrated to affect activation within the same MFC region (Grinband et al., 2011). Moreover, although including a larger sample of TBI survivors (n = 30), this as many other fMRI studies in the field, applied a relatively liberal statistical threshold. In conclusion, there is some evidence pointing in the direction that increased BOLD activation is related to more severe injury, however, larger studies with sufficient statistical power to validate these findings are needed.

The variety of different tasks used in previous fMRI studies in TBI, raises the question whether the observed alterations in BOLD activation are domain specific, or whether they represent more domain general operations. Heterogeneity of the TBI samples, as well as in the methodology used to analyze the data, further complicate this issue. However, although there are quite some findings unique to each study, some commonalities can be observed across many of them when it comes to anatomical distribution of brain activations. The most consistently altered BOLD activations after TBI have been found within particular fronto-parietal areas, including the dorsolateral PFC and MFC, encompassing brain regions typically associated with domain general cognitive control functions. In fact, most studies have used tasks with strong cognitive control components such as the n-back task (Christodoulou et al., 2001; Hillary et al., 2011; Maruishi et al., 2007; Newsome et al., 2007), the Stroop paradigm (Soeda et al., 2005; Sozda et al., 2011), dual-tasking (Rasmussen et al., 2008), stop-signal task (Bonnelle et al., 2012), alpha-span task (Turner & Levine, 2008; Turner et al., 2011), stimulus response compatibility task (Scheibel et al., 2007; Scheibel et al., 2009), paced visual sustained attention test (Maruishi et al., 2007), symbol digit modality task (Kohl et al., 2009) and choice reaction time task (Bonnelle, 2011). As cognitive control is needed in all these tasks (and virtually any other task), it is therefore plausible that the common findings are related to this domain general function. Furthermore, given the heterogeneity of the TBI samples, focusing on domain general activations related to cognitive control for future investigations may be particularly valuable, as more domain specific activations may be more susceptible to individual pathology. As cognitive control dysfunction has a particularly important role for functional outcome after TBI (Finnanger et al., 2013; Spitz et al., 2012), and is a promising target for cognitive rehabilitation interventions (Levine et al., 2011), hypothesis driven investigation of its neuronal correlates, carefully integrated within innovative neurocognitive theoretical frameworks, may provide extended and important insight.

In summary, there is some evidence that TBI leads to hyper activations, particularly observed in fronto-parietal cognitive control regions in the brain. Moreover, these hyper activations have been suggested to be compensatory, and associated to the degree of *"cerebral challenge"* represented by such factors as injury severity and task demands. However, as pointed out earlier, several methodological issues need to be improved/addressed, and larger studies providing sufficient statistical power to detect subtle BOLD changes are needed in order to validate and extend previous studies.

Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) and TBI

White matter injuries have been observed in all severities of TBI. Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) is based on a modification of diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI), and has shown to

be a promising technique for assessing white matter integrity in vivo, also where no sign of injury is seen on conventional clinical MR images (Newcombe et al., 2011). DTI measures diffusion properties of water molecules in the brain, which are closely correlated to white matter microstructure (Le Bihan et al., 2001; Tournier, Mori, & Leemans, 2011). Isotropic diffusion is observed when the water molecules can move unrestricted (such as in cerebrospinal fluid), whereas if they are restricted (such as when restricted by the myelin of white matter tracts), the diffusion is anisotropic. When measuring the properties of anisotropic diffusion in six or more non-collinear directions, a diffusion tensor can be calculated. This tensor can be represented as an ellipsoid, where three eigenvectors represents the long axis (e_1) , width (e_2) and depth (e_3) , respectively. The length of the different eigenvectors is represented as eigenvalues $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \text{ and } \lambda_3)$, and can be used to calculate summary measures to infer representation of different diffusion properties of the underlying tissue. Several different summary measures can be calculated based on DTI data, where the most common for use in TBI studies are fractional anisotropy (FA) and mean diffusivity (MD) (Hulkower, Poliak, Rosenbaum, Zimmerman, & Lipton, 2013). Mean diffusivity is calculated by making an average of the three eigenvalues, and is reflecting the magnitude of the mean diffusion in all directions (regardless of its directionality). FA on the other hand is an expression of the directionality of diffusion, and is normalized so that it provides a number between 0 and 1 (where 0 represents isotropy and 1 full anisotropy). FA does only express the degree of anisotropic directionality, not the particular direction within the ellipsoid; however, in order to get more information about this, axial and radial diffusivity can be calculated. Axial diffusivity (AD) is based on the largest eigenvalue, and radial diffusivity (RD) is calculated from the two smaller eigenvalues. In general, in TBI, increased AD (diffusion along the fibers) has been suggested to be associated with axonal damage, while increased RD (diffusion perpendicular to WM fibers) is more likely to be associated with demyelination (Budde et al., 2007; J. Li, Li, Feng, & Gu, 2011; S. Li et al., 2013; Song et al., 2003). However, it is important to bear in mind that there is no one to one relationship between DTI metrics and white matter microstructure.

Information about the main direction of water diffusion locally within each voxel can be used to infer long-range directionality of whole tracts. This is what is referred to as DTI tractography, or white matter tractography (Lazar, 2010). Tractography analyses can be performed in many ways, and results may vary across different methods. Different methods of tractography generally fall into two major categories, namely those that utilize deterministic- and those that utilize probabilistic algorithms. In general, deterministic algorithms are based on directly following the main diffusion direction (e_1) from voxel to voxel, whereas the probabilistic algorithms estimate the likelihood of two regions being connected (Tournier et al., 2011). Tractography have an important role for in-vivo mapping of specific white matter tracts, and for parceling out such tracts to be used as ROIs in further analysis (e.g. of MD and FA). A big challenge when performing tractography is to correctly estimate the direction when there is crossing, kissing, or bending fibers within the same voxel. As this is a clear limitation of this approach, there has been a considerable focus on method development to further improve both acquisition and analysis techniques to overcome this challenge (Tournier et al., 2011). Another challenge is that DTI in general, and tractography methods in particular, are complex and computationally timeconsuming. Most methods are also limited by the subjective factor of manually placing ROIs prior to fiber tracking. In order to make this approach more available, and relevant for large-scale studies and clinical purposes, another focus should therefore be on developing automated or semi-automated methods with sufficiently high validity and reliability (Edlow & Wu, 2012).

DTI has been shown to be more sensitive to detecting white matter abnormalities after TBI than conventional clinical imaging, and disrupted white matter integrity has been demonstrated to be more extent with more severe injury and worse global outcome (Benson et al., 2007; Newcombe et al., 2011). This indicates that DTI may be a promising method for increasing the precision of detection and grading of TBI. Alterations of both FA and MD have been observed in chronic TBI of all severities (Hulkower et al., 2013). Despite some variations, the most consistent finding from DTI studies have been decreased FA in various brain regions in the chronic stage (Bendlin et al., 2008; Hulkower et al., 2013; Inglese et al., 2005; Kumar et al., 2009; Xu, Rasmussen, Lagopoulos, & Haberg, 2007). Animal studies from the acute and sub-acute stage after experimental injury, have demonstrated that reduced FA and AD is primarily related to axonal injury in the initial phase, whereas RD increase over time, further contributing to reduced FA, and is probably reflecting demyelization (J. Li et al., 2011; S. Li et al., 2013). This suggests

that DTI can be used as an in vivo tool, not only for detection of injury, but also for evaluating the progression of injury, and estimate time since injury. However, these experiments were performed in highly controlled settings, and caution should be exercised when extrapolating these findings to humans. There are relatively few studies that have investigated longitudinal within-group changes in moderate-to-severe TBI from the acute stage into the sub-acute or chronic phase, and results are not uniform, reflecting the complexity of TAI in humans. A study of severe TBI demonstrated reduced FA (compared to healthy controls) in the sub-acute phase (~8 weeks) that was caused by decreased AD and increased RD (Sidaros et al., 2008). At follow up ~12 months after injury, within-group FA increases (normalization) were observed in several anatomical regions (posterior limb of the internal capsule and centrum semiovale), with increased AD and mainly unchanged RD, suggesting increased axonal integrity. The areas of increased FA were mainly found in patients with more favorable outcome, which may indicate that signs of possible reorganization processes can be detected by DTI. However, in other regions (posterior corpus callosum and cerebral peduncle) both AD and RD increased with time, and FA decreased (Sidaros et al., 2008). Moreover, other longitudinal studies have mainly found reductions in FA from the sub-acute to the chronic phase (Kumar et al., 2009; Perez et al., 2014). As most longitudinal DTI studies have included acute scans from several weeks after injury, important information from the very acute phase might also have been missed (J. Li et al., 2011; S. Li et al., 2013). A very recent study demonstrated no FA changes within 24 hours of injury, but that FA was decreased 7 months later (Perez et al., 2014), demonstrating the importance of considering the time-window of obtained scans when interpreting findings. White matter tract volume has not been examined as extensively as FA and MD in TBI, and the results are so far inconsistent (Brandstack, Kurki, & Tenovuo, 2013; Kurki, Laalo, & Oksaranta, 2013). Given that total white matter volume has been shown to decline slowly, and not be significantly reduced before 1 year after injury (Brezova et al., 2014), it might be that white matter tract volume loss is best portrayed in a late chronic phase.

Several studies have shown that white matter integrity in a wide range of anatomical regions as measured with DTI is associated with domains of cognitive dysfunction commonly observed after TBI (Hulkower et al., 2013). For example, memory dysfunction after TBI has been related to reduced white matter integrity of the fornix, uncinate fasciculus, corpus callosum, forceps, saggital stratum, fronto-occipital faciculus, superior and inferior longitudinal fasciculus (Kinnunen et al., 2011; Kraus et al., 2007; Niogi et al., 2008; Spitz, Maller, O'Sullivan, & Ponsford, 2013). Furthermore, particularly interesting for this thesis is that cognitive control dysfunction after TBI has been associated with reduced white matter integrity in several widespread white matter tracts such as the corpus callosum, superior and inferior longitudinal fasciculus, the cingulum bundle, anterior and superior corona radiata, and the internal capsule (Kinnunen et al., 2011; Leunissen et al., 2014; Niogi et al., 2008; Spitz, Maller, O'Sullivan, et al., 2013). White matter disruptions in thalamo-cortical projection fibers have also been demonstrated to be associated with poorer cognitive control function (Little et al., 2010). Interestingly, none of the previous DTI studies have investigated the association between white matter microstructure and self-reported cognitive control function. Moreover, although there is an indication of double dissociation between cognitive domains such as memory (bilateral uncinate fasciculus) and cognitive control (left anterior corona radiata) after mild TBI (Niogi et al., 2008), there is still great variability of findings in the literature across injury severities as to which tracts are related to a particular cognitive dysfunction.

The majority of DTI studies in TBI have used an ROI based approach. However, the anatomical distribution of white matter disruption after TBI is difficult to predict a priori in an individual un-stratified (e.g. with regards to lesion location) sample of TBI patients. Also, although certain cognitive functions have been associated with particular tracts in healthy brains (Johansen-Berg, 2010), the functional changes due to injury might not be expressed with equal specificity. This may be partly because the pathology of TBI is rather heterogeneous, but also because the total *"white matter load"* (Kraus et al., 2007) regardless of anatomical location might have a high impact on behavioral changes, particularly in tasks relying on integration of several anatomical areas. Another factor to consider is that different methods of analysis are not equally sensitive in all anatomical regions (Szczepankiewicz et al., 2013; Wakana et al., 2007). Disruptions of large tracts such as the corpus callosum have been significantly related to many factors, including injury severity and a range of cognitive functions, but could also be related to that the particular method

used might be more robust in reliably detecting changes in this region, compared to other smaller and anatomically less pronounced tracts. Further complicating the interpretation of results is that the abundance and size of axons and other components such as glial cells and blood vessels vary within different parts of the white-matter (Rabi, Madhavi, Antonisamy, & Koshi, 2007). Partly based on the inconsistency of findings, it has been suggested that investigations of white-matter changes in TBI group-data ideally should rely on a two-stage analysis including both whole-brain (e.g. tract based spatial statistics – TBSS) and ROI based approaches (Leunissen et al., 2014; S. M. Smith et al., 2006; Spitz, Maller, O'Sullivan, et al., 2013). Although there are some regions in the brain more susceptible to TBI than others, performing only ROI based analysis may lead to missing out on important regions of disrupted white matter regions, also those that might only be represented in specific parts of tracts. This is also particularly relevant when aiming to investigate cognitive control function, which relies on integration and communication between several controllers in widespread anatomical regions.

In summary, DTI has proven to be a valuable method for gaining information about changes in white matter microstructure after TBI. However, as described earlier, not all DTI findings regarding white matter microstructure have been uniform. The variability of findings may be related to the time-window after injury being investigated, differences in patient samples, type of analysis, clinical variables included in the analyses, or the particular ROIs investigated (Hulkower et al., 2013). More studies taking a combined whole-brain and ROI based approach are therefore still needed in order to further elucidate the consequences of TBI on white matter microstructure, and to establish the relationship between various DTI measures, clinical variables, and functional outcome.

Aims for the thesis

The main aim for this thesis was to extend current knowledge on functional and structural changes in the brain after moderate-to-severe TBI, and to relate these findings to injury-related variables and functional measures known to be important for outcome. In order to reach this aim, several studies with different but related perspectives were performed, and four papers based on these studies are included in this thesis (hereafter referred to as Paper I-IV).

It is known that cognitive control function plays a particularly important role for functional outcome after moderate-to-severe TBI. Furthermore, recent neurocognitive models of cognitive control emphasize the importance of measuring both adaptive and stable cognitive control processes, as this may shed new light on potential compensatory mechanisms after injury. No previous studies have investigated both adaptive and stable cognitive control processes in the same study after TBI. However, in order to detect dysfunction, it is important to first be familiar with normal function.

In Paper I, the focus was on developing a task that was clinically relevant for typical cognitive control deficits after TBI, and that could reliably measure both adaptive and stable cognitive control processes in the healthy brain. Another important aim in Paper I was to validate this fMRI-adapted version of a widely used clinical paradigm against innovative neurocognitive models based on recent neuroimaging literature.

Cognitive control is multifaceted and can only to a certain degree be measured with performance-based measures. Also, the validity of interpretations of the functional significance of BOLD alterations might be flawed if it is correlated merely to fMRI task performance or highly similar performance based measures. No previous fMRI study of TBI has included other measures of cognitive control in such investigations. A new approach was therefore taken in the work presented in this thesis where a self-report measure of behavior related to cognitive control in every-day life was used in order to investigate the functional significance of TBI-related alterations in BOLD activation. In Paper II, cognitive, emotional, and behavioral problems in chronic moderate-to-severe TBI were delineated by use of self-report, and related to injury related variables and early clinical MRI findings. Also, in a subgroup analysis, these measures were related to performance-based measures of cognitive function. Although taking a rather broad approach in this paper, the analyses regarding cognitive control function was most important for the focus of this thesis.

In Paper III, the perspectives from Paper I and II were combined to provide for hypothesis driven investigation of altered cognitive control activations after moderate-to-severe TBI and its relationship to injury severity and every-day life function.

Studies with larger samples taking a combined whole-brain and ROI based approach are needed in order to further elucidate white matter microstructure changes after moderate-to-severe TBI as measured with DTI and their functional significance. Furthermore, in order to make the DTI approach more available and relevant for large-scale studies after TBI, the properties of automated and semi-automated methods should be investigated in relevant samples.

In Paper IV, Tract-based spatial statistics (TBSS) and an automated method for tractography not previously used in TBI were applied in order to investigate white matter integrity and its relationship to injury related variables and functional outcome in general, and both performance-based and self-reported cognitive control function in particular.

Materials and methods

Participants

TBI survivors were recruited from a cohort of 236 consecutive patients admitted to the Department of Neurosurgery at St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway, between October 2004 and July 2008. All TBI survivors had moderate-to-severe TBI according to the Head Injury Severity Scale (Stein & Spettell, 1995). All patients except for 5 consented to participating in follow-up research studies and to be registered in a database. Data regarding acute- and sub acute measures were also registered in this database, and some of these data have also been described in previous studies (Finnanger et al., 2013; Skandsen, Finnanger, et al., 2010; Skandsen, Kvistad, et al., 2010). The data collection specific for the studies included in this thesis was performed between February 2009 and August 2010. An attempt was made to contact all TBI survivors registered in the database if they fulfilled the following criteria: between 14-65 years of age the year of testing, >1 year since injury, fluency of the Norwegian language, and being eligible for task fMRI (GOSE \geq 5 and no MRI incompatible implants). Other exclusion criteria were previous moderate-to-severe TBI, and diagnosed neurologic or psychiatric condition.

Out of the 231 TBI survivors originally registered in the database, 51 died, 40 were excluded for being outside the age-limit, 28 due to premorbid or ongoing medical conditions, 4 not being fluent in the Norwegian language, and 13 for not being eligible for fMRI. This left a total of 95 TBI survivors eligible for the studies in this thesis, whereof 74 consented to participation. The qualitative impression was that very few (-2) potential participants actively declined to participate, as the main reason for non-participation was that we could not get ahold of some individuals for various reasons. Unfortunately, the exact reason for non-participation was not systematically registered. In total, one hundred and three healthy controls were also recruited. Healthy controls were recruited from friends and relatives of TBI survivors, healthy controls from a cohort database from a study of young adults born with very low birth weight (VLBW), as well as from different workplaces in Trondheim, Norway. All participants received financial reimbursement of NOK 1000. The study protocols were approved by the Regional Committee for Research Ethics, and adhered to the Helsinki Declaration.

The final samples included for each individual paper differs slightly due to exclusion based on study specific factors (e.g. missing data, or compromised data quality) as well as age, sex and education matching that are described in detail in each paper. However, a nontrivial difference in the study sample for Paper IV is worth an extra note here. A considerable lower number of TBI survivors (N=49) were included in Paper IV, mainly due to technical problems with the scanner, leading to pronounced vibration artifacts in some of the DTI images. This problem selectively affected DTI scans, and none of the other imaging protocols. This hardware problem with the scanner was sought solved several times, however without success. Particular focus was therefore on quality control of individual data (Tournier et al., 2011), and only including participants with sufficient data quality. A consequence of this was also that age, sex, and education matched healthy controls with artifact free DTI images (N=50) were selected to match the final sample of TBI survivors in this paper.

All data acquisition performed specifically for the work of this thesis included ~6 hours of assessments, all completed during one day. In addition to the data included in this thesis, assessments of high-level mobility and recording of EEG data was also performed. The order of the different tests was randomized for each individual to avoid systematic effects of fatigue or other relevant factors.

MRI data acquisition

All scans were performed on the same scanner at St. Olavs Hospital, which was a 3-T Siemens Trio with a 12-channel head coil (Siemens AG, Erlangen, Germany). A blood-oxygen-level dependent (BOLD) sensitive echo planar imaging (EPI) pulse sequence was applied to investigate neuronal correlates during performance of an in-house developed cognitive control task. The diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) sequence was a single-shot balanced-echo EPI sequence (acquired in 30 non-collinear directions). Two spin echo sequences with opposite phase encoding were acquired immediately after each EPI sequence (fMRI and DTI). These spin echo sequences were used for correction for static magnetic field distortions (Holland, Kuperman, & Dale, 2010). For anatomical reference, a T1 weighted 3D volume obtained with a magnetization-prepared rapid acquisition with

gradient echo (MPRAGE) sequence was applied. More details about imaging sequences can be found in each individual paper.

NOT-X continuous performance test (CPT) - fMRI paradigm

A novel fMRI task was developed and implemented specifically for the work in this thesis. Previous work had shown that measuring both adaptive and stable cognitive control processes might provide new insight on potential compensatory mechanisms after injury or disease. Previous studies taking this approach had used tasks mainly developed within cognitive neuroscience. We therefore wanted to develop a task that was more clinically relevant, but could still be adapted to measure both adaptive and stable cognitive control processes by means of fMRI, and validate it with respect to recent neurocognitive models of cognitive control. Also important was that the task demands were not too high, as we wanted both healthy controls and TBI survivors to have similar performance, as this is important for the validity of the interpretations of BOLD differences in neurological samples (Price et al., 2006).

After considering several different options, we landed on modifying a version of the continuous performance test (CPT) paradigm. This test paradigm is among the 5 most frequently used tests for clinical assessment of cognitive control and attention (Rabin, Barr, & Burton, 2005). Furthermore, a proof of principle fMRI study only investigating stable processes had demonstrated that key cognitive control areas could be detected during performance of this task (Ogg et al., 2008). The CPT paradigm is based on detecting lowfrequency stimuli within a consecutive presentation of high-frequency stimuli (Riccio, Reynolds, Lowe, & Moore, 2002). The Conner's CPT (Conners, Epstein, Angold, & Klaric, 2003) is probably the most popular commercially available CPT paradigm used in clinics throughout the world. In this CPT, the subject is told to respond as fast as possible by pressing a response button each time a letter from A-Z (high-frequency stimuli – 90% of the time) is presented on the screen, but to withhold their response if the letter is "X" (low frequency stimuli – 10% of the time). As the subjects are instructed to withhold their response when there is an X presented on the screen, the generic name of this CPT paradigm is *"Not-X CPT"* (Riccio et al., 2002). For the purpose of the work in this thesis, an fMRI-adapted version of the Not-X CPT paradigm inspired by the Conners CPT (Conners et al., 2003) was developed. In order to be able to measure both stable (block-related) and adaptive (event-related) cognitive control processes, the task was optimized for a mixed block- and event related fMRI design (Petersen & Dubis, 2012). Furthermore, as we were specifically interested in also investigating TOT effects, a great deal of work was put into balancing out potential order effects, as well as reducing the potential effects of global signal changes in the design. Technical details on how this was done are presented in the respective papers (Paper I and III).

Implementation of the Not-X CPT design was done in MATLAB 2008 (Math Works, Inc., Natick, MA), and presentation was done with E-Prime (Psychology Software Tools, Pittsburgh, PA). The test was presented to participants through either MRI-compatible video-goggles (VisualSystem, Nordic NeuroLab, Bergen, Norway) or an MRI-compatible monitor (Siemens AG, Erlangen, Germany). A switch to using the monitor instead of the goggles had to be made because of technical problems with the latter. Potential effects of this change were controlled for in all analyses. Responses were recorded using fiberoptic response grips (ResponseGrip, Nordic NeuroLab, Bergen, Norway). Stimulus timing and behavioral data was stored in log files using a Python-based script interacting with the E-Prime.

BOLD fMRI data analysis

All fMRI data were analyzed with the FMRIB's Software Library (FSL) toolbox 4.1.6 (FMRIB Centre, Oxford, UK). A custom algorithm was used in order to perform correction for geometrical distortions in EPI images before these analyses (Holland et al., 2010). Non-brain structures were first removed. BOLD fMRI data was motion corrected, grand mean intensity normalized and smoothed with a 6 mm full-width at half-maximum (FWHM) Gaussian filter. Temporal high pass filtering of 50s for block-related analyses, and 25s for event-related analyses were applied. Functional MRI data was linearly registered to each individual's native high-resolution T1 image using 7 degrees of freedom. Non-linear registration of native high-resolution images to a 1 mm MNI standard space template was then performed, using 12 degrees of freedom and a warp resolution of 8

mm. The functional image series were then transformed into standard space by applying the transformation matrix obtained from the high-resolution T1 image.

The hemodynamic response function was convolved with a standard Gamma variate, and a general linear model (GLM) was used to model BOLD activations as an effect of different contrasts. For each individual, the different contrasts were computed from 2 different runs and combined in a fixed effects analysis. Within- and between group effects were investigated by means of mixed effect analyses. Both Paper I and Paper II included wholebrain analyses. In these whole-brain analyses, thresholding and corrections for multiple comparisons were performed with a voxel based approach in Paper I (GFR-theory-based maximum height thresholding with p < 10⁻¹³ and p < 0.01) and with a cluster threshold of Z > 2.3 (p < 0.05) in Paper III. In addition, in Paper III parameter estimates of BOLD activation were extracted from particular ROIs in each individual and used in further analyses. The Harvard Oxford cortical- and subcortical structural brain atlases as well as visual inspection were used for anatomical denotation.

DTI data analysis

The FSL toolbox was also used to perform DTI analyses. All DTI acquisitions were registered to the b0 image using affine registration in order to minimize distortions due to motion and eddy currents. Correction for geometrical distortions was performed utilizing a custom algorithm (Holland et al., 2010). Non-brain structures were removed, and FMRIB's diffusion toolbox was used to fit a diffusion tensor model to the raw data in each voxel. Tract based spatial statistics (TBSS) (S. M. Smith et al., 2006) was used for voxelwise statistical analysis of the diffusion data. The Camino package was used for tractography, and an interpolated deterministic streamlining method was applied (Cook PA, 2006). A clustering approach based on clustering the streamlines based on their pair-wise distances was used in order to find consistent bundles of streamlines across subjects (Visser, Nijhuis, Buitelaar, & Zwiers, 2011).

Other statistical analyses

All other statistical analyses (e.g. demographic, behavioral and ROI based data) were performed with IBM SPSS 18.0 (Paper II), 19.0 (Paper I), and 20.0 (Paper III and IV). In depth description of the statistical methods can be found in the individual papers.

Summary of the papers

Paper I

Title: The functional topography and temporal dynamics of overlapping and distinct brain activations for adaptive task control and stable task-set maintenance during performance of an fMRI-adapted clinical continuous performance test.

Background: Stable and adaptive cognitive control processes seems to be subserved by partly overlapping, but also distinct anatomical areas. Brain regions in the MFC and bilaterally in the anterior insula have been suggested to represent a core network of cognitive control. The existence of such a core network, as well as the unique topography for different adaptive and stable cognitive control processes are still highly debated, and needs further elucidation.

Overall objective: Develop and validate a clinically relevant task for measuring both adaptive and stable cognitive control processes.

Methods: BOLD fMRI was acquired in 87 healthy participants during performance of a Not-X CPT adapted for use in a mixed block- and event related fMRI paradigm.

Research questions: Is there a core network of cognitive control comprised by the MFC and bilateral anterior insula? How are areas related to stable and adaptive cognitive control processes organized within the PFC? How is stable and adaptive cognitive control processes affected by TOT?

Main findings: Overlapping areas of activation related to both adaptive and stable cognitive control processes were observed in the MFC, and bilaterally in the anterior insula (and adjacent cortices), right IPL, and middle temporal gyrus. Within the PFC, there was a rostro-caudal distribution of adaptive- relative to stable processes. BOLD activation related to stable cognitive control processes decreased in task typical task related areas, and increased in typical task negative/default mode network (DMN) regions, as an effect of TOT. No TOT effects were seen for adaptive cognitive control activation. *Conclusions:* Results from this study provides further evidence for a core network of cognitive control. Extending previous studies, important knowledge on the functional organization of adaptive and stable cognitive control processes, and their temporal dynamics in the context of an extensively used clinical CPT paradigm was provided. This knowledge could provide a platform for future hypothesis driven studies investigating the neuronal correlates of cognitive control dysfunction.

Paper II

Title: Self-reported executive, emotional and behavioral function 2-5 years after moderate and severe traumatic brain injury - a prospective follow-up study.

Background: Moderate-to-severe TBI is a risk factor for developing executive, emotional, and behavioral problems.

Overall objective: Investigate the properties of two self-report measures, namely the Behavioral Rating Inventory of Executive Function (BRIEF-A) and the Achenbach System of Empirically Based Assessment (ASEBA); Adult Self Report (ASR), in a cohort of moderate-to-severe TBI survivors.

Methods: The BRIEF and ASEBA-ASR was administered to 67 survivors of moderate-tosevere TBI, and a group of 72 age- sex- and education matched healthy controls.

Research questions: Does survivors of moderate-to-severe TBI experience more executive, emotional and behavioral problems in the chronic phase? How is self-reported executive, emotional, and behavioral function related to demographic factors and injury related variables such as GCS, PTA, and early MRI findings? How are self-reported executive, emotional and behavioral function in the chronic phase associated with performance-based measures of cognitive function, symptoms of depression, and global outcome as measured during the first year after injury?

Main findings: TBI survivors reported more executive, emotional and behavioral problems, as compared with healthy controls. Presence of traumatic axonal injury (TAI) as detected in early clinical MRI, was associated with later problems. Self-reported executive, emotional and behavioral problems in the late chronic phase were associated with symptoms of depression 1 year after injury. There were no statistically significant associations between self-reported executive, emotional and behavioral and behavioral and behavioral function and performance-based measures of cognitive control.

Conclusions: Executive, emotional and behavioral problems were frequently reported in chronic moderate-to-severe TBI survivors. Identification of TAI and symptoms of depression in an earlier phase, may give a warning of later problems, and should therefore be assessed systematically in the clinic. Self-report measures seem to extend information obtained from performance-based measures, and may therefore provide extra value when used in parallel with these in the clinic.

Paper III

Title: Altered cognitive control activations after moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury and their relationship to injury severity and everyday-life function.

Background: Increased BOLD activation during task performance after moderate-to-severe TBI has been suggested to represent compensatory mechanisms. However, whether this alteration of the BOLD signal truly are compensatory remains to be elucidated. Moreover, no previous study has investigated the neuronal correlates of both adaptive- and stable cognitive control processes after TBI. Most previous studies have included small samples, reported imaging results uncorrected for multiple comparisons, and/or failed to adjust for known outcome moderators such as age and education.

Overall objective: Investigate the functional significance of cognitive control related BOLD alterations after TBI.

Methods: BOLD fMRI was undertaken in 62 moderate-to-severe TBI survivors, and 68 age- sex and education matched healthy controls during performance of a Not-X CPT adapted for use in a mixed block- and event related fMRI paradigm.

Research questions: Does TBI survivors demonstrate a shift toward relying more on adaptive processes within an a priori "core" cognitive control region in the MFC? Will TBI survivors exhibit increased and more widespread BOLD activation related to stable processes as a function of TOT? Will altered BOLD activations show a dose-dependent relationship to injury severity? How are BOLD alterations related to self-reported cognitive control function in every-day life situations?

Main findings: TBI survivors demonstrated increased BOLD activation related to adaptive cognitive control processes within an a priori "core" MFC region. TBI survivors exhibited increased TOT related BOLD activation related to stable cognitive control processes in the right IPL and right PFC. Increases in BOLD activations had a dose-dependent relationship with injury severity, with increased activation with more severe injury. Finally, increased BOLD activations after TBI were related to better self-reported cognitive control function in everyday-life situations.

Conclusions: The neuronal correlates of adaptive and stable cognitive control processes are differently altered after moderate-to severe TBI. Increased BOLD activation commonly observed after TBI might represent injury specific compensatory mechanisms also related to every-day life cognitive control function.

Paper IV

Title: White matter microstructure in chronic moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury: the impact of acute phase injury related variables and associations with global outcome, performance-based and self-reported cognitive control functions.

Background: DTI is a valuable method for investigating white matter integrity after moderate-to-severe TBI. However, inconsistencies in results exist, which may partly be related to differences in study samples, types of analyses, and time-windows for investigation. It has been suggested that taking a combined approach by using both whole-brain and ROI based methods may provide important insight into the white matter alterations after TBI. Moreover, automated or semi-automated methods may make DTI more available and relevant for large-scale studies.

Overall objective: Investigate the consequences of chronic moderate-to-severe TBI on various DTI measures such as FA, MD and tract volume by taking a combined whole-brain and automated tractography approach.

Methods: Tract based spatial statistics (TBSS) and automated tractography was performed in 49 chronic moderate-to-severe TBI survivors and 50 age- sex- and education matched healthy controls.

Research questions: What is the impact of acute phase injury, neuroimaging, and clinical variables on various DTI measures in the chronic phase? What is the association between various DTI measures and different chronic phase outcome measures including GOSE, as well as both performance-based and self-reported cognitive control function?

Main findings: Moderate-to-severe TBI was associated with widespread FA decrease, MD increase, and tract volume loss. More severe injury, as measured with clinical MRI evaluations of TAI, GCS, and length of PTA was related to more pronounced white matter microstructure alterations. Reduced white matter integrity in TBI survivors was also associated with worse global outcome, and poorer cognitive control as measured by performance-based measures. No association was found between any of the DTI measures and self-reported cognitive control function.

Conclusion: Extended knowledge about the clinical significance of various DTI measures was provided. Taking a combined whole-brain and automated tractography approach was demonstrated as valuable as the methods yielded both overlapping and complementary results. Support for a distinction between performance-based and self-reported cognitive control function was found, as DTI measures were exclusively associated with the former.

General discussion

The scientific work presented in this thesis took a multimodal approach in order to investigate subtle effects of chronic moderate-to-severe TBI. It was shown that various clinical measures of altered brain function and injury after TBI (Menon et al., 2010) were associated with self-reported cognitive and emotional function, as well as structural and functional alterations in the brain as measured by advanced MRI methods in the chronic phase. Furthermore, important new insight was gained on how both performance-based and self-reported cognitive control function in chronic moderate-to-severe TBI were related to subtle structural and functional changes in the brain. Reflecting the heterogeneity and complexity of TBI (Maas et al., 2011), different modalities each provided both unique and interrelated information that extend previous findings, and give rise to new valuable questions for further clinical- and basic TBI research. The individual results are discussed in detail in each paper (I-IV). However, in the following discussion, more emphasis will be given to understanding findings across studies, as well as going more into depth with methodological considerations and future perspectives.

Findings associated with cognitive control function in healthy participants

In Paper I we found support for a core network for cognitive control comprised by brain regions bilaterally in the insula and adjacent cortices and dorsal MFC. Additional candidates for core regions were found in the right IPL and middle temporal gyrus. The core network has previously been identified by use of a conjunction analysis across different types of tasks (Dosenbach et al., 2006). Some caution should therefore be exercised when interpreting parts of the results, as the additional candidates for core regions found in Paper I might be task specific, or contaminated with *"task impurity"* effects (Miyake & Friedman, 2012; Miyake et al., 2000). Further validation of those regions is therefore granted. The study also established that in this particular Not-X CPT task, adaptive cognitive control processes by and large were distributed in more anterior regions of the PFC as compared to stable cognitive control processes, and therefore was best explained by the cognitive demand- (Badre, 2008; Badre & D'Esposito, 2007, 2009), rather than the information cascade framework (Koechlin et al., 2003; Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007). Another novel and important finding, was that only stable cognitive control processes

were affected by TOT. This indicated that this contrast might be particularly sensitive for detecting adaptive changes in the brain, such as those related to increased *"cerebral challenge"* (Hillary et al., 2006) or cognitive fatigue (Kohl et al., 2009; Ponsford et al., 2012). Overall, findings in Paper I anchored our novel fMRI paradigm to current influential neurocognitive models of cognitive control, and established a platform for hypothesis driven investigation of TBI-related alterations in cognitive control activations.

The findings regarding associations between other measures of cognitive control function (D-KEFS TMT and BRIEF-A) and imaging parameters in healthy participants were relatively sparse. No associations between BOLD activations and self-reported cognitive control function were found. Furthermore, no statistically significant correlations between any DTI measure and self-reported cognitive control function were observed. For the performance-based measures (D-KEFS TMT), there was a negative correlation between the letter-sequencing subtest and white matter integrity in several of the major tracts. This indicates that there is some association between the efficiency of processing in the healthy brain and white matter integrity (Johansen-Berg, 2010). However, there were no statistically significant associations between white matter integrity and any of the other subtests, including the letter-number sequencing, which is the subtest placing the highest demand on cognitive control. Regrettably, due to the focused hypothesis driven approach in Paper III, we did not include an independent (in addition to the Not-X CPT) performancebased measure of cognitive control function in this study. However, in an ad-hoc analysis of this data for the purpose of this discussion (unpublished), we only found a positive correlation between the number sequencing subtest (D-KEFS TMT 2) and TOT related BOLD activation in healthy participants within the right IPL ROI (r = .303, p < 0.05). Notably, in this ad-hoc analysis, no statistically significant associations between TOT related activations and the D-KEFS TMT subtests were present in TBI group.

All DTI analyses were corrected for gender and age, as these factors have been shown to explain a considerable amount of the variability in white-matter integrity in healthy subjects (Johansen-Berg, 2010; Kanaan et al., 2012). In our particular study there were no gender effects with regards to FA or MD. There was, however, a strong negative correlation between age and FA and MD in all major white matter tracts. Therefore, in healthy

participants, such age effects might explain more of the variance in white-matter integrity than the normal variation in cognitive control function. Importantly, as our selection of cognitive control measures were restricted to only the D-KEFS TMT and BRIEF-A, we cannot rule out the possibility that other assessment tools would be more sensitive to detecting relationships to DTI measures. However, the observation of limited associations between DTI variables and measures of cognitive function in healthy participants is in accordance with other studies using different tests (Eikenes, Lohaugen, Brubakk, Skranes, & Haberg, 2011; Eikenes et al., 2012).

In TBI survivors there were extensive negative correlations between performance and white matter integrity on all subtests of the D-KEFS TMT, except for the one aiming to isolate motor speed. We also found several associations between BOLD activation and self-reported cognitive control function in TBI survivors. Hence, the methods and designs used in the work presented in this thesis proved to be more sensitive for detecting injury-related correlates than those related to normal variation in healthy participants.

Findings related to clinical signs of TBI

Altered brain function in the acute and sub-acute phase as for example measured by GCS score, HISS and length of PTA, as well as pathological changes detected by conventional neuroradiological methods, are important clinical signs of TBI which have shown to have prognostic value for global outcome in the chronic phase (Frey et al., 2007; Skandsen, Kvistad, et al., 2010). However, more knowledge on how these measures are associated to more subtle signs of TBI in the chronic phase is needed.

In Paper IV it was shown that TBI survivors exhibited extensive white-matter disruptions in several major tracts as measured with DTI. Reduced white matter integrity was associated with lower GCS score and longer period of PTA, confirming the link between injury severity and white matter disruption (Benson et al., 2007; Newcombe et al., 2011; Skandsen, Kvistad, et al., 2010). Moreover, there was an association between the grading of TAI, number of micro hemorrhages, and FLAIR lesion volume, as obtained from conventional early phase MRI, and later white matter integrity as measured by DTI in the chronic phase. These findings support the importance of detecting TAI lesions early (Moen et al., 2012), as the consequences of these persist into the chronic phase. Episodes of decreased cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) as observed in the ICU ensuing TBI had only minor effects on white matter (specific to increased MD), while increases in ICP, as well as Rotterdam CT scores reflecting mass lesions/increased ICP, did not significantly affect any DTI measures. This supports previous findings in animal models demonstrating that the integrity of axons might be relatively resistant to increases in ICP itself (Lafrenaye, McGinn, & Povlishock, 2012). Interestingly, lower FA was observed in those who had been injured in motor vehicle accidents, as compared with falls, probably reflecting the effects of generally higher acceleration-deceleration forces involved in the former type of injury (Davceva et al., 2012). The automatic tractography method demonstrated that the volume of WM tracts was significantly reduced in the chronic phase of TBI, concurring with the WM atrophy taking place during the first year after TBI (Brezova et al., 2014).

In line with previous studies, we found that survivors of moderate-to-severe TBI reported more cognitive control and emotional problems both in the clinical and sub-clinical range (Paper II, see also Paper III and IV). However, GCS score and length of PTA were not significantly associated with self-reported function within these domains. Also, despite the fact that a sub-group analysis demonstrated that TBI survivors had reduced performancebased cognitive function at 3 months after injury, the scores from these tests were not associated with the later self-reported problems in the chronic phase. This indicates that self-reported problems in the chronic phase might be better predicted by other measures. Indeed, findings in Paper II rather points at the importance of assessing factors such as the degree of early depressive symptoms and TAI lesions, as both of these were associated with more self-reported emotional and cognitive control problems. Notably, however, this relationship was stronger for later self-reported emotional- as compared to cognitive control function.

Although there was no indication of a biological gradient with regards to injury severity (Rogers & Read, 2007), the relationship to TAI indicates a biological vulnerability for developing emotional problems after TBI (Jorge & Starkstein, 2005; Rogers & Read, 2007; Warriner & Velikonja, 2006), particularly involving white matter (Maller et al., 2010; Rao et al., 2012). However, our findings also indicated that experiencing cognitive
and emotional problems in the chronic phase might be moderated by other factors. Particularly interesting, our findings pointed towards functional adaptations in the brain as a potential candidate. In Paper III we demonstrated that TBI survivors had several areas of increased BOLD activation during performance of a Not-X CPT as compared with healthy controls. This is in accordance with the majority of previous fMRI studies after TBI (Bonnelle, 2011; Christodoulou et al., 2001; Kohl et al., 2009; Maruishi et al., 2007; Raja Beharelle et al., 2011; Rasmussen et al., 2008; Scheibel et al., 2007; Scheibel et al., 2009; Sozda et al., 2011; Turner & Levine, 2008; Turner et al., 2011). Substantiating and extending previous studies (Newsome et al., 2007; Scheibel et al., 2007; Scheibel et al., 2009), it was demonstrated that these increases were related to injury severity in a dosedependent fashion in such a way that BOLD activation increased with more severe injury. We believe that this strong link between increased BOLD activation and this early clinical sign of TBI, demonstrates that this is indeed a particularly interesting candidate for a neuronal correlate to potential functional adaptations in the brain after TBI.

In summary, findings from the scientific work included in this thesis support that various early clinical signs of TBI are related to more subtle behavioral, structural and functional changes in the chronic phase. However, not all these relationships could be interpreted in a straightforward manner, and another important focus of the work was therefore to further delineate the functional significance of alterations in the brain observed in the chronic moderate-to-severe TBI survivors, with an emphasis on cognitive control function.

Cognitive control function and compensatory mechanisms after TBI

Our studies confirmed that TBI survivors are burdened with a higher degree of every-day cognitive control problems as compared with healthy controls. This underlines the importance of further investigation of their potential underlying mechanisms. In Paper III we found evidence that increased BOLD activations after TBI were related to less self-reported problems with cognitive control in every-day settings, and might serve a compensatory role. This goes beyond previous studies in supporting the compensation hypothesis of increased BOLD activation after TBI (Kohl et al., 2009; Turner & Levine, 2008; Turner et al., 2011), as it links BOLD alterations to a measure of every-day function that is somewhat independent of fMRI task performance or highly similar neuropsychological

tasks (Isquith et al., 2013; Price et al., 2006). A particular strength of this finding was that these results were adjusted for injury severity (GCS score), fMRI task performance, and established outcome moderators such as age and education. This strengthens the interpretation that increased BOLD activation after TBI has a functional role, also independent of the aforementioned factors.

Findings from Paper II and IV raise several important questions as for how to understand potential functional compensatory mechanisms. In paper II it was demonstrated that the presence of TAI detected on conventional MRI in the sub-acute phase was related to increased self-reported emotional and cognitive control problems in the chronic phase. On the contrary, in Paper IV, no statistically significant associations were found between any DTI measure and self-reported cognitive control function. This points to a potential presence of an initial vulnerability due to TAI in the early phase, which may be moderated by adaptive functional changes, for example by those reflected in altered BOLD activations as TBI survivors progress into the chronic phase (Sanchez-Carrion, Fernandez-Espejo, et al., 2008). In Paper II an association was also found between symptoms of depression during the first year after injury and increased self-reported cognitive control problems later in the chronic phase. Also, no association between self-reported and performance-based measures of cognitive control was found in this study. As the neuronal correlates of concurrent emotional problems were not investigated in Paper III, this opens up for the possibility that the observed BOLD alterations might also be influenced by such problems, either directly, or through an interaction with self-reported cognitive control function. It has been shown previously that self-reported emotional and cognitive problems are highly interrelated (Jorge et al., 2004; Spitz, Schonberger, et al., 2013). Furthermore, the relationship between performance-based and self-reported measures of cognitive control is not fully understood (Isquith et al., 2013; Toplak et al., 2013). More research is needed to investigate these matters, however, our findings are still convincing with regards to linking increases in the BOLD signal to every-day problems experienced by TBI survivors, regardless of their phenomenological quality or category.

It has been suggested that emotional problems are mediated by cognitive control dysfunction through the development of an emotion focused coping style (Krpan et al., 2007; Krpan et al., 2011a, 2011b). Problem-focused coping is performed with less cognitive control (i.e. automatically) in healthy controls, whereas more cognitive control (hence effort) might be needed for TBI survivors to implement the same strategies (Krpan et al., 2007). It is therefore plausible that the increased BOLD activations related to self-reported cognitive control function in Paper III represent the ability for TBI survivors to mobilize extra resources that might also benefit every-day coping. The lack of relationship between BOLD activation and self-reported cognitive control function in the healthy controls might also be explained in a similar manner, as implementation of a problem-focused coping style is believed to be relatively effortless in this group (Krpan et al., 2007).

In TBI survivors, a strong association was found between performance-based measures of cognitive control and most major white matter tracts (Paper IV). It has been proposed that self-reported cognitive control function is more related to the success of actual goal pursuit in every-day life, and that performance-based measures are rather more directly linked to the efficacy of processing (Toplak et al., 2013). Based on this, we suggest that measures of white-matter integrity is representative of the basic capacity for effective processing in the brain after TBI, whereas functional adaptations detected with fMRI may still enhance the basic processing capacity through compensatory mechanisms that are influencing (in some cases possibly normalizing) measures of every-day life function. If this is the case, disrupted white matter integrity should be positively associated to increased BOLD activation after TBI. Indirect support for this has been found in a study that demonstrated that disrupted white-matter integrity between typical task-positive regions in the brain such as the insula and MFC, lead to increased BOLD activations in DMN regions (Bonnelle et al., 2012). As our studies were conducted in parallel, we did not investigate possible interactions between white-matter integrity and BOLD activations. Future longitudinal studies investigating such structural and functional interactions, also in relation to self-reported measures of emotional and cognitive control function, might serve to further disentangle the complexity of cognitive control function and potential compensatory mechanisms after TBI.

Clinical implications

Real-life deficits experienced by chronic moderate-to-severe TBI survivors are not always easily detected by conventional neuropsychological or neurological assessments. Furthermore, although conventional imaging methods provide information instrumental for detection of TBI, findings from such methods often fall short in explaining more subtle problems that are frequently experienced by patients. DTI and BOLD fMRI are still experimental methods, not yet suitable for clinical assessment of individual TBI patients. However, as demonstrated in this thesis, the knowledge gained from such methods may still be informative for our understanding of problems exhibited by patients that we see in the clinic.

First of all, the findings presented in this thesis remind us that a broad assessment is warranted in order to optimize our assessment and understanding of our patients. Also, it was demonstrated that subtle changes in brain structure and function not necessarily detectable with conventional tools might still have an important impact on how TBI survivors cope with every-day life. A particularly interesting finding with possible clinical implications was that performance-based cognitive control function in chronic TBI was related to subtle structural changes in the brain as measured with DTI, whereas self-reported problems were exclusively related to functional adaptations as measured with fMRI. In general, knowing that self-reported cognitive control function in chronic moderate-to-severe TBI survivors is associated with functional changes in the brain, gives an important perspective when seeing patients where subtle problems are not easily explained by performance-based measures. More than that, as these functional changes were shown to play a potential compensatory role, this might indicate a potential target for neuro-rehabilitation.

Methylphenidate treatment has been demonstrated to reduce cognitive control related BOLD activation in the MFC after TBI, despite no behavioral difference (Newsome et al., 2009). Although only 4 TBI survivors were included in the treatment group in this double-blind placebo controlled study, this finding serves as a proof of principle that fMRI might serve as a proxy for measuring the effects of medical interventions after TBI. In this particular case the effect of methylphenidate might be interpreted as improved efficiency of neuronal processing, as the treatment group seemed to require less of what we hypothesize to be compensatory BOLD activation. Future pharmacological fMRI studies investigating both the acute effects of candidate drugs, as well as their long-term effects on functional brain reorganization, might give important insight for improving treatment strategies.

Cognitive control function is probably the most targeted cognitive domain for nonmedical neuro-rehabilitation after TBI. One example of a theory driven approach to rehabilitation of cognitive control, is Goal Management Training (GMT). GMT is based on a theory of maintenance of task-sets, in order to implement higher order goal-driven behavior (Levine et al., 2011). Interestingly, this system has been hypothesized to be supported by a right lateralized fronto-thalamic-parietal brain network, that if compromised (e.g. by TBI), will lead to more cue-dependent or distracted behavior in the individual (Levine et al., 2011). Some evidence has been provided from an fMRI study that enhanced control over processing of visual stimuli in the extra striate cortex, accompanied with modulation of prefrontal activation, may be associated with successful improvement of cognitive control after completing a highly similar intervention (Chen et al., 2011). This demonstrates that neuronal correlates of altered cognitive control function due to a focused rehabilitation intervention after TBI can be detected with fMRI. Our findings related to the potential compensatory role of right fronto-parietal cognitive control regions during stable-task set maintenance over a longer period of time are in line with the hypothesized underlying brain network targeted by GMT. It would therefore be particularly interesting to investigate whether GMT or a similar intervention would affect this type of BOLD activation specifically.

Methodological considerations

TBI sample

TBI survivors in our studies were recruited from a database of patients who had initially been admitted to a level I trauma center. This sample may therefore differ from those from other studies where TBI survivors have been included from rehabilitation units or other clinics where patients seek help due to experiencing problems in the chronic phase. Also, as the HISS (Stein & Spettell, 1995) was used in the inclusion and for categorizing injury severity, several patients with GCS score of 13 were included. Although still debated, there is an increasing trend to include patients with a GCS score of 13 in the moderate TBI category, due to the higher risk of complicating factors in these patients than others classified as mild (Maas et al., 2008). All our participants also had to be eligible for fMRI, which excluded some patients with more severe disabilities. As a consequence of these factors, our final sample was relatively well functioning for a moderate-to-severe TBI sample, as reflected by the fact that they all had GOSE scores in the moderate disability to good recovery range (GOSE \geq 5). The exclusion of certain premorbid conditions also limits the generalizability of our results to certain TBI survivors that are commonly treated in the clinic. In particular, the exclusion of participants with diagnosed psychiatric conditions might have influenced the results obtained in Paper II regarding self-reported emotional problems. However, a strength of our sample was that it was rather large compared with other studies using advanced MRI, spanned across a wide age range, and by and large was in concordance with gender ratios and injury mechanism distributions as reported from epidemiological studies (Tagliaferri et al., 2006).

Cognitive control- and emotional function measures

The narrow selection of cognitive control- and emotional function measures is a limitation to our work. The performance-based (D-KEFS TMT, Not-X CPT) and self-report measures of cognitive control function (BRIEF-A) were included due to their clinical use and previous findings in TBI and other neurological samples (Delis, Kaplan, & Kramer, 2001; Finnanger et al., 2013; Garcia-Molina et al., 2012; Lovstad et al., 2012; Riccio et al., 2002; Roth, 2005; Waid-Ebbs, Wen, Heaton, Donovan, & Velozo, 2012). The ASEBA-ASR (Achenbach, 2003) has not previously been used in adult TBI. However, given its comprehensiveness, and the popularity of its pediatric equivalent, we included this tool as we saw it as a potentially good candidate for detecting subtle emotional problems often reported in chronic adult TBI (Warriner & Velikonja, 2006). Although selected based on their particular properties and our hypotheses, the narrow selection was also a consequence of practical logistic aspects. The study was logistically challenging as all participants completed a total of ~6 hours of assessment during one day (6 hours x 177 participants = 1062 hours). A considerable proportion of the TBI survivors had to travel to the assessment site, and also stay at a hotel. As we reimbursed all expenses for the participants, this also restricted our possibility of extending the assessments to several days, and therefore limited our time to include a broader assessment. Another limitation regarding the assessment tools was that not all tools were used for analyses in each individual paper. This was partly due to the fact that the papers were developed in parallel with specific hypotheses. However, as previously discussed in this thesis, many of the interpretations of our findings could benefit from including other measures, which is a lesson that provides an important direction for our future studies.

Functional MRI

As increased BOLD activations after TBI might be related to injury severity, it is important to also consider injury-related factors not associated with altered neuronal function as such. Neurovascular changes due to injury or disease may alter the neurovascular coupling, and thereby weaken the correlation between the BOLD response and neural activity. This issue should always be kept in mind when interpreting BOLD activations in general (as neurovascular coupling might be different in various brain regions), and in particular after injury or disease (Price et al., 2006). Changes in baseline cerebrovascular parameters have been demonstrated in small samples of moderate and severe TBI survivors (Hillary & Biswal, 2007; Newsome et al., 2012), and suggestions for how to control for such changes have been presented (Hillary & Biswal, 2007). However, knowledge of such factors in different types and severities of TBI is rather limited, and corrections for this is not part of standard fMRI analysis methods at the present time, and was neither performed in the work presented that the hemodynamic response seems to be intact, at least in primary visual regions, despite of disrupted optic tracts after severe TBI (Palmer et

al., 2010). This indicates that standard fMRI methodology has some validity for studying neuroplasticity after injury.

The ability to reliably measure the BOLD response may also be influenced by signal artifacts due to larger pathological- (e.g. lesions) and postoperative changes. Lesions might also influence the quality of the spatial normalization of individual high-resolution images to standard space. Although theoretically valid (Brett, Leff, Rorden, & Ashburner, 2001), masking out lesion areas in the TBI survivors represents a challenging approach due to the heterogenic pathology also including small lesions that might attenuate on conventional imaging from the acute to the chronic phase (Moen et al., 2012). Parameters obtained from voxel-based morphometric methods have previously been used in fMRI analysis after TBI in order to adjust for anatomical differences caused by injury (Bonnelle et al., 2012). However, this method also has its limitations as the accuracy of tissue segmentation methods is far from perfect after TBI, and even varies between different anatomical regions in healthy controls (Oakes et al., 2007). In order to avoid effects of sub-optimal registration from high-resolution native- to standard space, all individual registrations in our study were manually inspected. Using a non-linear registration procedure with a warp resolution of 8 mm, we observed strikingly successful registrations for most subjects. Our experience was that the registration of EPI images to native high-resolution space was more challenging for both injured and healthy brains. This was, however, significantly improved by the custom procedure to correct for geometrical distortions in the EPI images (Holland et al., 2010). We cannot completely rule out any effects of lesions in our findings. However, the expected effect would be decreased sensitivity, as the models used assumed that there was no variability in the underlying anatomy or neuronal reorganization (Price et al., 2006). We are therefore confident that such effects would at least not represent a big risk of making type I errors.

Changes in BOLD activation may also be related to inefficient neuronal processing, due to pathophysiological mechanisms not related to functional output (behavior). However, both anatomical- as well as general pathophysiological changes would not be expected to create systematic changes in specific brain regions across different TBI samples and studies. As described in the introduction of this thesis, such TBI related BOLD alterations have been found in typical cognitive control regions within the brain, and have also been seen to vary with transient changes in task performance and task demands (Scheibel et al., 2009; Turner et al., 2011). This was also the case in Paper III, as the anatomical areas associated with TBI related BOLD alterations were not only found in typical cognitive control areas, but also in areas overlapping with task related activations in the healthy controls (e.g. dorsolateral PFC, IPL, and MFC). The fact that similar findings have also been observed in TBI survivors presenting with only TAI and no other lesions (Maruishi et al., 2007; Raja Beharelle et al., 2011; Turner & Levine, 2008; Turner et al., 2011), further points towards that these are systematic changes not likely to be related to general non-functional mechanisms. Furthermore, demonstrating within-subject differences such as transient TOT- (Paper III) and longitudinal effects (Sanchez-Carrion, Fernandez-Espejo, et al., 2008) after TBI that are related to function, is also in support of the validity of this method. Despite its pitfalls, it can hence be argued that BOLD fMRI has great potential for providing new knowledge about the neuronal correlates of TBI, given that proper effort is put into the study design and data analysis.

The task design used in Paper I and III had the same distribution of targets (432) and non-targets (48) as well as general task demands as the CCPT (Conners et al., 2003). However, due to the fMRI adaptations, there were two main differences between the task designs. In order to allow for particular block-related analyses, task-blocks were interleaved with fixation-blocks (rest condition). This adaptation made the total length of our Not-X CPT considerably longer than the CCPT (~30 min vs. 14 min). Also, in order to allow for event-related analysis, the inter stimulus intervals (ISIs) were randomly scrambled within each block in order to sample different time points of the hemodynamic response for all trial types (Petersen & Dubis, 2012). This is different from the CCPT as ISIs in this task is stratified into different block types with identical ISIs for several consecutive trials. On the one hand, the constantly changing ISIs might explain why the mean reaction times observed in our studies are seemingly higher (~420ms vs. ~380ms) than in studies using the original paradigm (Egeland & Kovalik-Gran, 2010), as participants do not fall into a habitual state of predicting responses as easily. On the other hand, this might have potentially have helped the TBI survivors to stay more alert throughout the task, which could explain the highly similar task performance across groups. Although such potential effects

of task design are relevant for relating our findings to other behavioral studies, adaptations of the task for use in a mixed block- and event related fMRI design were inevitable. The strength of our studies was large sample sizes facilitating the internal validation of the particular task. However, further studies using the exact same Not-X CPT paradigm in other populations are needed in order to gain further external validation of the design.

Generally, the statistical thresholding of activations in our studies was more conservative than in most other comparable studies. In Paper I, a particularly conservative threshold was chosen in order to detect a true *"core network"* for cognitive control. In Paper III, a more liberal threshold was chosen, however, still more conservative than the majority of other BOLD fMRI studies after TBI. In addition, many of our analyses were adjusted for several covariates. This may explain why some of our contrasts revealed fewer differences between TBI survivors and healthy controls than what has been described in previous studies. Although a risk of making type II errors was present (Lieberman & Cunningham, 2009), we still think this conservative hypothesis driven approach extends previous studies and represents a general strength.

Diffusion tensor imaging

For our DTI analyses we applied a combined whole-brain and ROI based approach. Although the TBSS analysis is not truly a whole-brain approach since it is restricted to the most robust parts of the white-matter skeleton (S. M. Smith et al., 2006), this voxel-based method still represents a much wider approach than typical ROI-based analyses. In the tractography approach, ROIs representing particular white matter-tracts were automatically selected based on the properties of the data (Visser et al., 2011). Both approaches therefore have the advantage that no a priori placement of anatomical ROIs is necessary, thereby increasing the potential generalizability and reproducibility of the findings. That being said, the quality of all DTI measures depends on acquisition parameters, as well as decisions made along the analysis pipeline, which might affect the final results (Jones & Cercignani, 2010; Tournier et al., 2011). It is not within the scope of this thesis to address all these, however, some comments about the practical differences between the two methods with regards to our own findings are warranted.

Similar issues with regards to registration from native to standard space, as have been discussed for fMRI, are also present for the DTI analyses. For the TBSS analysis, effects of misalignment errors can also occur in the skeleton projection step. Such errors might be susceptible to microstructure pathology, and can contribute to assignment of voxels to the wrong anatomical tract, particularly in regions with complex fiber architecture (Bach et al., 2014). Despite this limitation of the method, skeletonizing is in general considered an advantage, as the principal idea is that the skeleton only represents tracts that are common to all individuals in a particular study. Similarly, as tract size and shape varies between individuals, a strong feature of the tractography method is that tracts are first determined in native space before being registered to a common space. In order to perform group comparisons, bundles of streamlines that were consistent across participants were detected by means of an automated method clustering them based on their pair-wise distances within a common space (Visser et al., 2011). Although increasing the probability of comparing the same tracts across participants, it should be acknowledged that this analysis relies on data exceeding the tracking FA threshold in each individual, and might therefore contain some deviations from the actual underlying anatomy. This highlights the obvious, but nevertheless important methodological consideration with regards to interpretation of all DTI metrics, namely that it reflects the diffusion properties of water in and around the underlying tissue, and not the tissue itself.

Although yielding similar results to some extent, TBSS seemed to be more sensitive than automated tractography, meaning that more significant findings were exhibited by means of the former method. This can partly be explained by the fact that TBSS yields voxelbased results, and is therefore also able to detect differences in parts of tracts, as compared to the tractography method that relies on average measures within whole tracts. Moreover, another limitation of the tractography method was that only certain tracts were included, whereas the whole white-matter skeleton (although thresholded) was included in the TBSS analyses.

Although MD provided similar results, for both methods, and in concordance with previous studies (Edlow & Wu, 2012), FA seemed to be the most sensitive DTI measure for describing white matter alterations after TBI. Furthermore, TBSS provided considerably higher FA values (e.g. in the corpus callosum) than the tractography method, for both healthy controls and TBI survivors. This was probably related to the fact that the tractography method encompasses the whole tract including the more peripheral parts of the white-matter tracts, compared to the TBSS procedure, which only encompasses the central part of the tract. Although tract volume itself demonstrated more limited information with regards to its relationship to function, the fact that there were between-group volume differences, could also have affected the measurement of mean FA and MD in the tractography based analyses (Kurki et al., 2013). Taken together, both methods revealed similar results to a large extent, but did also provide unique information, partly reflecting the strengths and limitations of each approach. This supports the use of a combined approach when investigating white matter integrity and its clinical relevance after TBI (Leunissen et al., 2014; Spitz, Maller, O'Sullivan, et al., 2013).

A limitation in Paper IV was that a considerable proportion of the original data had to be discarded, mainly due to vibration artifacts caused by problems with the scanner. As described in the methods section this left only 49 TBI datasets available for complete DTI analysis. Our approach to handling artifacts was rather conservative, as participants were excluded from analysis even in cases where only a few slices were affected. This was important, as removing only grossly affected slices may potentially introduce a positive bias in scalar calculations (Ling et al., 2012). The samples for some of the subgroup analyses were also limited by the availability of certain variables. For example, only 21 TBI survivors were admitted to the ICU, and ICP and CPP data was only obtained from 16 subjects. However, we still think the results obtained from these analyses are informative, in particular for planning future studies, as there is a relative paucity of studies that have investigated these variables in relation to DTI measures in the chronic phase.

Future perspectives and conclusion

The scientific work presented in this thesis was to a large degree performed in parallel, but with different, specific research questions. Each study therefore contributed with new knowledge from different modalities laying the groundwork for new research questions, some of which has already been touched upon in this thesis.

One focus for our future work will be to combine the knowledge from the individual papers in order to further delineate the neuronal and behavioral effects of moderate-to-severe TBI. This will for example involve a multimodal approach combining DTI and fMRI for hypothesis driven investigation of cognitive control networks and function. This will also include investigation of the intrinsic properties of such networks by use of resting state fMRI, which was acquired in parallel to the data included in this thesis.

As all fMRI and DTI analyses included in this thesis were cross-sectional and based on investigations of chronic TBI, several questions regarding the trajectory of brain alterations from the sub-acute to the chronic phase still remains to be investigated. I am currently involved in a project at the University of California Los Angeles (UCLA) where we are investigating such longitudinal changes in children and adolescents with moderate-tosevere TBI (primary investigator: Professor Robert Asarnow). A continuation of this project is also to investigate the utility of fMRI as a tool for detecting the effects of a clinical intervention (cognitive training in combination with a novel drug) in the chronic phase in a subgroup of these patients. Investigating how alterations in BOLD activation may be affected in such an experimental design can provide important insight for further development of targeted treatment interventions for this patient group.

The work of this thesis includes novel methods and research designs for investigation of both functional and structural brain alterations due to brain injury. To further develop and validate our approach, a parallel line of our research is related to applying similar methodology in order to investigate brain alterations caused by a different etiology than TBI. Parallel to the work in this thesis, we therefore collected the same type of data from young adults that were prematurely born with a very low birth weight (VLBW). Brain injury occurs in 20-50% of children born with VLBW. Perinatal brain injury may in some instances have a biological advantage due to a high level of neuroplasticity in the newborn. However, other evidence points towards less potential for functional compensation in young brains, due to the fact that many cognitive functions have yet to be developed, hence also causing accumulative developmental problems due to the initial injury. Despite the different etiologies of perinatal and adult (traumatic) brain injury, there are several similarities with regard to the cognitive and emotional problems experienced (Finnanger et al., 2013; Lohaugen et al., 2010; Lund et al., 2012) (and Paper II). Another similarity is that injuries in white-matter are particularly prevalent (Eikenes et al., 2011; Skandsen, Kvistad, et al., 2010). Given that cognitive control function relies on widespread brain networks and the connectivity between these, both groups therefore serve as particularly interesting models for investigating reorganization in these systems (Skranes et al., 2009) (and Paper IV). Based on our work in healthy controls and adult TBI presented in this thesis, work is now in progress to analyze data to investigate both structural and functional brain alterations in young adults born with VLBW.

In conclusion, the work presented in this thesis represents a step towards increased understanding of functional and structural changes in the brain after moderate-to-severe TBI, and their relation to injury-related variables and functional measures known to be important for outcome. Just as important is that this work has provided an opportunity for our research group to gain further experience on running a truly multidisciplinary research program on TBI. I have been lucky to be part of this experience, where I have had the chance to learn from the best. Future work, some of which has been described above will clearly benefit from this experience. The work presented in this thesis therefore only represents the beginning of my research career, and an endeavor towards new scientific discoveries and adventures in collaboration with the fantastic team of researchers and clinicians that I have had the pleasure of working with the last few years.

References

- Achenbach, T. M. R., L.A. (2003). *Manual for the ASEBA Adult Forms & Profiles.* Burlington VT, USA: University of Vermont, Research Center for Children, Youth and Families
- Andelic, N., Sigurdardottir, S., Brunborg, C., & Roe, C. (2008). Incidence of hospitaltreated traumatic brain injury in the Oslo population. *Neuroepidemiology*, 30(2), 120-128. doi: 10.1159/000120025
- Arsalidou, M., Pascual-Leone, J., Johnson, J., Morris, D., & Taylor, M. J. (2013). A balancing act of the brain: activations and deactivations driven by cognitive load. *Brain Behav*, 3(3), 273-285. doi: 10.1002/brb3.128
- Ashikaga, R., Araki, Y., & Ishida, O. (1997). MRI of head injury using FLAIR. *Neuroradiology, 39*(4), 239-242.
- Bach, M., Laun, F. B., Leemans, A., Tax, C. M., Biessels, G. J., Stieltjes, B., & Maier-Hein, K. H. (2014). Methodological considerations on tract-based spatial statistics (TBSS). *NeuroImage*, 100, 358-369. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.06.021
- Badre, D. (2008). Cognitive control, hierarchy, and the rostro-caudal organization of the frontal lobes. *Trends Cogn Sci, 12*(5), 193-200. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2008.02.004
- Badre, D., & D'Esposito, M. (2007). Functional magnetic resonance imaging evidence for a hierarchical organization of the prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 19(12), 2082-2099. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2007.19.12.2082
- Badre, D., & D'Esposito, M. (2009). Is the rostro-caudal axis of the frontal lobe hierarchical? *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10(9), 659-669. doi: 10.1038/nrn2667
- Bendlin, B. B., Ries, M. L., Lazar, M., Alexander, A. L., Dempsey, R. J., Rowley, H. A., . . Johnson, S. C. (2008). Longitudinal changes in patients with traumatic brain injury assessed with diffusion-tensor and volumetric imaging. *Neuroimage*, 42(2), 503-514. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.04.254
- Benson, R. R., Meda, S. A., Vasudevan, S., Kou, Z., Govindarajan, K. A., Hanks, R. A., . . Haacke, E. M. (2007). Global white matter analysis of diffusion tensor images

is predictive of injury severity in traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 24(3), 446-459. doi: 10.1089/neu.2006.0153

- Bobinski, L., Olivecrona, M., & Koskinen, L. O. (2012). Dynamics of brain tissue changes induced by traumatic brain injury assessed with the Marshall, Morris-Marshall, and the Rotterdam classifications and its impact on outcome in a prostacyclin placebo-controlled study. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*, 154(6), 1069-1079. doi: 10.1007/s00701-012-1345-x
- Bonnelle, V. (2011). Default Mode Network Connectivity Predicts Sustained Attention Deficits Following Traumatic Brain Injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 28(5), A73-A74. doi: 10.1089/neu.2011.9946
- Bonnelle, V., Ham, T. E., Leech, R., Kinnunen, K. M., Mehta, M. A., Greenwood, R. J., & Sharp, D. J. (2012). Salience network integrity predicts default mode network function after traumatic brain injury. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 109*(12), 4690-4695. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1113455109
- Botvinick, M. M., Braver, T. S., Barch, D. M., Carter, C. S., & Cohen, J. D. (2001). Conflict monitoring and cognitive control. *Psychol Rev*, *108*(3), 624-652.
- Brandstack, N., Kurki, T., & Tenovuo, O. (2013). Quantitative diffusion-tensor tractography of long association tracts in patients with traumatic brain injury without associated findings at routine MR imaging. *Radiology*, 267(1), 231-239. doi: 10.1148/radiol.12112570
- Braver, T. S. (2012). The variable nature of cognitive control: a dual mechanisms framework. *Trends Cogn Sci, 16*(2), 106-113. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2011.12.010
- Brett, M., Leff, A. P., Rorden, C., & Ashburner, J. (2001). Spatial normalization of brain images with focal lesions using cost function masking. *NeuroImage*, 14(2), 486-500. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2001.0845
- Brezova, V., ^KG, M., T, S., A, V., JB, B., O, S., & AK, H. (2014). Prospective longitudinal MRI study of brain volumes and diffusion changes during the first year after moderate to severe traumatic brain injury. *NeuroImage Clinical*. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2014.03.012
- Budde, M. D., Kim, J. H., Liang, H. F., Schmidt, R. E., Russell, J. H., Cross, A. H., & Song, S. K. (2007). Toward accurate diagnosis of white matter pathology using

diffusion tensor imaging. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 57(4), 688-695. doi: 10.1002/mrm.21200

- Bullock, M., & Povlishock, J. (2007). Guidelines for the management of severer traumatic brain injury. 3rd edition. In B. T. Foundation (Ed.), (Vol. 24, pp. S1-116): Journal of Neurotrauma.
- Burgess, G. C., & Braver, T. S. (2010). Neural mechanisms of interference control in working memory: effects of interference expectancy and fluid intelligence. *PLoS* ONE, 5(9), e12861. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012861
- Carter, C. S., & van Veen, V. (2007). Anterior cingulate cortex and conflict detection: an update of theory and data. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci, 7*(4), 367-379.
- Christensen, B. K., Colella, B., Inness, E., Hebert, D., Monette, G., Bayley, M., & Green,
 R. E. (2008). Recovery of cognitive function after traumatic brain injury: a
 multilevel modeling analysis of Canadian outcomes. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 89*(12 Suppl), S3-15. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2008.10.002
- Christodoulou, C., DeLuca, J., Ricker, J. H., Madigan, N. K., Bly, B. M., Lange, G., . . . Ni, A. C. (2001). Functional magnetic resonance imaging of working memory impairment after traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 71(2), 161-168. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.71.2.161
- Conners, C. K., Epstein, J. N., Angold, A., & Klaric, J. (2003). Continuous performance test performance in a normative epidemiological sample. *J Abnorm Child Psychol*, *31*(5), 555-562.
- Cook PA, B. Y., Nedjati-Gilani K, et al. (2006). Camino: Open-Source Diffusion-MRI Reconstruction and Processing. *Proceedings of the International Society for Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 14, 2759.
- Corbetta, M., & Shulman, G. L. (2002). Control of goal-directed and stimulus-driven attention in the brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *3*(3), 201-215. doi: 10.1038/nrn755
- Curran, C. A., Ponsford, J. L., & Crowe, S. (2000). Coping strategies and emotional outcome following traumatic brain injury: a comparison with orthopedic patients. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 15(6), 1256-1274.
- Davceva, N., Janevska, V., Ilievski, B., Petrushevska, G., & Popeska, Z. (2012). The occurrence of acute subdural haematoma and diffuse axonal injury as two typical

acceleration injuries. *J Forensic Leg Med*, *19*(8), 480-484. doi: 10.1016/j.jflm.2012.04.022

- Dawson, D. R., Cantanzaro, A. M., Firestone, J., Schwartz, M., & Stuss, D. T. (2006). Changes in coping style following traumatic brain injury and their relationship to productivity status. *Brain & Cognition*, 60(2), 214-216.
- de Oliveira Thais, M. E., Cavallazzi, G., Formolo, D. A., de Castro, L. D., Schmoeller, R., Guarnieri, R., . . . Walz, R. (2014). Limited predictive power of hospitalization variables for long-term cognitive prognosis in adult patients with severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neuropsychol*, 8(1), 125-139. doi: 10.1111/jnp.12000
- Delis, D. C., Kaplan, E., & Kramer, J. (2001). *Delis Kaplan Executive Function System*: San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- DeLuca, J., Genova, H. M., Hillary, F. G., & Wylie, G. (2008). Neural correlates of cognitive fatigue in multiple sclerosis using functional MRI. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 270(1-2), 28-39. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2008.01.018
- Dikmen, S. S., Corrigan, J. D., Levin, H. S., Machamer, J., Stiers, W., & Weisskopf, M.
 G. (2009). Cognitive outcome following traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 24(6), 430-438. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181c133e9
- Dosenbach, N. U., Fair, D. A., Cohen, A. L., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2008). A dual-networks architecture of top-down control. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 12(3), 99-105. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2008.01.001
- Dosenbach, N. U., Fair, D. A., Miezin, F. M., Cohen, A. L., Wenger, K. K., Dosenbach, R. A., . . . Petersen, S. E. (2007). Distinct brain networks for adaptive and stable task control in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104*(26), 11073-11078. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0704320104
- Dosenbach, N. U., Visscher, K. M., Palmer, E. D., Miezin, F. M., Wenger, K. K., Kang, H. C., . . . Petersen, S. E. (2006). A core system for the implementation of task sets. *Neuron*, 50(5), 799-812. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.04.031
- Draper, K., & Ponsford, J. (2008). Cognitive functioning ten years following traumatic brain injury and rehabilitation. *Neuropsychology*, 22(5), 618-625. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.22.5.618

- Draper, K., & Ponsford, J. (2009). Long-term outcome following traumatic brain injury: a comparison of subjective reports by those injured and their relatives. *Neuropsychol Rehabil*, 19(5), 645-661. doi: 10.1080/17405620802613935
- Draper, K., Ponsford, J., & Schonberger, M. (2007). Psychosocial and emotional outcomes 10 years following traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 22(5), 278-287. doi: 10.1097/01.HTR.0000290972.63753.a7
- Duhaime, A. C., Gean, A. D., Haacke, E. M., Hicks, R., Wintermark, M., Mukherjee, P.,
 ... Common Data Elements Neuroimaging Working Group Members, P. W. G.
 M. (2010). Common data elements in radiologic imaging of traumatic brain injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *91*(11), 1661-1666. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2010.07.238
- Edlow, B. L., & Wu, O. (2012). Advanced neuroimaging in traumatic brain injury. *Seminars in Neurology, 32*(4), 374-400. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1331810
- Edwards, B. G., Barch, D. M., & Braver, T. S. (2010). Improving prefrontal cortex function in schizophrenia through focused training of cognitive control. *Front Hum Neurosci, 4*, 32. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2010.00032
- Egeland, J., & Kovalik-Gran, I. (2010). Measuring several aspects of attention in one test: the factor structure of conners's continuous performance test. *J Atten Disord*, *13*(4), 339-346. doi: 10.1177/1087054708323019
- Eikenes, L., Lohaugen, G. C., Brubakk, A. M., Skranes, J., & Haberg, A. K. (2011). Young adults born preterm with very low birth weight demonstrate widespread white matter alterations on brain DTI. *NeuroImage*, 54(3), 1774-1785. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.10.037
- Eikenes, L., Martinussen, M. P., Lund, L. K., Lohaugen, G. C., Indredavik, M. S., Jacobsen, G. W., . . . Haberg, A. K. (2012). Being born small for gestational age reduces white matter integrity in adulthood: a prospective cohort study. *Pediatric Research*, 72(6), 649-654. doi: 10.1038/pr.2012.129
- Fales, C. L., Barch, D. M., Burgess, G. C., Schaefer, A., Mennin, D. S., Gray, J. R., & Braver, T. S. (2008). Anxiety and cognitive efficiency: differential modulation of transient and sustained neural activity during a working memory task. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci, 8*(3), 239-253.

- Finnanger, T. G., Skandsen, T., Andersson, S., Lydersen, S., Vik, A., & Indredavik, M. (2013). Differentiated patterns of cognitive impairment 12 months after severe and moderate traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj*, 27(13-14), 1606-1616. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2013.831127
- Fish, J., Manly, T., Emslie, H., Evans, J. J., & Wilson, B. A. (2008). Compensatory strategies for acquired disorders of memory and planning: differential effects of a paging system for patients with brain injury of traumatic versus cerebrovascular aetiology. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 79*(8), 930-935. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2007.125203
- Frey, K. L., Rojas, D. C., Anderson, C. A., & Arciniegas, D. B. (2007). Comparison of the O-Log and GOAT as measures of posttraumatic amnesia. *Brain Inj*, 21(5), 513-520. doi: 10.1080/02699050701311026
- Garcia-Molina, A., Tormos, J. M., Bernabeu, M., Junque, C., & Roig-Rovira, T. (2012).
 Do traditional executive measures tell us anything about daily-life functioning after traumatic brain injury in Spanish-speaking individuals? *Brain Inj, 26*(6), 864-874. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2012.655362
- Ghajar, J. (2000). Traumatic brain injury. *Lancet*, *356*(9233), 923-929. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02689-1
- Giacino, J. T., Fins, J. J., Laureys, S., & Schiff, N. D. (2014). Disorders of consciousness after acquired brain injury: the state of the science. *Nat Rev Neurol*, *10*(2), 99-114. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2013.279
- Gioia, G. A., & Isquith, P. K. (2004). Ecological assessment of executive function in traumatic brain injury. *Dev Neuropsychol*, 25(1-2), 135-158. doi: 10.1080/87565641.2004.9651925
- Grinband, J., Savitskaya, J., Wager, T. D., Teichert, T., Ferrera, V. P., & Hirsch, J. (2011). The dorsal medial frontal cortex is sensitive to time on task, not response conflict or error likelihood. *NeuroImage*, 57(2), 303-311. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.12.027
- Haacke, E. M., Duhaime, A. C., Gean, A. D., Riedy, G., Wintermark, M., Mukherjee, P.,
 . . . Smith, D. H. (2010). Common data elements in radiologic imaging of traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, *32*(3), 516-543. doi: 10.1002/jmri.22259

- Hicks, R., Giacino, J., Harrison-Felix, C., Manley, G., Valadka, A., & Wilde, E. A.
 (2013). Progress in developing common data elements for traumatic brain injury research: version two--the end of the beginning. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 30(22), 1852-1861. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.2938
- Hillary, F. G. (2011). Determining the nature of prefrontal cortex recruitment after traumatic brain injury: a response to Turner. *Front Syst Neurosci*, 5(24), 24. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2011.00024
- Hillary, F. G., & Biswal, B. (2007). The influence of neuropathology on the FMRI signal: a measurement of brain or vein? *Clin Neuropsychol*, 21(1), 58-72. doi: 10.1080/13854040601064542
- Hillary, F. G., Chiaravalloti, N. D., Ricker, J. H., Steffener, J., Bly, B. M., Lange, G., . . . DeLuca, J. (2003). An investigation of working memory rehearsal in multiple sclerosis using fMRI. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 25(7), 965-978. doi: 10.1076/jcen.25.7.965.16490
- Hillary, F. G., Genova, H. M., Chiaravalloti, N. D., Rypma, B., & DeLuca, J. (2006).
 Prefrontal modulation of working memory performance in brain injury and disease. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 27(11), 837-847. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20226
- Hillary, F. G., Medaglia, J. D., Gates, K., Molenaar, P. C., Slocomb, J., Peechatka, A., & Good, D. C. (2011). Examining working memory task acquisition in a disrupted neural network. *Brain*, 134(Pt 5), 1555-1570. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr043
- Hillier, S. L., Hiller, J. E., & Metzer, J. (1997). Epidemiology of traumatic brain injury in South Australia. *Brain Inj*, 11(9), 649-659.
- Holland, D., Kuperman, J. M., & Dale, A. M. (2010). Efficient correction of inhomogeneous static magnetic field-induced distortion in Echo Planar Imaging. *NeuroImage*, 50(1), 175-183. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.11.044
- Hulkower, M. B., Poliak, D. B., Rosenbaum, S. B., Zimmerman, M. E., & Lipton, M. L.
 (2013). A decade of DTI in traumatic brain injury: 10 years and 100 articles later. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 34*(11), 2064-2074. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A3395
- Inglese, M., Makani, S., Johnson, G., Cohen, B. A., Silver, J. A., Gonen, O., & Grossman, R. I. (2005). Diffuse axonal injury in mild traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *J Neurosurg.*, 103(2), 298-303.

- Isquith, P. K., Roth, R. M., & Gioia, G. (2013). Contribution of rating scales to the assessment of executive functions. *Appl Neuropsychol Child*, 2(2), 125-132. doi: 10.1080/21622965.2013.748389
- Jennett, B., & Bond, M. (1975). Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. *Lancet*, 1(7905), 480-484.
- Johansen-Berg, H. (2010). Behavioural relevance of variation in white matter microstructure. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, *23*(4), 351-358. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0b013e32833b7631
- Jones, D. K., & Cercignani, M. (2010). Twenty-five pitfalls in the analysis of diffusion MRI data. *NMR in Biomedicine*, *23*(7), 803-820. doi: 10.1002/nbm.1543
- Jorge, R. E., Acion, L., Starkstein, S. E., & Magnotta, V. (2007). Hippocampal volume and mood disorders after traumatic brain injury. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(4), 332-338. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.07.024
- Jorge, R. E., Robinson, R. G., Moser, D., Tateno, A., Crespo-Facorro, B., & Arndt, S. (2004). Major depression following traumatic brain injury. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 61(1), 42-50. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.61.1.42
- Jorge, R. E., & Starkstein, S. E. (2005). Pathophysiologic aspects of major depression following traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 20*(6), 475-487.
- Kabadi, S. V., & Faden, A. I. (2014). Neuroprotective strategies for traumatic brain injury: improving clinical translation. *Int J Mol Sci*, 15(1), 1216-1236. doi: 10.3390/ijms15011216
- Kanaan, R. A., Allin, M., Picchioni, M., Barker, G. J., Daly, E., Shergill, S. S., . . . McGuire, P. K. (2012). Gender differences in white matter microstructure. *PLoS ONE*, 7(6), e38272. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0038272
- Kim, C., Johnson, N. F., Cilles, S. E., & Gold, B. T. (2011). Common and distinct mechanisms of cognitive flexibility in prefrontal cortex. *J Neurosci*, 31(13), 4771-4779. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5923-10.2011
- Kinnunen, K. M., Greenwood, R., Powell, J. H., Leech, R., Hawkins, P. C., Bonnelle, V.,
 . . . Sharp, D. J. (2011). White matter damage and cognitive impairment after traumatic brain injury. *Brain*, *134*(Pt 2), 449-463. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq347

- Kinoshita, T., Moritani, T., Hiwatashi, A., Wang, H. Z., Shrier, D. A., Numaguchi, Y., & Westesson, P. L. (2005). Conspicuity of diffuse axonal injury lesions on diffusion-weighted MR imaging. *European Journal of Radiology*, 56(1), 5-11. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2005.04.001
- Koechlin, E., Ody, C., & Kouneiher, F. (2003). The architecture of cognitive control in the human prefrontal cortex. *Science*, 302(5648), 1181-1185. doi: 10.1126/science.1088545
- Koechlin, E., & Summerfield, C. (2007). An information theoretical approach to prefrontal executive function. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 11(6), 229-235. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2007.04.005
- Kohl, A. D., Wylie, G. R., Genova, H. M., Hillary, F. G., & Deluca, J. (2009). The neural correlates of cognitive fatigue in traumatic brain injury using functional MRI. *Brain Inj*, 23(5), 420-432. doi: 10.1080/02699050902788519
- Kraus, M. F., Susmaras, T., Caughlin, B. P., Walker, C. J., Sweeney, J. A., & Little, D. M. (2007). White matter integrity and cognition in chronic traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Brain*, 130(Pt 10), 2508-2519. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm216
- Krpan, K. M., Levine, B., Stuss, D. T., & Dawson, D. R. (2007). Executive function and coping at one-year post traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 29(1), 36-46. doi: 10.1080/13803390500376816
- Krpan, K. M., Stuss, D. T., & Anderson, N. D. (2011a). Coping behaviour following traumatic brain injury: what makes a planner plan and an avoider avoid? *Brain Inj*, 25(10), 989-996. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2011.597045
- Krpan, K. M., Stuss, D. T., & Anderson, N. D. (2011b). Planful versus avoidant coping: behavior of individuals with moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury during a psychosocial stress test. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 17(2), 248-255. doi: 10.1017/S1355617710001499
- Kumar, R., Husain, M., Gupta, R. K., Hasan, K. M., Haris, M., Agarwal, A. K., . . .
 Narayana, P. A. (2009). Serial changes in the white matter diffusion tensor imaging metrics in moderate traumatic brain injury and correlation with neuro-cognitive function. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 26(4), 481-495. doi: 10.1089/neu.2008.0461

- Kurki, T. J., Laalo, J. P., & Oksaranta, O. M. (2013). Diffusion tensor tractography of the uncinate fasciculus: pitfalls in quantitative analysis due to traumatic volume changes. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 38(1), 46-53. doi: 10.1002/jmri.23901
- Lafrenaye, A. D., McGinn, M. J., & Povlishock, J. T. (2012). Increased intracranial pressure after diffuse traumatic brain injury exacerbates neuronal somatic membrane poration but not axonal injury: evidence for primary intracranial pressure-induced neuronal perturbation. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 32*(10), 1919-1932. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2012.95
- Langlois, J. A., Rutland-Brown, W., & Wald, M. M. (2006). The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: a brief overview. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 21(5), 375-378.
- Langner, R., Steinborn, M. B., Chatterjee, A., Sturm, W., & Willmes, K. (2010). Mental fatigue and temporal preparation in simple reaction-time performance. *Acta Psychol (Amst)*, 133(1), 64-72. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2009.10.001
- Lannoo, E., Colardyn, F., Vandekerckhove, T., De Deyne, C., De Soete, G., & Jannes, C. (1998). Subjective complaints versus neuropsychological test performance after moderate to severe head injury. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*, 140(3), 245-253.
- Lazar, M. (2010). Mapping brain anatomical connectivity using white matter tractography. *NMR in Biomedicine*, *23*(7), 821-835. doi: 10.1002/nbm.1579
- Le Bihan, D., Mangin, J. F., Poupon, C., Clark, C. A., Pappata, S., Molko, N., & Chabriat, H. (2001). Diffusion tensor imaging: concepts and applications *J Magn Reson Imaging*, *13*(4), 534-546.
- Leunissen, I., Coxon, J. P., Caeyenberghs, K., Michiels, K., Sunaert, S., & Swinnen, S. P. (2014). Task switching in traumatic brain injury relates to cortico-subcortical integrity. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 35(5), 2459-2469. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22341
- Levine, B., Schweizer, T. A., O'Connor, C., Turner, G., Gillingham, S., Stuss, D. T., . . . Robertson, I. H. (2011). Rehabilitation of executive functioning in patients with frontal lobe brain damage with goal management training. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 5, 9. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2011.00009

- Li, J., Li, X. Y., Feng, D. F., & Gu, L. (2011). Quantitative evaluation of microscopic injury with diffusion tensor imaging in a rat model of diffuse axonal injury. *Eur J Neurosci*, 33(5), 933-945. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07573.x
- Li, S., Sun, Y., Shan, D., Feng, B., Xing, J., Duan, Y., . . . Zhou, Y. (2013). Temporal profiles of axonal injury following impact acceleration traumatic brain injury in rats--a comparative study with diffusion tensor imaging and morphological analysis. *International Journal of Legal Medicine*, 127(1), 159-167. doi: 10.1007/s00414-012-0712-8
- Lieberman, M. D., & Cunningham, W. A. (2009). Type I and Type II error concerns in fMRI research: re-balancing the scale. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci, 4(4), 423-428. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsp052
- Ling, J., Merideth, F., Caprihan, A., Pena, A., Teshiba, T., & Mayer, A. R. (2012). Head injury or head motion? Assessment and quantification of motion artifacts in diffusion tensor imaging studies. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 33(1), 50-62. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21192
- Lingsma, H. F., Roozenbeek, B., Steyerberg, E. W., Murray, G. D., & Maas, A. I. (2010). Early prognosis in traumatic brain injury: from prophecies to predictions. *Lancet Neurol*, 9(5), 543-554. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70065-X
- Little, D. M., Kraus, M. F., Joseph, J., Geary, E. K., Susmaras, T., Zhou, X. J., . . . Gorelick, P. B. (2010). Thalamic integrity underlies executive dysfunction in traumatic brain injury. *Neurology*, 74(7), 558-564. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181cff5d5
- Lohaugen, G. C., Gramstad, A., Evensen, K. A., Martinussen, M., Lindqvist, S., Indredavik, M., . . . Skranes, J. (2010). Cognitive profile in young adults born preterm at very low birthweight. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 52(12), 1133-1138. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2010.03743.x
- Lovstad, M., Funderud, I., Endestad, T., Due-Tonnessen, P., Meling, T. R., Lindgren, M., . . . Solbakk, A. K. (2012). Executive functions after orbital or lateral prefrontal lesions: neuropsychological profiles and self-reported executive functions in everyday living. *Brain Inj, 26*(13-14), 1586-1598. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2012.698787

- Lund, L. K., Vik, T., Lydersen, S., Lohaugen, G. C., Skranes, J., Brubakk, A. M., & Indredavik, M. S. (2012). Mental health, quality of life and social relations in young adults born with low birth weight. *Health Qual Life Outcomes, 10*, 146. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-10-146
- Maas, A. I., Harrison-Felix, C. L., Menon, D., Adelson, P. D., Balkin, T., Bullock, R., . .
 Schwab, K. (2011). Standardizing data collection in traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 28(2), 177-187. doi: 10.1089/neu.2010.1617
- Maas, A. I., Hukkelhoven, C. W., Marshall, L. F., & Steyerberg, E. W. (2005). Prediction of outcome in traumatic brain injury with computed tomographic characteristics: a comparison between the computed tomographic classification and combinations of computed tomographic predictors. *Neurosurgery*, 57(6), 1173-1182; discussion 1173-1182.
- Maas, A. I., Stocchetti, N., & Bullock, R. (2008). Moderate and severe traumatic brain injury in adults. *Lancet Neurol*, 7(8), 728-741. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70164-9
- Maller, J. J., Thomson, R. H., Lewis, P. M., Rose, S. E., Pannek, K., & Fitzgerald, P. B. (2010). Traumatic brain injury, major depression, and diffusion tensor imaging: making connections. *Brain Res Rev*, 64(1), 213-240. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2010.04.003
- Marmarou, A., Lu, J., Butcher, I., McHugh, G. S., Murray, G. D., Steyerberg, E. W., ...
 Maas, A. I. (2007). Prognostic value of the Glasgow Coma Scale and pupil reactivity in traumatic brain injury assessed pre-hospital and on enrollment: an IMPACT analysis. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 24(2), 270-280. doi: 10.1089/neu.2006.0029
- Marshall, L. F., Marshall, S. B., Klauber, M. R., Clark, M. B., Eisenberg, H. M., Jane, J. A., . . . Foulkes, M. A. (1991). A new classification of head injury based on computerized tomography. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 75(Suppl. November), S14-S20.
- Marshman, L. A., Jakabek, D., Hennessy, M., Quirk, F., & Guazzo, E. P. (2013). Posttraumatic amnesia. *J Clin Neurosci, 20*(11), 1475-1481. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2012.11.022

- Maruishi, M., Miyatani, M., Nakao, T., & Muranaka, H. (2007). Compensatory cortical activation during performance of an attention task by patients with diffuse axonal injury: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 78*(2), 168-173. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2006.097345
- McHugh, G. S., Engel, D. C., Butcher, I., Steyerberg, E. W., Lu, J., Mushkudiani, N., . .
 Murray, G. D. (2007). Prognostic value of secondary insults in traumatic brain injury: results from the IMPACT study. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 24(2), 287-293. doi: 10.1089/neu.2006.0031
- Menon, D. K., Schwab, K., Wright, D. W., Maas, A. I., Demographics, Clinical Assessment Working Group of the, I., . . . Psychological, H. (2010). Position statement: definition of traumatic brain injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 91(11), 1637-1640. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2010.05.017
- Miyake, A., & Friedman, N. P. (2012). The Nature and Organization of Individual Differences in Executive Functions: Four General Conclusions. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci, 21*(1), 8-14. doi: 10.1177/0963721411429458
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "Frontal Lobe" tasks: a latent variable analysis. *Cogn Psychol*, 41(1), 49-100. doi: 10.1006/cogp.1999.0734
- Moen, K. G., Skandsen, T., Folvik, M., Brezova, V., Kvistad, K. A., Rydland, J., . . . Vik,
 A. (2012). A longitudinal MRI study of traumatic axonal injury in patients with
 moderate and severe traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 83(12), 1193-1200. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-302644
- Morris, G. F., Juul, N., Marshall, S. B., Benedict, B., & Marshall, L. F. (1998).
 Neurological deterioration as a potential alternative endpoint in human clinical trials of experimental pharmacological agents for treatment of severe traumatic brain injuries. Executive Committee of the International Selfotel Trial. *Neurosurgery*, 43(6), 1369-1372; discussion 1372-1364.
- Nakase-Thompson, R., Sherer, M., Yablon, S. A., Nick, T. G., & Trzepacz, P. T. (2004). Acute confusion following traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj*, 18(2), 131-142. doi: 10.1080/0269905031000149542

- Newcombe, V., Chatfield, D., Outtrim, J., Vowler, S., Manktelow, A., Cross, J., . . . Menon, D. (2011). Mapping traumatic axonal injury using diffusion tensor imaging: correlations with functional outcome. *PLoS ONE*, 6(5), e19214. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019214
- Newsome, M. R., Scheibel, R. S., Chu, Z., Hunter, J. V., Li, X., Wilde, E. A., . . . Levin, H. S. (2012). The relationship of resting cerebral blood flow and brain activation during a social cognition task in adolescents with chronic moderate to severe traumatic brain injury: a preliminary investigation. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 30(3), 255-266. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2011.10.008
- Newsome, M. R., Scheibel, R. S., Seignourel, P. J., Steinberg, J. L., Troyanskaya, M., Li, X., & Levin, H. S. (2009). Effects of methylphenidate on working memory in traumatic brain injury: a preliminary FMRI investigation. *Brain Imaging & Behavior*, 3(3), 298-305. doi: 10.1007/s11682-009-9072-5
- Newsome, M. R., Scheibel, R. S., Steinberg, J. L., Troyanskaya, M., Sharma, R. G., Rauch, R. A., . . . Levin, H. S. (2007). Working memory brain activation following severe traumatic brain injury. *Cortex*, 43(1), 95-111. doi: 10.1016/S0010-9452%2808%2970448-9
- Niogi, S. N., Mukherjee, P., Ghajar, J., Johnson, C. E., Kolster, R., Lee, H., . . . McCandliss, B. D. (2008). Structural dissociation of attentional control and memory in adults with and without mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain*, 131(Pt 12), 3209-3221. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn247
- Nordvik, J. E., Walle, K. M., Nyberg, C. K., Fjell, A. M., Walhovd, K. B., Westlye, L. T., & Tornas, S. (2014). Bridging the gap between clinical neuroscience and cognitive rehabilitation: the role of cognitive training, models of neuroplasticity and advanced neuroimaging in future brain injury rehabilitation. *NeuroRehabilitation*, 34(1), 81-85. doi: 10.3233/NRE-131017
- Ogg, R. J., Zou, P., Allen, D. N., Hutchins, S. B., Dutkiewicz, R. M., & Mulhern, R. K. (2008). Neural correlates of a clinical continuous performance test. *Magn Reson Imaging*, 26(4), 504-512. doi: 10.1016/j.mri.2007.09.004
- Orlovska, S., Pedersen, M. S., Benros, M. E., Mortensen, P. B., Agerbo, E., & Nordentoft, M. (2014). Head injury as risk factor for psychiatric disorders: a

nationwide register-based follow-up study of 113,906 persons with head injury. *Am J Psychiatry*, *171*(4), 463-469. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13020190

- Palmer, H. S., Garzon, B., Xu, J., Berntsen, E. M., Skandsen, T., & Haberg, A. K. (2010). Reduced fractional anisotropy does not change the shape of the hemodynamic response in survivors of severe traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 27(5), 853-862. doi: 10.1089/neu.2009.1225
- Paxton, J. L., Barch, D. M., Racine, C. A., & Braver, T. S. (2008). Cognitive control, goal maintenance, and prefrontal function in healthy aging. *Cereb Cortex*, 18(5), 1010-1028. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhm135
- Perez, A. M., Adler, J., Kulkarni, N., Strain, J. F., Womack, K. B., Diaz-Arrastia, R., & Marquez de la Plata, C. D. (2014). Longitudinal white matter changes after traumatic axonal injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 31(17), 1478-1485. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3216
- Petersen, S. E., & Dubis, J. W. (2012). The mixed block/event-related design. *NeuroImage*, *62*(2), 1177-1184. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.09.084
- Petersen, S. E., & Posner, M. I. (2012). The attention system of the human brain: 20 years after. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 35, 73-89. doi: 10.1146/annurevneuro-062111-150525
- Ponsford, J. L., Ziino, C., Parcell, D. L., Shekleton, J. A., Roper, M., Redman, J. R., ...
 Rajaratnam, S. M. (2012). Fatigue and sleep disturbance following traumatic
 brain injury--their nature, causes, and potential treatments. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 27(3), 224-233. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e31824ee1a8
- Posner, M. I., & Petersen, S. E. (1990). The attention system of the human brain. *Annual Review of Neuroscience, 13*, 25-42. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ne.13.030190.000325
- Power, J. D., & Petersen, S. E. (2013). Control-related systems in the human brain. *Curr* Opin Neurobiol, 23(2), 223-228. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2012.12.009
- Price, C. J., Crinion, J., & Friston, K. J. (2006). Design and analysis of fMRI studies with neurologically impaired patients. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 23(6), 816-826. doi: 10.1002/jmri.20580
- Rabi, S., Madhavi, C., Antonisamy, B., & Koshi, R. (2007). Quantitative analysis of the human corpus callosum under light microscopy. *Eur. J. Anat.*, 11, 95-100.

- Rabin, L. A., Barr, W. B., & Burton, L. A. (2005). Assessment practices of clinical neuropsychologists in the United States and Canada: a survey of INS, NAN, and APA Division 40 members. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 20(1), 33-65. doi: 10.1016/j.acn.2004.02.005
- Rabinowitz, A. R., & Levin, H. S. (2014). Cognitive sequelae of traumatic brain injury. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, *37*(1), 1-11. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2013.11.004
- Raja Beharelle, A., Tisserand, D., Stuss, D. T., McIntosh, A. R., & Levine, B. (2011).
 Brain activity patterns uniquely supporting visual feature integration after traumatic brain injury. *Front Hum Neurosci*, *5*, 164. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2011.00164
- Rao, V., Mielke, M., Xu, X., Smith, G. S., McCann, U. D., Bergey, A., . . . Mori, S. (2012). Diffusion tensor imaging atlas-based analyses in major depression after mild traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 24(3), 309-315. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.11080188
- Rasmussen, I. A., Xu, J., Antonsen, I. K., Brunner, J., Skandsen, T., Axelson, D. E., . . . Haberg, A. (2008). Simple dual tasking recruits prefrontal cortices in chronic severe traumatic brain injury patients, but not in controls. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 25(9), 1057-1070. doi: 10.1089/neu.2008.0520
- Riccio, C. A., Reynolds, C. R., Lowe, P., & Moore, J. J. (2002). The continuous performance test: a window on the neural substrates for attention? *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 17(3), 235-272.
- Richards, D. (2011). Prevalence and clinical course of depression: a review. *Clin Psychol Rev*, *31*(7), 1117-1125. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2011.07.004
- Rogers, J. M., & Read, C. A. (2007). Psychiatric comorbidity following traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj*, *21*(13-14), 1321-1333. doi: 10.1080/02699050701765700
- Rosenfeld, J. V., McFarlane, A. C., Bragge, P., Armonda, R. A., Grimes, J. B., & Ling, G.
 S. (2013). Blast-related traumatic brain injury. *Lancet Neurol*, *12*(9), 882-893.
 doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70161-3
- Roth, R., Isquith P, Gioia, G. (2005). *Behavior Raing Inventory of Executive Function-Adult Version*. Lutz, FL: PAR.
- Sanchez-Carrion, R., Fernandez-Espejo, D., Junque, C., Falcon, C., Bargallo, N., Roig, T., . . . Vendrell, P. (2008). A longitudinal fMRI study of working memory in

severe TBI patients with diffuse axonal injury. *NeuroImage*, *43*(3), 421-429. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.08.003

- Sanchez-Carrion, R., Gomez, P. V., Junque, C., Fernandez-Espejo, D., Falcon, C., Bargallo, N., . . . Bernabeu, M. (2008). Frontal hypoactivation on functional magnetic resonance imaging in working memory after severe diffuse traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 25(5), 479-494. doi: 10.1089/neu.2007.0417
- Scheibel, R. S., Newsome, M. R., Steinberg, J. L., Pearson, D. A., Rauch, R. A., Mao, H., . . . Levin, H. S. (2007). Altered brain activation during cognitive control in patients with moderate to severe traumatic brain injury. *Neurorehabilitation & Neural Repair*, 21(1), 36-45. doi: 10.1177/1545968306294730
- Scheibel, R. S., Newsome, M. R., Troyanskaya, M., Steinberg, J. L., Goldstein, F. C., Mao, H., & Levin, H. S. (2009). Effects of severity of traumatic brain injury and brain reserve on cognitive-control related brain activation. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 26(9), 1447-1461. doi: 10.1089/neu.2008.0736
- Senathi-Raja, D., Ponsford, J., & Schonberger, M. (2010a). The association of age and time postinjury with long-term emotional outcome following traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 25(5), 330-338. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181ccc893
- Senathi-Raja, D., Ponsford, J., & Schonberger, M. (2010b). Impact of age on long-term cognitive function after traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology*, 24(3), 336-344. doi: 10.1037/a0018239
- Shenton, M. E., Hamoda, H. M., Schneiderman, J. S., Bouix, S., Pasternak, O., Rathi, Y., ... Zafonte, R. (2012). A review of magnetic resonance imaging and diffusion tensor imaging findings in mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Imaging Behav*, 6(2), 137-192. doi: 10.1007/s11682-012-9156-5
- Sidaros, A., Engberg, A. W., Sidaros, K., Liptrot, M. G., Herning, M., Petersen, P., . . . Rostrup, E. (2008). Diffusion tensor imaging during recovery from severe traumatic brain injury and relation to clinical outcome: a longitudinal study. *Brain, 131*(Pt 2), 559-572. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm294

- Sigurdardottir, S., Andelic, N., Roe, C., & Schanke, A. K. (2009). Cognitive recovery and predictors of functional outcome 1 year after traumatic brain injury. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 15(5), 740-750. doi: 10.1017/S1355617709990452
- Skandsen, T., Finnanger, T. G., Andersson, S., Lydersen, S., Brunner, J. F., & Vik, A. (2010). Cognitive impairment 3 months after moderate and severe traumatic brain injury: a prospective follow-up study. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 91(12), 1904-1913. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2010.08.021
- Skandsen, T., Kvistad, K. A., Solheim, O., Lydersen, S., Strand, I. H., & Vik, A. (2011). Prognostic value of magnetic resonance imaging in moderate and severe head injury: a prospective study of early MRI findings and one-year outcome. *Journal* of Neurotrauma, 28(5), 691-699. doi: 10.1089/neu.2010.1590
- Skandsen, T., Kvistad, K. A., Solheim, O., Strand, I. H., Folvik, M., & Vik, A. (2010). Prevalence and impact of diffuse axonal injury in patients with moderate and severe head injury: a cohort study of early magnetic resonance imaging findings and 1-year outcome. *J Neurosurg*, 113(3), 556-563. doi: 10.3171/2009.9.JNS09626
- Skranes, J., Lohaugen, G. C., Martinussen, M., Indredavik, M. S., Dale, A. M., Haraldseth, O., . . . Brubakk, A. M. (2009). White matter abnormalities and executive function in children with very low birth weight. *NeuroReport*, 20(3), 263-266.
- Smith, M. (2008). Monitoring intracranial pressure in traumatic brain injury. *Anesth Analg, 106*(1), 240-248. doi: 10.1213/01.ane.0000297296.52006.8e
- Smith, S. M., Jenkinson, M., Johansen-Berg, H., Rueckert, D., Nichols, T. E., Mackay, C. E., . . . Behrens, T. E. (2006). Tract-based spatial statistics: voxelwise analysis of multi-subject diffusion data. *NeuroImage*, 31(4), 1487-1505. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.02.024
- Smith-Bindman, R., Lipson, J., Marcus, R., Kim, K. P., Mahesh, M., Gould, R., . . . Miglioretti, D. L. (2009). Radiation dose associated with common computed tomography examinations and the associated lifetime attributable risk of cancer. *Arch Intern Med*, 169(22), 2078-2086. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2009.427
- Soeda, A., Nakashima, T., Okumura, A., Kuwata, K., Shinoda, J., & Iwama, T. (2005). Cognitive impairment after traumatic brain injury: a functional magnetic

resonance imaging study using the Stroop task. *Neuroradiology*, *47*(7), 501-506. doi: 10.1007/s00234-005-1372-x

- Song, S. K., Sun, S. W., Ju, W. K., Lin, S. J., Cross, A. H., & Neufeld, A. H. (2003). Diffusion tensor imaging detects and differentiates axon and myelin degeneration in mouse optic nerve after retinal ischemia. *NeuroImage*, 20(3), 1714-1722.
- Sozda, C. N., Larson, M. J., Kaufman, D. A., Schmalfuss, I. M., & Perlstein, W. M. (2011). Error-related processing following severe traumatic brain injury: an eventrelated functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study. *Int J Psychophysiol*, 82(1), 97-106. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2011.06.019
- Spijker, J., de Graaf, R., Bijl, R. V., Beekman, A. T., Ormel, J., & Nolen, W. A. (2002). Duration of major depressive episodes in the general population: results from The Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study (NEMESIS). *British Journal of Psychiatry, 181*, 208-213.
- Spitz, G., Maller, J. J., Ng, A., O'Sullivan, R., Ferris, N. J., & Ponsford, J. L. (2013).
 Detecting lesions after traumatic brain injury using susceptibility weighted imaging: a comparison with fluid-attenuated inversion recovery and correlation with clinical outcome. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 30(24), 2038-2050. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3021
- Spitz, G., Maller, J. J., O'Sullivan, R., & Ponsford, J. L. (2013). White matter integrity following traumatic brain injury: the association with severity of injury and cognitive functioning. *Brain Topogr*, 26(4), 648-660. doi: 10.1007/s10548-013-0283-0
- Spitz, G., Ponsford, J. L., Rudzki, D., & Maller, J. J. (2012). Association between cognitive performance and functional outcome following traumatic brain injury: a longitudinal multilevel examination. *Neuropsychology*, 26(5), 604-612. doi: 10.1037/a0029239
- Spitz, G., Schonberger, M., & Ponsford, J. (2013). The relations among cognitive impairment, coping style, and emotional adjustment following traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 28(2), 116-125. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3182452f4f
- Stein, S. C., & Spettell, C. (1995). The Head Injury Severity Scale (HISS): a practical classification of closed-head injury. *Brain Inj*, 9(5), 437-444.

- Stocchetti, N., Pagan, F., Calappi, E., Canavesi, K., Beretta, L., Citerio, G., . . . Colombo,
 A. (2004). Inaccurate early assessment of neurological severity in head injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 21(9), 1131-1140. doi: 10.1089/neu.2004.21.1131
- Stuss, D. T., Binns, M. A., Carruth, F. G., Levine, B., Brandys, C. E., Moulton, R. J., . . . Schwartz, M. L. (1999). The acute period of recovery from traumatic brain injury: posttraumatic amnesia or posttraumatic confusional state? *J Neurosurg*, 90(4), 635-643.
- Szczepankiewicz, F., Latt, J., Wirestam, R., Leemans, A., Sundgren, P., van Westen, D., . . Nilsson, M. (2013). Variability in diffusion kurtosis imaging: impact on study design, statistical power and interpretation. *NeuroImage*, 76, 145-154. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.078
- Tagliaferri, F., Compagnone, C., Korsic, M., Servadei, F., & Kraus, J. (2006). A systematic review of brain injury epidemiology in Europe. Acta Neurochir (Wien), 148(3), 255-268; discussion 268. doi: 10.1007/s00701-005-0651-y
- Teasdale, G., & Jennett, B. (1974). Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness. A practical scale. *Lancet*, 2(7872), 81-84.
- Teasdale, G. M., Pettigrew, L. E., Wilson, J. T., Murray, G., & Jennett, B. (1998). Analyzing outcome of treatment of severe head injury: a review and update on advancing the use of the Glasgow Outcome Scale. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 15(8), 587-597.
- Toplak, M. E., West, R. F., & Stanovich, K. E. (2013). Practitioner review: do performance-based measures and ratings of executive function assess the same construct? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 54(2), 131-143. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12001
- Tournier, J. D., Mori, S., & Leemans, A. (2011). Diffusion tensor imaging and beyond. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 65(6), 1532-1556. doi: 10.1002/mrm.22924
- Turner, G. R., & Levine, B. (2008). Augmented neural activity during executive control processing following diffuse axonal injury. *Neurology*, 71(11), 812-818. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000325640.18235.1c
- Turner, G. R., McIntosh, A. R., & Levine, B. (2011). Prefrontal Compensatory Engagement in TBI is due to Altered Functional Engagement Of Existing
Networks and not Functional Reorganization. *Front Syst Neurosci*, 5(9), 9. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2011.00009

- Turner, G. R., & Spreng, R. N. (2012). Executive functions and neurocognitive aging: dissociable patterns of brain activity. *Neurobiol Aging*, 33(4), 826 e821-813. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.06.005
- Turner-Stokes, L., Disler, P. B., Nair, A., & Wade, D. T. (2005). Multi-disciplinary rehabilitation for acquired brain injury in adults of working age. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(3), CD004170. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004170.pub2
- Venkatraman, V., Rosati, A. G., Taren, A. A., & Huettel, S. A. (2009). Resolving response, decision, and strategic control: evidence for a functional topography in dorsomedial prefrontal cortex. *J Neurosci, 29*(42), 13158-13164. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2708-09.2009
- Vik, A., Nag, T., Fredriksli, O. A., Skandsen, T., Moen, K. G., Schirmer-Mikalsen, K., & Manley, G. T. (2008). Relationship of "dose" of intracranial hypertension to outcome in severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosurg*, 109(4), 678-684. doi: 10.3171/JNS/2008/109/10/0678
- Visser, E., Nijhuis, E. H., Buitelaar, J. K., & Zwiers, M. P. (2011). Partition-based mass clustering of tractography streamlines. *Neuroimage*, 54(1), 303-312. doi: S1053-8119(10)01011-6 [pii] 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.07.038
- Waid-Ebbs, J. K., Wen, P. S., Heaton, S. C., Donovan, N. J., & Velozo, C. (2012). The item level psychometrics of the behaviour rating inventory of executive functionadult (BRIEF-A) in a TBI sample. Brain Inj, 26(13-14), 1646-1657. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2012.700087
- Wakana, S., Caprihan, A., Panzenboeck, M. M., Fallon, J. H., Perry, M., Gollub, R. L., . . Mori, S. (2007). Reproducibility of quantitative tractography methods applied to cerebral white matter. N*euroImage*, 36(3), 630-644. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.02.049

Warriner, E. M., & Velikonja, D. (2006). Psychiatric disturbances after traumatic brain injury: neurobehavioral and personality changes. *Curr Psychiatry Rep, 8(1), 73-80.*

Whelan-Goodinson, R., Ponsford, J., Johnston, L., & Grant, F. (2009). Psychiatric disorders following traumatic brain injury: their nature and frequency. Journal of

Head Trauma Rehabilitation, *24*(5), 324-332. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181a712aa

- Wilde, E. A., Whiteneck, G. G., Bogner, J., Bushnik, T., Cifu, D. X., Dikmen, S., . . . von Steinbuechel, N. (2010). Recommendations for the use of common outcome measures in traumatic brain injury research. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 91(11), 1650-1660 e1617. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2010.06.033
- Williams, M. W., Rapport, L. J., Hanks, R. A., Millis, S. R., & Greene, H. A. (2013). Incremental validity of neuropsychological evaluations to computed tomography in predicting long-term outcomes after traumatic brain injury. Clin Neuropsychol, 27(3), 356-375. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2013.765507
- Wilson, J. T., Pettigrew, L. E., & Teasdale, G. M. (1998). Structured interviews for the Glasgow Outcome Scale and the extended Glasgow Outcome Scale: guidelines for their use. Journal of Neurotrauma, 15(8), 573-585.
- Xu, J., Rasmussen, I. A., Lagopoulos, J., & Haberg, A. (2007). Diffuse axonal injury in severe traumatic brain injury visualized using high-resolution diffusion tensor imaging. Journal of Neurotrauma, 24(5), 753-765.

Paper I-IV

Paper I

The Functional Topography and Temporal Dynamics of Overlapping and Distinct Brain Activations for Adaptive Task Control and Stable Task-set Maintenance during Performance of an fMRI-adapted Clinical Continuous Performance Test

Alexander Olsen^{1,3}, Jan Ferenc Brunner^{1,3}, Kari Anne Indredavik Evensen^{1,4}, Benjamin Garzon¹, Nils Inge Landrø^{1,2}, and Asta Kristine Håberg^{1,3}

Abstract

Previous studies have demonstrated that stable and adaptive attention processes are mediated by partly overlapping, but distinct, brain areas. Dorsal medial PFC and anterior insula may form a "core network" for attention control, which is believed to operate on both temporal scales. However, both the existence of such a network as well as the unique functional topography for adaptive and stable attention processes is still highly debated. In this study, 87 healthy participants performed a clinical not-X continuous performance test optimized for use in a mixed block and event-related fMRI design. We observed overlapping activations related to stable and adaptive attention processes in dorsal medial PFC and anterior insula/adjacent cortex as well as in the right inferior parietal lobe and middle temporal gyrus. We also identified

INTRODUCTION

A considerable body of evidence suggests that attention is supported by widespread brain areas located in cortical (Ogg et al., 2008; Fan, McCandliss, Fossella, Flombaum, & Posner, 2005), subcortical (Balleine, Delgado, & Hikosaka, 2007; Heyder, Suchan, & Daum, 2004), and cerebellar (Ghajar & Ivry, 2009; Dosenbach et al., 2007) regions, which in turn are organized into neural networks supporting different attentional processes (Dosenbach et al., 2007; Posner & Rothbart, 2007; Raz & Buhle, 2006; Corbetta & Shulman, 2002). Some properties of attention are considered to be stable ongoing processes related to functions such as sustained attention (Ogg et al., 2008) and task-set maintenance (Altmann & Gray, 2002). Other aspects of attention are thought to be related to rapid adaptive pro-

© 2013 Massachusetts Institute of Technology

areas of activations uniquely related to stable and adaptive attention processes in widespread cortical, cerebellar, and subcortical areas. Interestingly, the functional topography within the PFC indicated a rostro-caudal distribution of adaptive, relative to stable, attention processes. There was also evidence for a time-on-task effect for activations related to stable, but not adaptive, attention processes. Our results provide further evidence for a "core network" for attention control that is accompanied by unique areas of activation involved in domain-specific processes operating on different temporal scales. In addition, our results give new insights into the functional topography of stable and adaptive attention processes and their temporal dynamics in the context of an extensively used clinical attention test. ■

cesses such as conflict processing (Desmet, Fias, Hartstra, & Brass, 2011), error processing (Mathiak et al., 2011; Nee, Kastner, & Brown, 2011), and successful response inhibition (Boehler, Appelbaum, Krebs, Hopf, & Woldorff, 2010). Stable and adaptive attention processes are subserved by partly overlapping, but distinct, brain networks (Wilk, Ezekiel, & Morton, 2012; Dosenbach, Fair, Cohen, Schlaggar, & Petersen, 2008; Dosenbach et al., 2006, 2007; Seeley et al., 2007). Overlapping regions have been suggested to include the dorsal medial PFC as well as the insula and adjacent prefrontal regions, which may form a "core network" for task control comprising both adaptive and stable processes (Dosenbach et al., 2006). These regions are among the most commonly reported brain areas in imaging studies across a wide variety of tasks (Nelson et al., 2010), further underlining their potential role as core task regions. However, whether insula and dorsal medial PFC play a substantial role for stable task maintenance is highly debated. Other studies imply that these structures are primarily involved in a salience network that works

> Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience 25:6, pp. 903–919 doi:10.1162/jocn a 00358

¹Norwegian University of Science and Technology, ²University of Oslo, ³St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, ⁴Trondheim Municipality

on a more rapid time scale (Wilk et al., 2012; Menon & Uddin, 2010; Seeley et al., 2007). Also, despite several informative studies, the functional topography of the unique adaptive task control and stable task-set maintenance activations has yet to be elucidated.

The PFC has drawn particular interest from researchers investigating the functional topography of attentional control. Accumulated evidence supports a rostro-caudal distribution of control functions within PFC (Kim, Johnson, Cilles, & Gold, 2011; Badre & D'Esposito, 2007, 2009; Venkatraman, Rosati, Taren, & Huettel, 2009; Badre, 2008; Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007; Koechlin, Ody, & Kouneiher, 2003). However, controversy exists regarding which factors govern this distribution (Badre, 2008). One distinction between two acknowledged frameworks originating from the rostro-caudal perspective is to what degree they emphasize the temporal dimension of attentional control. The cognitive demand framework states that control functions should be located more rostral within PFC as control demands are increased, that is, by increasing task complexity or abstractness (Badre & D'Esposito, 2007, 2009; Badre, 2008). Accordingly, processes with lower cognitive demands, such as those more closely related to motor responses, should be located in more caudal regions (Kim et al., 2011; Venkatraman et al., 2009). In contrast, the episodic and contextual control framework (Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007; Koechlin et al., 2003) suggests that processing relying on immediate stimuli-related cues (contextual control) should be located caudally relative to processes based on cues more distant in time that have to be maintained throughout the task (episodic control). Although these two different frameworks both originate from the rostro-caudal perspective and overlap to a certain degree on a theoretical level, they provide different predictions for specific task paradigms. Determining whether the distribution of stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control within PFC is best accommodated by the control demand or the episodic and contextual control framework may yield valuable information for delineating the functional organization of attentional control.

Another temporal aspect of attention is the effect of time-on-task (TOT). Typical TOT effects are fatigue and decrements in behavioral performance (Langner, Steinborn, Chatteriee, Sturm, & Willmes, 2010: Lim et al., 2010: Conners, Epstein, Angold, & Klaric, 2003). Self-reported levels of fatigue have been found to correlate with increased activity in typical task-positive brain regions and decreased activity in "default mode network" (DMN) or task-negative regions (Kelly, Uddin, Biswal, Castellanos, & Milham, 2008; Cook, O'Connor, Lange, & Steffener, 2007; Weissman, Roberts, Visscher, & Woldorff, 2006; Fox et al., 2005). However, other studies report both decreased and increased activations of both task-positive and tasknegative regions using different types of tasks and with or without accompanying behavioral or state changes (Lim et al., 2010; Tana, Montin, Cerutti, & Bianchi, 2010; Cook et al., 2007; Butti et al., 2006). In context of these results, it is worth mentioning that limitations of most previous studies of TOT effects are relatively few participants, the use of predefined ROIs, and liberal statistical thresholding. Also, there are currently no published studies that have investigated the effects of TOT for both stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control in the same study.

An excellent task for investigating the temporal dynamics of stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control is the continuous performance test (CPT; Riccio, Reynolds, Lowe, & Moore, 2002; Riccio & Reynolds, 2001). The main feature of CPTs is that participants are asked to detect lowfrequency target stimuli within a consecutive presentation of nontargets in a task that typically lasts for >10 min. The CPT is among the top five most frequently used test paradigms for assessment of attention in the U.S. and Canada (Rabin, Barr, & Burton, 2005). Among the most extensively used CPTs for assessment of dysfunctions of attention is the Conners' CPT (Conners et al., 2003). Conners' CPT falls within the category of CPTs, where participants are asked to respond to nontargets (letters from A-Z) and withhold their response to targets (the letter X), also commonly described as a not-X CPT (Riccio et al., 2002). Moreover, a previous proof of concept study using a block fMRI design has demonstrated that brain regions typically involved in attention function are reliably activated during this task (Ogg et al., 2008).

For this study, an in-house version of a not-X CPT, optimized for use in a mixed block and event-related fMRI design, was used to determine common and distinct brain areas related to stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control. On the basis of previous research, the existence of a core network for attentional control consisting of anterior insular and dorso-medial prefrontal brain regions was investigated. In addition, domain-specific not-X CPT activations within cortical, cerebellar, and subcortical areas uniquely related to stable and adaptive processes were mapped. Extending previous research, this study aimed to answer two novel research questions, namely (1) how areas related to stable versus adaptive task processing are organized within PFC and (2) how stable taskset maintenance and adaptive task control are affected by TOT. In detail, for research question 1, two different frameworks giving opposite predictions for our particular not-X CPT were tested. The episodic and contextual control framework (Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007; Koechlin et al., 2003) made the prediction that stable task-set maintenance (episodic control) would be located rostral, relative to adaptive task control (contextual control). Contrary to this, the cognitive demand framework (Badre & D'Esposito, 2007, 2009; Badre, 2008) predicted that stable task-set maintenance (low complexity: task set dominated by 90% simple motor responses) would be located caudal, relative to adaptive task control (higher complexity: decision making/ response inhibition). Finally, for research question 2, the prediction was that adaptive task control and stable taskset maintenance would be affected differently as an effect of TOT, something that would provide further evidence for dissociation between the proposed networks.

METHODS

Participants

One hundred three healthy participants were recruited through a cohort database from a clinical study as well as advertisements at a wide variety of workplaces in Trondheim, Norway. Volunteers were financially reimbursed with NOK 1000 for their participation. Inclusion criteria were absence of diagnosed neurological or psychiatric condition, ongoing substance abuse, previous head injury. ability to cooperate during fMRI testing, and fluency in the Norwegian language. Number of years of completed formal education was assessed using a self-report form, which was quality assured through a short interview performed by the experimenters. Of the 103 participants first enrolled, 16 were excluded from further analysis: two because of diagnosed psychiatric or neurological condition uncovered in the initial screening interview at site, one because of excessive fMRI artifacts, eight because of technical problems (missing data or aborted scans), and five because of excessive movement artifacts (defined as mean relative displacement > 0.5 mm in any direction), leaving 87 participants (34 women) ranging in age from 14.5 to 64.5 years, with a median age of 31.4 years in the final sample. The participants had between 9 and 18 years of completed formal education with a median of 12 years. All participants (and their parents if the participant was under 18 years old) gave written informed consent. The study protocol was approved by the National Ethics Committee in Norway and adhered to the Helsinki Declaration.

Design of fMRI Task

The fMRI attention task was an in-house developed variant of the not-X CPT, inspired by the Conners' CPT (Conners et al., 2003), and modified to allow for both block and event-related fMRI analysis, giving the opportunity to investigate both adaptive task control (event-related) and stable task-set maintenance (block-related). Targets were randomly chosen from all letters other than X (A-Z), whereas the nontarget was the letter X. The task was presented in two consecutive runs, each lasting ~15 min. Each run consisted of 240 stimuli with 24 (10%) of them being nontargets. Each stimulus was presented on the screen for 250 msec. The stimuli within run 1 were split into 16 blocks of different types (containing zero, one, two, or three nontarget/s). Block types were presented pseudorandomly with the constraint that no more than two consecutive blocks of the same type could be presented. Inside each block, which was composed of 15 stimuli, targets and nontargets were randomly scrambled, not allowing two consecutive nontargets to occur or nontargets to be the first stimulus of any block. The ISIs were randomly scrambled within each block (with five ISIs of 1 sec, five ISIs of 2 sec, and five ISIs of 4 sec) to ensure sampling at different time points of the hemodynamic response curve for all trial types, allowing for event-related fMRI analysis (Petersen & Dubis, 2012). ISIs preceding nontargets (X) were evenly distributed (eight of 1 sec, eight of 2 sec, and eight of 4 sec). Interblock intervals (IBIs) were randomly scrambled within the run (with six IBIs of 14 sec, five IBIs of 16 sec, and five IBIs of 18 sec). Run 2 was an inverse presentation of run 1, meaning that the same blocks with the same stimuli, stimuli order, ISIs, and IBIs as in run 1 were presented in the opposite order, thereby counterbalancing possible order effects after the two runs were collapsed. The total number of stimuli of both runs combined was 480 with 48 (10%) nontargets elements. Implementation of the CPT was done in MATLAB 2008 (The MathWorks, Inc., Natick, MA), using the functions randperm() and rand() for the generation of pseudorandom permutations and values.

CPT Paradigm Procedure

Participants were instructed to press a response button as fast as possible whenever a letter appeared on the screen, except for the letter "X." They were also instructed to strive to make as few errors as possible. All participants completed a training session using a standard desktop computer, and the experimenter made sure that the participant performed the test as intended before entering the scanner room. Instructions were also repeated before each fMRI run during scanning. Stimulus presentation and timing of stimuli were achieved using E-prime 1.2 (Psychology Software Tools, Pittsburgh, PA). The paradigm was presented using MRI-compatible video-goggles (VisualSystem, Nordic NeuroLab, Bergen, Norway) for 41 participants. Because of technical problems with the goggles, an MRI-compatible monitor (Siemens AG, Erlangen, Germany) and a head-coil mounted mirror were used for the remaining 46 participants. The video goggles and monitor were tested for differences in timing of stimuli presentation using photodiodes and an oscilloscope. The test revealed that the monitor had a ~60-msec stimulus onset delay relative to the video goggles. This was adjusted for during postprocessing of response and fMRI data. Responses were measured using fiberoptic response grips (ResponseGrip, Nordic NeuroLab, Bergen, Norway) and stored in log files by utilizing a custom-made Python-based log script that interacted with the E-Prime software.

MRI Scanning

Scanning was performed on a 3-T Siemens Trio scanner with a 12-channel head matrix coil (Siemens AG, Erlangen, Germany). Foam pads were used to minimize head motion. In both fMRI runs, 380 T2*-weighted BOLD sensitive images were acquired using an EPI pulse sequence (repetition time [TR] = 2400 msec, echo time [TE] = 35 msec, field of view [FOV] = 244 mm, slice thickness = 3.0 mm, slice number = 40, matrix = 80 × 80, giving an in-plane resolution of 3×3 mm) with slices positioned transversal along the A–P axis. For anatomical reference, a T1-weighted 3-D volume was acquired with a magnetization prepared rapid gradient echo sequence (TR = 2300 msec, TE = 2.88 msec, FOV = 256 mm, slice thickness = 1.20 mm, matrix 256 \times 256, giving an in-plane resolution of 1.0 \times 1.0 mm). In addition, two spin echo volumes were sampled to be used for distortion correction (Holland, Kuperman, & Dale, 2010): one acquired in the A–P direction, and the other, in P–A. Apart from different phase encoding directions, the spin echo protocols were identical (TR = 2010 msec, TE = 35 msec, FOV = 244 mm, slice thickness = 3 mm, matrix 80 \times 80, giving an in-plane resolution of 3 \times 3 mm).

Analysis of Behavioral Data

Calculation of CPT Performance Measures

The following measures were computed based on the behavioral raw data: omission errors, the number of targets a participant failed to respond to; commission errors, the number of nontargets a participant mistakenly responded to; hit RT, the mean RT of correct responses; and hit RT standard error of the mean (SEM), the standard error of the mean of hit RT. In addition, measures derived from signal detection theory (Green & Swets, 1966) were computed, namely detectability (d') and response style (β). Detectability (d') represents the relation between the signal (targets) and noise (nontargets) distribution and is considered to be a good measure of the discriminative power of an individual. The rationale behind this measure is that a participant with a good ability to distinguish and detect target and nontarget stimuli will have large differences between the signal and noise distributions, whereas an individual with decreased ability to distinguish and detect target and nontarget stimuli will have small differences. Detectability (d') was computed by applying the equation $d' = z_H - z_{FA}$ where H represented hits and FA represented false alarms, and the functions z_H and z_{FA} represented the inverse of the cumulative normal distribution of the hit rate and the false alarm rate. Hits were defined as correct responses to targets, whereas false alarms were defined as erroneous responses to nontargets (commission errors). Hit rate was found by dividing the actual number of hits in the CPT task by the number of possible hits (432), and false alarm rate was calculated by dividing number of false alarms by the number of possible false alarms (48), respectively. Response style (β) is a measure representing response tendency, which is considered related to how risky an individual is when responding to stimuli on a CPT. High β value reflects a cautious response style with emphasis on avoiding commission errors, whereas a low β value reflects a risky response style with more emphasis on avoiding omission errors. Response style (B) was computed in the following manner: $C = -0.5(z_H - z_{FA})$, ln $\beta = d' \times C, \beta = \exp(\ln \beta)$. For participants who had hit rates or false alarm rates of 1, d' and β were calculated using a maximum value for hit rate to (N - 1)/N, which is

a commonly used approximation in signal detection theory. Furthermore, if participants had a false alarm rate of 0, β was calculated using a minimum false alarm rate of 1/N.

Statistical Analyses

All behavioral data were analyzed with IBM SPSS 19.0. Means, standard deviations (SD), and confidence intervals (CI) for the overall means of not-X CPT measures were calculated. To investigate TOT effects, the CPT was divided into four equally long time epochs after collapsing run 1 and run 2. Each of the six CPT measures was included in separate repeated-measures ANOVAs with time epoch (1, 2, 3, and 4) as a fixed factor. Mauchley's test was used to investigate the assumption of sphericity of the data, and a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was utilized if this assumption was violated. Subsequent polynomial trend analyses were performed to explore the nature of significant effects from the repeated-measures ANOVAs. For all tests, the acceptance level for significant results was set to p < .05, and a Bonferroni correction giving a critical p > .0083 (Bonferroni corrected, $\alpha/n = 0.05/6 =$ 0.0083) was applied to control for multiple statistical tests where appropriate (univariate ANOVAs). Eta squared (η^2) was calculated as a measure of effect size.

Analysis of MRI Data

Preprocessing

All fMRI data were processed utilizing the FMRIB's Software Library (FSL) toolbox version 4.1 (FMRIB Centre, Oxford, United Kingdom) and a custom algorithm for correction of susceptibility artifacts (Holland et al., 2010). After nonbrain removal using the Brain Extraction Tool (Smith, 2002), MCFLIRT (Jenkinson, Bannister, Brady, & Smith, 2002) was applied for affine motion correction. Correction of inhomogeneous static magnetic field-induced distortion was done by calculating displacement fields using spin-echo EPI sequences with opposite phase encoding, which was then applied for correction of the gradient EPI sequences (Holland et al., 2010). A Gaussian kernel of 6-mm FWHM was applied for spatial smoothing. Grand-mean intensity normalization of the entire 4-D data set was performed, and high-pass temporal filtering was set to 50 sec for the block-related analysis and 25 sec for the event-related analysis. Linear registration (7 df) using FLIRT (Jenkinson et al., 2002; Jenkinson & Smith, 2001) was performed to register each individual's fMRI data to their own high-resolution structural image. Nonlinear registration (12 df) from high-resolution structural to MNI152 1-mm standard template using an 8-mm warp resolution was done by utilizing FNIRT (Anderson, Jenkinson, & Smith, 2007a, 2007b). BOLD activity related to task blocks and individual trials was modeled using a general linear model (GLM). The hemodynamic response function was convolved using a Gamma

variate, which is a normalization of the probability density function of the Gamma function (phase = $0 \sec$, $SD = 3 \sec$, mean lag = $6 \sec$).

Main Contrasts

For each run, the following main contrasts were performed for all participants: (1) stable task-set maintenance (task block > fixation block) and (2) task-negative activation (fixation block > task block) for block analysis and (3) conflict processing (nontargets > targets), (4) hits (targets > nontargets), (5) error processing (commission errors > successful inhibition), and (6) successful inhibition (successful inhibition > commission errors) for event-related analysis (adaptive task control). Both runs were then combined in a higher level analysis for each individual using a fixed effects model. Finally, a mixed effects model was applied to create group average statistic images, which were corrected for multiple comparisons using GRF-theory-based maximum height thresholding with $p < 10^{-13}$ (voxel corrected) for contrasts 1–4. Because of very robust activations, this stringent threshold was necessary to generate meaningful statistical parametric maps for interpretation. For the error processing and successful inhibition contrast, a more standard GRF-theory-based maximum height threshold of p < .01 (voxel corrected) was applied because of the lower number of trials included in this contrast as compared with the other two. Omission errors were not included in any separate contrasts because of low statistical power because of a large number of participants with very few or no such errors (floor effect). However, for exploratory purposes, omission errors were investigated in a subsequent regression model (see below). A conjunction analysis was performed to investigate brain areas that were activated above the statistical threshold $(p < 10^{-13})$ in both adaptive task control (conflict processing) and stable task maintenance and therefore would represent a "core network." Error processing was not included in this formalized conjunction analysis because of the considerable difference in statistical threshold for this contrast compared with the other two. However, all contrasts were also evaluated more qualitatively with regard to overlap in standard Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space.

TOT Effects

To investigate TOT effects, two separate repeatedmeasures GLMs were applied. In the first GLM, we investigated the TOT effect with the stable task maintenance contrast as a dependent variable and time epoch (1, 2, 3, and 4) as a fixed factor. In the second GLM, the same procedure was performed for investigating the TOT effect for adaptive task control by using the conflict processing contrast as the dependent variable. Significant main effects were followed up by individual contrasts comparing the first time epoch (epoch 1) to each of the subsequent ones (2, 3, and 4; progressively more distant). Statistical images were thresholded using GRF-theory-based maximum height thresholding with p < .05 (voxel corrected).

Correlations with CPT Measures

Positive and negative neural correlates to the measures of attention (except commission errors, which were included in a separate contrast) computed from the behavioral data were investigated by including hit RT, hit RT *SEM*, omission errors, detectability (*d'*), and response style (β) in separate regression models for the two the main contrasts, stable task maintenance and conflict processing (adaptive task control). The final statistical images from the correlation analyses were thresholded using GRF-theory-based maximum height thresholding with *p* < .05 (voxel corrected).

Cluster Algorithm and Presentation of Imaging Data

For all contrasts, a cluster algorithm was applied to obtain the main peak Z values and size of clusters (number of voxels) in $1 \times 1 \times 1$ mm MNI space. Only clusters consisting of >40 voxels were included. The Harvard Oxford cortical and subcortical structural brain atlases as incorporated in the FSL software and visual inspection were used to denote relevant anatomical structures.

RESULTS

Behavioral Results

Overall means, *SD*, and 95% CI for the different not-X CPT measures are presented in Table 1.

TOT Effects

Mauchley's test indicated that the assumption of sphericity was violated for the main effect of hit RT, hit RT *SEM*, omission errors, and response style (β). For these variables, the degrees of freedom were corrected using the

Table 1. Overall Not-X CPT Performance Data

	N	Mean	SD	95% CI of the Mean
Hit RT (msec)	87	419.79	54.48	[408.18, 431.41]
Hit RT SEM	87	6.31	2.44	[5.79, 6.83]
Omission errors	87	7.69	13.49	[4.81, 10.57]
Commission errors	87	15.57	8.12	[13.84, 17.30]
Detectability (d')	87	2.92	0.79	[2.75, 3.09]
Response style (β)	87	0.12	0.17	[0.09, 0.16]

Greenhouse–Geisser estimates of sphericity ($\varepsilon = 0.657$ for the main effect of hit RT, $\varepsilon = 0.684$ for the main effect of hit RT SEM, $\varepsilon = 0.621$ for the main effect of omission errors, and $\varepsilon = 0.675$ for the main effect of response style). All effects are reported as significant at p < .05 (Bonferroni corrected, $\alpha/n = 0.05/6 = 0.0083$). Results from separate one-way repeated-measures ANOVAs showed a main effect of TOT for hit RT, $F(1.971, 85.029) = 12.3, p = .000, \eta^2 =$ 0.125, omission errors, F(1.863, 85.137) = 9.309, p = .000, $\eta^2 = 0.098$, detectability, F(3, 84) = 6.104, p = .001, $\eta^2 =$ 0.066, and response style, F(2.024, 84.976) = 6.344, p =.002, $\eta^2=0.069.$ Statistically significant results are presented in Figure 1. There were no significant main effects of TOT for hit RT SEM, $F(2.053, 84.947) = 1.954, p = .144, \eta^2 =$ 0.022, or commission errors, F(3, 84) = 3.187, p = .024. A polynomial trend analysis indicated that there was a significant linear increase in hit RT with TOT, F(1, 86) = $16.004, p = .000, \eta^2 = 0.157$. Furthermore, there was a significant cubic trend, $F(1, 86) = 13.133, p = .0000, \eta^2 =$ 0.132, indicating that hit RT first increased from block 1 to 2, then slightly decreased from block 2 to 3, and then increased from block 3 to 4 (Figure 1). There was also a significant linear increase in omission errors with TOT, $F(1, 86) = 13.271, p = .0000, \eta^2 = 0.134$, and response style, $F(1, 86) = 9.614, p = .003, \eta^2 = 0.101$, as well as a linear decrease in detectability score, F(1, 86) = 10.605, p = .002, $\eta^2 = 0.110$. The detectability score also demonstrated a significant cubic trend, indicating that detectability was relatively stable from block 1 to 2, decreased substantially from block 2 to 3, and then slightly increased from block 3 to 4 (Figure 1).

Imaging Results

Activations for Stable Task-set Maintenance and Adaptive Task Control

Brain activation related to performance of the not-X CPT task was found in frontal, parietal, subcortical, and cerebellar regions of the brain. The conjunction analysis revealed overlapping areas of activation between stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control in insular and adjacent cortices bilaterally, paracingulate gyrus, right inferior parietal cortex, and right middle temporal gyrus (Figure 2, Table 4). Nonoverlapping activity unique for stable task-set maintenance was found in the dorsocaudal parts of the medial frontal cortex (MFC), left precentral gyrus, and dorsal striatum (bilaterally in the caudate and left putamen), in addition to the right thalamus and cerebellum (Table 2, Figure 2). There were also unique activations for adaptive task control. Conflict processing showed unique activity in more anterior parts of the MFC (relative to stable task-set maintenance), left precentral gyrus, posterior cingulate, right thalamus, and left caudate (Table 3, Figure 2). Error processing revealed unique activations within the MFC, right posterior insula, right precentral gyrus, left postcentral gyrus, and bilaterally within the temporal lobes and parietal regions (including the precuneus) as well as the lingual gyrus (Tables 4 and 5, Figure 3). Successful inhibition had unique activations in the frontal poles as well as in areas bilaterally in the occipital lobe (Table 5). Within the adaptive task control network, there was an overlap in activation between conflict processing and error processing in the anterior

Figure 1. TOT effects for not-X CPT performance. The graphs show the development of CPT performance (group means \pm standard error) with TOT. Only CPT measures with a statistically significant (p < .05, Bonferroni corrected) effect of TOT are included. Results from a polynomial trend analysis (p < .05) are indicated by ... = linear trend, ..., = quadratic trend, ..., = cubic trend.



908 Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience

Volume 25, Number 6



Figure 2. Stable task-set maintenance, adaptive task control, and core network for cognitive control. The figure shows SPMs for the contrasts in stable task-set maintenance (task block > fixation block, $p < 10^{-13}$, voxel corrected) and adaptive task control (conflict processing, nontargets > Targets, $p < 10^{-13}$, voxel corrected) and a conjunction analysis indicating areas that are activated above the statistical threshold for both adaptive task control and stable task-set maintenance ($p < 10^{-13}$, voxel corrected). Targets = all letters except the letter X. Nontargets = the letter X. Results are presented on a $1 \times 1 \times 1$ mm MNI template.

cingulate gyrus and between conflict processing and successful inhibition in the right inferior parietal lobe (IPL). Finally, there was task-negative activation (fixation block > task block) in parietal (including the precuneus and posterior cingulate cortex [PCC]) and occipital regions (Table 2, Figure 3) as well as activation related to hits (targets > nontargets) in the left precentral gyrus (Table 3).

TOT Effects

Repeated-measures GLMs revealed a significant main effect of TOT for stable task-set maintenance, but no such effect for adaptive task control (conflict processing). For stable task-set maintenance, follow-up analyses showed increased activation in the left frontal pole and bilaterally in the occipital poles in time epochs 3 and 4 relative to epoch 1 (Table 6, Figure 3). The activations in the occipital poles were clearly overlapping with task-negative areas described in the previous section (Figure 3). For epoch 4 relative to epoch 1, there was also increased activation in other frontal, parietal, temporal, and occipital areas that, to some degree, overlapped or were adjacent to the task-negative network (Table 6, Figure 3). We also found decreased activity as an effect of TOT from time epoch 1 to epoch 4. Areas of decreased activations were located to frontal, parietal, and temporal brain regions in addition to the cerebellum and were, to a large degree, overlapping with the task-positive regions described in the previous section (Table 6, Figure 3).

Correlation Analyses

There was a positive correlation between brain activation related to adaptive task control (conflict processing) and detectability (d'), with main peak in the juxtapositional (former SMA) cortex (main peak MNI coordinates: x = -4, y = -6, z = 55, size = 83 voxels, Z = 4.9). None of the other CPT measures correlated with brain activation in neither the adaptive task control (conflict processing) nor stable task maintenance contrasts.

DISCUSSION

The present fMRI study investigating the neural underpinnings of not-X CPT performance revealed three main findings: (1) overlapping as well as nonoverlapping brain activation in cortical, subcortical, and cerebellar regions related to stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control (including conflict processing, error processing, and successful inhibition); (2) activations within the frontal cortex were by and large localized to more rostral regions during adaptive task control as compared with stable task-set maintenance; and (3) brain activity decreased in task-positive and increased in task-negative/

				Coordinates for Peak Activation (MNI)			
Anatomical Region	R/L	Size (Number of Voxels)	Ζ	x	у	z	
Stable Task-set Maintenance							
Frontal orbital cortex	R	6,212	10.8	30	26	-3	
Insular cortex	L	5,437	10.5	-28	24	-3	
Paracingulate gyrus	R	4,450	10.7	1	10	50	
Precentral gyrus	L	1,086	9.56	-44	-2	35	
Supramarginal gyrus, posterior division	R	533	9.01	53	-45	42	
Cerebellum	R	494	9.33	9	-75	-20	
Precentral gyrus	R	209	8.99	45	1	38	
Middle temporal gyrus	R	195	9.04	56	-28	-11	
Putamen	L	180	8.97	-29	3	-8	
Caudate	R	171	9.21	8	4	14	
Thalamus	R	64	8.76	4	-7	-5	
Caudate	R	42	8.68	16	23	3	
Task-negative							
Occipital pole	R	3,249	10.8	31	-97	-11	
Occipital pole	R	2,201	10.2	-25	-98	-13	
Precuneus	R	1,380	9.98	-15	-65	20	
Precuneus	L	1,360	9.85	16	-61	20	
Precuneus	L	936	9.39	2	-69	61	
Cingulate gyrus, posterior division	R	124	8.94	3	-49	9	

Table 2.	Peak Activations acro	ss Whole Brain	for Stable Ta	sk Control (Task Block vs.	Fixation Block)

Results were achieved using a mixed effects model corrected for multiple comparisons using GRF-theory-based maximum height thresholding with $p < 10^{-13}$ (voxel corrected). Only the most significant (main) peak within each cluster is reported in the present table. n = 87 (34 women). Naming of anatomical regions associated with main peaks was based on the Harvard Oxford cortical and subcortical structural atlases as implemented in the FSL software. R = right, L = left. Note that some clusters are particularly large and therefore span over several brain regions (see Figures 2 and 3 as well as the Results and Discussion sections in the main text for more information).

DMN regions with TOT for stable task-set maintenance, whereas no TOT effects were found for adaptive task control.

A Core Network for Cognitive Control

During the not-X CPT task, a widespread cortical–subcortical cerebellar network was engaged, where overlapping areas of activation in stable set maintenance and adaptive task control were located to the insula and adjacent cortex, paracingulate cortex, right inferior partial lobe, and right middle temporal gyrus.

Our findings support the existence of a core system for task control, which includes the insula and the MFC (Dosenbach et al., 2006). By using a conservative threshold ($p < 10^{-13}$, voxel corrected) compared with most studies, there was an increased risk for type II errors in this study, which could potentially lead to a bias toward large effects (Lieberman & Cunningham, 2009). However, the proposed core network has previously been found to be relatively robust (Dosenbach et al., 2006). Taking this into consideration, in addition to the large sample size (Thyreau et al., 2012), a conservative threshold was chosen in this study, as type I errors were considered to be less desirable than type II errors when trying to determine a true core network.

Contrary to previous research, we failed to find overlapping activity directly related to error processing in the anterior insula and MFC (Dosenbach et al., 2006). Neither did we find overlapping activity there for successful inhibition. This indicates that, although adaptive task control in general may belong to a core network together with stable task-set maintenance, certain adaptive properties are likely to be domain or task specific. A more con-

				Coordinates for Peak Activation (MNI)		
Anatomical Region	R/L	Size (Number of Voxels)	Ζ	x	у	z
Conflict Processing						
Cingulate gyrus, anterior division	R	14,547	11.8	6	34	25
Frontal orbital cortex	R	11,272	12.7	37	22	-7
Frontal orbital cortex	L	6,643	12.8	-35	19	-12
Angular gyrus	R	5,411	10.1	60	-47	21
Cingulate gyrus, posterior division	R	738	9.68	4	-21	24
Supramarginal gyrus, posterior division	L	653	9.98	-55	-46	30
Middle temporal gyrus, posterior division	R	588	9.78	57	-27	-13
Caudate	R	369	9.03	12	7	5
MFG	R	283	8.92	48	8	44
Right Thalamus	R	82	8.87	5	-25	-4
Caudate	L	72	8.81	-11	7	3
Hits						
Precentral gyrus	L	340	9.08	-40	-27	62

Table 3. Peak Activations across Whole Brain for Adaptive Task Control (Nontargets vs. Targets)

Results were achieved using a mixed effects model corrected for multiple comparisons using GRF-theory-based maximum height thresholding with $p < 10^{-15}$ (voxel corrected). Only the most significant (main) peak within each cluster is reported in the present table. n = 87 (34 women). Naming of anatomical regions associated with main peaks was based on the Harvard Oxford cortical and subcortical structural atlases as implemented in the FSL software. Targets = all letters except the letter X; nontargets = the letter X. Note that some clusters are particularly large and therefore span over several brain regions (see Figures 2 and 3 as well as the Results and Discussion sections in the main text for more information).

ventional threshold was used when investigating error processing and successful inhibition (p < .01, voxel corrected), because of the fact that there were considerably less trials included in these contrasts (lower statistical power) as compared with the more-general conflict processing contrast. The lack of overlap, despite more liberal

thresholds, supports the interpretation that they do not belong to the core network but rather are domain specific.

We also found overlapping activation for stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control in the IPL and middle temporal gyrus. The IPL is recognized as part of

Table 4. Peak Activations across Whole Brain for Conjunction Analysis (Adaptive Task Control and Stable Task-set Maintenance),

 Representing the "Core Network" of Cognitive Control

				Coor Act	dinates for tivation (M	Peak NI)
Anatomical Region	R/L	Size (Number of Voxels)	Ζ	x	у	z
Conjunction Analysis						
Frontal orbital cortex/insula	R	4,838	10.8	32	26	-3
Insula/frontal orbital cortex	L	3,029	10.4	-29	23	-4
Paracingulate gyrus	R	451	9.23	5	20	41
Supramarginal gyrus, posterior division	R	353	8.95	54	-45	43
Middle temporal gyrus, posterior division	R	191	9.04	56	-28	-11

Brain areas activated above the statistical threshold ($p < 10^{-13}$) in both conflict processing (adaptive task control) and stable task-set maintenance were investigated in a conjunction analysis. The most significant (main) peak within each cluster is reported in the present table. n = 87 (34 women). Naming of anatomical regions associated with main peaks was based on the Harvard Oxford cortical and subcortical structural atlases as implemented in the FSL software.

				Coor Act	dinates for tivation (M	Peak NI)
Anatomical Region	R/L	Size (Number of Voxels)	Ζ	x	у	z
Error Processing						
Lingual gyrus	L	19,334	7.11	-8	-62	6
Lingual gyrus	R	4,981	6.16	17	-55	-1
Central opercular cortex	R	4,443	7.02	59	-15	11
Precentral gyrus	R	2,703	6.66	55	-5	36
Postcentral gyrus	L	1,699	6.38	-49	-15	38
Precuneus	L	1,583	6.33	-1	-53	63
Cingulate gyrus, anterior division	L	1,356	5.89	-3	22	28
Superior frontal gyrus	L	451	5.75	-7	11	61
Temporal pole	R	310	5.94	28	9	-28
Cingulate cortex, anterior division	L	224	5.38	-1	-10	38
Parahippocampal gyrus, posterior division	L	177	5.29	-19	-26	-13
Superior temporal gyrus, anterior division	R	137	5.12	66	-1	5
Temporal pole	L	91	5.15	-29	15	-36
Successful Inhibition						
Occipital pole	L	2,108	5.78	-28	-95	11
Frontal pole	R	757	6.04	18	48	-19
Supramarginal gyrus, posterior division	R	724	5.39	42	-44	46
Frontal pole	L	588	5.69	-38	54	-8
Frontal pole	R	559	5.29	47	36	22
Frontal pole	R	389	5.51	37	58	-4
Lateral occipital cortex, superior division	R	213	5.41	32	-69	36
Lateral occipital cortex, inferior division	L	180	5.37	-43	-75	-3

Table 5. Peak Activations across Whole Brain for Adaptive Task Control (Commission Errors vs. Correct Inhibition)

Results were achieved using a mixed effects model corrected for multiple comparisons using GRF-theory-based maximum height thresholding with p < .01 (voxel corrected). Only the most significant (main) peak within each cluster is reported in the present table. n = 87 (34 women). Naming of anatomical regions associated with main peaks was based on the Harvard Oxford cortical and subcortical structural atlases as implemented in the FSL software. Commissions = failure to withhold button press when the letter X was presented; successful inhibition = correctly withholding the button press when the letter X was presented. Note that some clusters are particularly large and therefore span over several brain regions (see Figures 3 and 4 as well as the Results and Discussion sections in the main text for more information).

a dorsal attention system that is connected to orienting (Fan et al., 2005; Corbetta & Shulman, 2002), but has also been related to not-X CPT performance (Tana et al., 2010; Ogg et al., 2008) and moment-to-moment adjustment during task performance (Wilk et al., 2012) as well as semantic and phonological processing and categorization of visual stimuli (Stoeckel, Gough, Watkins, & Devlin, 2009). This brain region was also activated for the individual types of control networks in the study performed by Dosenbach and colleagues; however, they failed to find a direct overlap (Dosenbach et al., 2006), indicating that these brain areas may represent more domain (task) specific processing rather than a generalized top-down cog-

nitive control. Whereas Dosenbach and colleagues based their analyses on data from several tasks with different task demands and stimulus types (Dosenbach et al., 2006), this study is limited by the use of only one task. This may simply lead to a larger degree of overlap because both block- and event-related analyses are likely to be affected by the same domain-specific demands of the task. If this is the case, low demand on spatial orienting in our task makes it plausible that the overlapping IPL activity we found could be partly related to semantic and phonological processing and categorization of the letters (Stoeckel et al., 2005). The most pronounced and explicit demand on

semantic processing in the not-X CPT was the instruction to distinguish between the semantic meaning given to the letter X ("stop responding") versus that of all the other letters ("respond"). In addition to this, participants were engaged in continuously processing letters throughout the task. Such processing could have activated the IPL, as semantic and phonological processing of meaningful stimuli has previously shown to recruit this region regardless of explicit task demands (Binder, Desai, Graves, & Conant, 2009; Stoeckel et al., 2009). Overlapping activity in the right middle temporal gyrus is also likely associated with semantic processing (Visser, Jefferies, Embleton, & Lambon Ralph, 2012; Laufer, Negishi, Lacadie, Papademetris, & Constable, 2011; Binder et al., 2009). Increased activity in both the IPL and middle temporal gyrus during successful inhibition further supports the view that these regions are involved in successful performance.

Interestingly, conflict processing revealed additional activation in the left supramarginal gyrus, indicating that additional resources may be recruited specifically in relation to the cognitive conflict that arises when processing nontargets as opposed to targets (Ettinger et al., 2008). Conflict cannot easily be distinguished from differences related to responding or not responding (Kim, Chung, & Kim, 2012). However, it is unlikely that the additional activation in the left supramarginal gyrus in the current

study is merely caused by differences related to responding and not responding. Typical activation related to responding was found only in motor areas when investigating activation directly related to hits (targets > nontargets). Also, if the activation had been directly related to responding versus not responding, it would be expected that this difference would be isolated in the successful inhibition or error processing contrasts. This was not the case, as the activation in the left supramarginal gyrus was unique for the conflict processing contrast (nontargets > targets). Finally, a recent study demonstrated that the left supramarginal gyrus has a causal role in relation to the left dorsal premotor cortex in rapid action reprogramming (Hartwigsen et al., 2012). Evidence from this study supports that the supramarginal gyrus is involved in controlling the release of action programs regardless of whether they involve responding or not responding (Hartwigsen et al., 2012).

Anteriorization of Adaptive Relative to Stable Task Control in the Frontal Cortex

In addition to the "core" activation located within the MFC, stable task-set maintenance activated caudal parts of the medial superior frontal gyrus, whereas adaptive task control (conflict and error processing) activated



Figure 3. Stable task-set maintenance, task-negative activity, error related activity, and TOT effects. The figure shows SPMs for stable task-set maintenance ($p < 10^{-13}$, voxel corrected), task-negative activity ($p < 10^{-13}$, voxel corrected), error processing (p < .01), and TOT increase and decrease (p < .05). Commissions = failure to withhold button press when the letter X was presented. Correct = correctly withholding the button press when the letter X was presented. Results are presented on a $1 \times 1 \times 1$ mm MNI template.

				Coo Ad	rdinates for . ctivation (MI	Peak √I)
Anatomical Region	R/L	Size (Number of Voxels)	Ζ	x	у	z
Time Epoch $1 > 4$						
Cingulate gyrus, anterior division	R	2,400	5.19	6	11	41
Precentral gyrus	L	1,794	5.53	-42	-4	60
Insular cortex	R	1,514	5.29	30	21	7
Cerebellum	L	1,421	5.47	-1	-74	-18
Insular cortex	L	1,303	5.34	-42	11	-2
Precentral gyrus	R	685	5.12	42	-4	44
Frontal pole	R	260	4.68	32	42	23
Parietal opercular cortex	L	249	4.63	-47	-34	22
Juxtapositional Lobule cortex	L	208	5.10	-8	-6	60
Superior frontal gyrus	R	193	4.77	14	2	59
Superior temporal gyrus, posterior division	L	143	4.90	-66	-34	18
Cerebellum	L	90	4.76	-35	-60	-29
MFG	R	79	4.59	44	0	59
Superior frontal gyrus	L	42	4.61	-30	-50	70
<i>Time Epoch</i> $3 > 1$						
Occipital pole	R	1,586	6.06	30	-97	-11
Occipital pole	L	927	5.59	-26	-98	-12
Frontal pole	L	59	4.67	-18	37	-18
<i>Time Epoch</i> $4 > 1$						
Precuneus	R	4,610	5.08	4	-64	26
Frontal pole	L	3,437	6.32	-19	37	-18
Occipital pole	R	1,671	6.15	29	-97	-11
Occipital pole	L	1,354	6.18	-25	-98	-12
Frontal pole	L	353	4.79	-41	40	-19
Frontal pole	L	266	4.81	-5	69	16
Frontal orbital cortex	R	166	4.57	19	34	-18
Superior frontal gyrus	L	120	4.74	-14	34	39
Precentral gyrus	R	88	4.62	14	-28	66
Frontal pole	L	79	4.61	-13	48	37
Precentral gyrus	L	58	4.59	-10	-30	69
Subcallosal cortex	L	56	4.72	-7	7	-17
Lateral occipital cortex	L	52	4.54	-38	-71	31
Middle temporal cortex	L	49	4.48	-52	-4	-25

Table 6. Peak Activations across Whole Brain for TOT Effects for Stable Task-set Maintenance

After a repeated-measures GLM yielded a statistically significant main effect of TOT, subsequent paired *t* tests were performed which compared time epoch 1 with each of the other time epochs (2, 3, and 4) progressively further away in time. Only statistically significant results from these analyses are presented in this table. Results were achieved using a mixed effects model corrected for multiple comparisons using GRF-theory-based maximum height thresholding with p < .05 (voxel corrected). Only the most significant (main) peak within each cluster is reported in the present table. n = 87 (34 women). Naming of anatomical regions associated with main peaks was based on the Harvard Oxford cortical and subcortical structural atlases as implemented in the FSL software. Note that some clusters are particularly large and therefore span over several brain regions (see Figures 3 and 4 as well as the Results and Discussion sections in the main text for more information).

914 Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience

Volume 25, Number 6

rostral regions of ACC. The present results are therefore best accommodated by the cognitive demand framework (Badre & D'Esposito, 2007, 2009; Badre, 2008) rather than the episodic and contextual control framework (Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007; Koechlin et al., 2003). Accordingly, the results indicate that, with an eventrelated analysis, we can identify activation related to the more specific and perhaps demanding actions of conflict and error processing, whereas the activity present in the block analysis appears to be dominated by the ongoing task-set related to simple motor responses (Kim et al., 2011; Venkatraman et al., 2009).

Moreover, evidence has demonstrated that the more dorsal region of ACC as well as the pre-SMA are involved in action selection and conflict resolution (Forstmann, van den Wildenberg, & Ridderinkhof, 2008; Taylor, Nobre, & Rushworth, 2007), whereas the relatively more ventrorostral part of ACC is mainly activated during error detection and anticipatory prediction of response selection (Nee et al., 2011). In accordance with this, our results revealed that main activations related to conflict and error processing was located in more ventro-rostral regions of ACC, relative to that of stable task-set maintenance.

One exception from the anteriorization of adaptive task control within the PFC was present in our data, namely the error-related activation in the very posterior ACC. The activated region is, however, bordering the PCC and may hence not be representative for the prefrontal region. Activation of the PCC has been related to both a task-negative network involved in lapses of attention (Weissman et al., 2006) and preparatory motor inhibition (Hu & Li, 2012). The rostral PCC may be specifically involved in processing errors, as the more general conflict processing contrast activated an area far more caudal in the same region. From this, it could be hypothesized that there is a rostro-caudal distribution within the PCC with regards to more general versus complex processing.

The pre-SMA and adjacent areas were activated by both stable task-set maintenance and error processing, with the latter located more rostral (and somewhat dorsal). Blockrelated fMRI analysis has previously demonstrated a larger number of activated voxels in dorsal, relative to ventral, areas during a not-X CPT performance (Ogg et al., 2008). Furthermore, stable task-set maintenance has been found to activate more dorsally within the MFC relative to adaptive task control (Wilk et al., 2012). Novel in our study is that we investigated error processing more directly. The pre-SMA area is hypothesized to be involved in switching between and/or reactivating task-sets when this is required, and error-related activity in the same area may signal reengagement of decaying task-sets (Nee et al., 2011; Altmann & Grav. 2002). Memory for task-sets is thought to be a noisy system, where decay in task-sets leads to lower discriminative power (given by lower d') for distinguishing one stimulus from the other (Altmann & Gray, 2002). In our task, we found a positive correlation between the conflict processing and detectability (d') in the pre-SMA area,

giving direct support for its role in separating signal from noise.

There was also evidence for a distribution gradient within the lateral prefrontal lobe, where adaptive task control was associated with more anterior activation than stable task-set maintenance. Stable task-set maintenance activation spreads from its main peak in the precentral gyrus into the middle frontal gyrus (MFG), which is known to be involved in maintaining task goals as well as manipulating items in working memory (Rypma, Prabhakaran, Desmond, Glover, & Gabrieli, 1999). Conflict processing was also associated with activation more anterior in the MFG relative to stable task-set maintenance. Moreover, in addition to enhanced activity in primary visual areas, successful inhibition revealed increased activation with main peaks bilaterally in the frontal poles. In the right hemisphere, this activation spreads into the MFG, anterior to both stable task-set maintenance and conflict processing, indicating that successful inhibition relies on endogenous control processes located in the most anterior regions in the PFC (Kim et al., 2011; Taren, Venkatraman, & Huettel, 2011).

Distinct Subcortical and Cerebellar Regions Recruited by Stable Task-set Maintenance and Adaptive Task Control

Activations related to stable task-set maintenance were found in the dorsal striatum (bilaterally in the caudate and left putamen), right thalamus, and cerebellum. The dorsal striatum has an important role in cognitive control and categorization of visual stimuli (Seger, 2008; Balleine et al., 2007; Heyder et al., 2004). Stable task-set maintenance activated anterior parts (the head) and also more posterior parts spreading into the body of the caudate, in addition to the left putamen. These areas are thought to be key structures in separate cortico-striatal loops, namely the executive (head) and visual (body) loop (Seger, 2008). Conflict processing also activated the head of the caudate, although separated from, and located dorso-caudal relative to the stable task-set maintenance activation.

Largely overlapping thalamic activations related to both alerting and executive control have been reported in a previous event-related fMRI study (Fan et al., 2005). In our study, using a more stringent threshold, we were able to find separate thalamic activation for stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control. Whereas stable task-set maintenance showed activation in the ventral anterior nuclei region previously known to be involved in executive function (Little et al., 2010; Van der Werf, Witter, Uylings, & Jolles, 2000), conflict processing revealed activation in the pulvinar region (in vicinity of the peak activation related to executive control in the Fan et al. study), which plays a role in working-memory-guided visual selection (Rotshtein, Soto, Grecucci, Geng, & Humphreys, 2011). Previous research has suggested a role for the thalamus as a part of a cingulo-opercular network, which is supposed to mainly engender stable task-set maintenance (Dosenbach et al., 2008). Our results refine this view, suggesting that distinct subregions of the thalamus may be specifically involved in both stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control.

The cerebellum has also been proposed to be involved in a cingulo-opercular network by providing error codes through interacting with the thalamus and a fronto-parietal network through connections via the dorsolateral PFC and IPL (Dosenbach et al., 2007). Another theoretical perspective sees the cerebellum as crucial for maintenance of anticipatory brain activity that is subsequently synchronized with the expected sensory stimuli, facilitating a more sustained "predictive brain state" (Ghajar & Ivry, 2009). In our study, we failed to directly relate activation in the cerebellum to error processing, as we only found activations related to stable task-set maintenance. These results support a role for the cerebellum as a comparator or internal template in attention and executive control (Ghajar & Ivry, 2009) and not an error detector as such.

Task-negative Network and Error Processing

Task-negative not-X CPT activations were located to posterior brain regions similar to those previously found in a CPT study (Ogg et al., 2008) and coinciding with the DMN (Fox et al., 2005). We also found error-related activity in several of the same regions (lateral and medial parietal regions including the precuneus), possibly indicating a failure to effectively deactivate the task-negative network when errors occurred (Weissman et al., 2006). However, not all error processing areas overlapped with the task-negative regions. Also, in addition to the previously described activations in PFC, PCC, and task-negative regions, error processing was uniquely supported by the right posterior insula, left postcentral gyrus, bilaterally in the temporal lobes, and central opercular cortices. This activity may be related to more specific error activity such as affective or cognitive reactions related to making errors (Mathiak et al., 2011) or reactive activation of domain-/taskspecific neural networks.

TOT Effects

This study is the first to investigate TOT effects for both stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control in the same fMRI experiment. Interestingly, we found a statistically significant TOT effect only for stable task-set maintenance and not for adaptive task control. This finding gives further support for dissociation between adaptive versus stable networks. Furthermore, for stable task-set maintenance, there was primarily a decrease of activation in task-positive and an increase in task-negative (our task) or DMN regions (Fox et al., 2005; Fransson, 2005) as a function of TOT.

A previous study found reduction of CBF in a frontoparietal task-positive attention network after 20 min of

performing a psychomotor vigilance task, which was related to decreased task performance (Lim et al., 2010). Others have found decreased BOLD response in taskpositive networks that were unrelated to behavioral performance as the task progressed, leading the authors to attribute their findings mainly to habituation effects (Tana et al., 2010; Butti et al., 2006). The fact that TOT effects in our study were both positive and negative and overlapping with the original task-positive and task-negative networks makes it unlikely that the BOLD response changes are because of general habituation effects or global signal changes (Fox, Zhang, Snyder, & Raichle, 2009). The global fMRI signal may change over time, particularly in paradigms lasting for an extended period (e.g., because of scanner drift). Such effects were minimized in this study, both by application of conventional filtering of the data as well as by using a well-balanced task design and analysis approach (see Methods section). Although this balanced design theoretically reduced the sensitivity for detecting TOT effects (e.g., by collapsing two runs), it actually increased the specificity. Global signal effects are also unlikely for the present findings in particular, as there is evidence that the global signal is primarily not localized in the currently activated regions, resembling anticorrelated regions typically found in resting-state fMRI studies (Fox et al., 2009).

Both increases in attentional demands and self-reported level of fatigue have previously been associated with increased activations within typical task-positive areas and decreased activations in typical task-negative areas (Cook et al., 2007; McKiernan, Kaufman, Kucera-Thompson, & Binder, 2003), which is the opposite of the TOT effect in this study. Moreover, stimulus-independent thoughts have been associated with decreased activity in task-positive areas and increased activity in task-negative regions (McGuire, Paulesu, Frackowiak, & Frith, 1996). However, it has also been suggested that activation in DMN areas is involved in prospective planning (Buckner, Andrews-Hanna, & Schacter, 2008), which may suggest that increased activation in DMN areas may play a role in a proactive attention control system (Braver, 2012).

The general behavioral effect of TOT in our task was a linear decrease in performance on detectability and increase in RT and omission errors as well as increased β . This general worsening of performance with increased TOT is in accordance with previous research (Langner et al., 2010). Although there was a general decrease in performance, the RT and detectability curves could not be fully understood without also investigating nonlinear effects. The fact that these measures were more fluctuating with time could mean that they are supported by different underlying neural networks than those that elicit omission errors and higher β . However, we were not able to confirm this hypothesis in our fMRI analyses, which failed to reveal any statistically significant relationships between any of the behavioral CPT measures and BOLD activity for the stable task-set maintenance contrast.

Interestingly, there was a lack of significant TOT effects for commission errors. Along with increased RT, omission errors, and response style (β) scores, this may be an indication of a change to a more cautious response style with TOT, represented by an increased threshold for not-X responses. This interpretation may shed further light on the finding that TOT affected only neural activity related to stable task-set maintenance rather than dynamic control adjustments, as changes in the overall strategy (task-set) would be expected to mainly influence the former.

Summary and Conclusion

This study demonstrates novel aspects of the neural underpinnings of stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control in 87 healthy participants, using a mixed block and event-related fMRI design. The results support the existence of an overlapping core network for cognitive control. In addition, we were able to map distinct brain regions underlying cognitive control during not-X CPT performance, which operates and reacts on different temporal scales. The results also indicate a rostro-caudal distribution in the frontal cortex where stable task-set maintenance is located more posteriorly in regions considered to be related to more general functions, whereas adaptive task control is located more anteriorly where more demanding and perhaps domain-specific operations are considered to be performed. Only the stable task-set maintenance network, and not the adaptive task control network, exhibited a TOT effect. The TOT effects in the stable task-set maintenance network were related to a decrease in task-positive activation and a parallel increase in task-negative/DMN activation.

A particular strength of the current study is the high number of participants and statistical power, which allowed for whole-brain analyses without abandoning strict thresholds for statistical significance and correction for multiple comparisons. This study contributes new knowledge by combining one of the most commonly administered cognitive tests with more recent, innovative neurocognitive theoretical perspectives and methods. This knowledge may give rise to valuable new questions within basic and clinical attention research as well as new perspectives for interpretation of clinical CPT results.

Reprint requests should be sent to Alexander Olsen, MI Lab and Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Postboks 8905, 7491 Trondheim, Norway, or via e-mail: alexander.olsen@ntnu.no.

REFERENCES

- Altmann, E. M., & Gray, W. D. (2002). Forgetting to remember: The functional relationship of decay and interference. *Psychological Science*, 13, 27–33.
- Anderson, J. L. R., Jenkinson, M., & Smith, S. (2007a). Non-linear optimisation. Oxford: FMRIB Centre.

- Anderson, J. L. R., Jenkinson, M., & Smith, S. (2007b). Non-linear registration aka spatial normalisation. Oxford: FMRIB Centre.
- Badre, D. (2008). Cognitive control, hierarchy, and the rostro-caudal organization of the frontal lobes. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 12,* 193–200.
- Badre, D., & D'Esposito, M. (2007). Functional magnetic resonance imaging evidence for a hierarchical organization of the prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *19*, 2082–2099.
- Badre, D., & D'Esposito, M. (2009). Is the rostro-caudal axis of the frontal lobe hierarchical? *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10, 659–669.
- Balleine, B. W., Delgado, M. R., & Hikosaka, O. (2007). The role of the dorsal striatum in reward and decision-making. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27, 8161–8165.
- Binder, J. R., Desai, R. H., Graves, W. W., & Conant, L. L. (2009). Where is the semantic system? A critical review and meta-analysis of 120 functional neuroimaging studies. *Cerebral Cortex*, 19, 2767–2796.
- Boehler, C. N., Appelbaum, L. G., Krebs, R. M., Hopf, J. M., & Woldorff, M. G. (2010). Pinning down response inhibition in the brain-conjunction analyses of the stop-signal task. *Neuroimage*, 52, 1621–1632.
- Braver, T. S. (2012). The variable nature of cognitive control: A dual mechanisms framework. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *16*, 106–113.
- Buckner, R. L., Andrews-Hanna, J. R., & Schacter, D. L. (2008). The brain's default network: Anatomy, function, and relevance to disease. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1124*, 1–38.
- Butti, M., Pastori, A., Merzagora, A., Bianchi, A., Bardoni, A., Branca, V., et al. (2006). Combining near infrared spectroscopy and functional MRI during continuous performance test in healthy subjects. *Conference Proceedings: IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society*, *1*, 1944–1947.
- Conners, C. K., Epstein, J. N., Angold, A., & Klaric, J. (2003). Continuous performance test performance in a normative epidemiological sample. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 31, 555–562.
- Cook, D. B., O'Connor, P. J., Lange, G., & Steffener, J. (2007). Functional neuroimaging correlates of mental fatigue induced by cognition among chronic fatigue syndrome patients and controls. *Neuroimage*, *36*, 108–122.
- Corbetta, M., & Shulman, G. L. (2002). Control of goal-directed and stimulus-driven attention in the brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *3*, 201–215.
- Desmet, C., Fias, W., Hartstra, E., & Brass, M. (2011). Errors and conflict at the task level and the response level. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31, 1366–1374.
- Dosenbach, N. U., Fair, D. A., Cohen, A. L., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2008). A dual-networks architecture of top-down control. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 12, 99–105.
- Dosenbach, N. U., Fair, D. A., Miezin, F. M., Cohen, A. L., Wenger, K. K., Dosenbach, R. A., et al. (2007). Distinct brain networks for adaptive and stable task control in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A., 104,* 11073–11078.
 Dosenbach, N. U., Visscher, K. M., Palmer, E. D., Miezin, F. M.,
- Dosenbach, N. U., Visscher, K. M., Palmer, E. D., Miezin, F. M. Wenger, K. K., Kang, H. C., et al. (2006). A core system for the implementation of task sets. *Neuron*, 50, 799–812.
- Ettinger, U., Ffytche, D. H., Kumari, V., Kathmann, N., Reuter, B., Zelaya, F., et al. (2008). Decomposing the neural correlates of antisaccade eye movements using event-related fMRI. *Cerebral Cortex*, 18, 1148–1159.
- Fan, J., McCandliss, B. D., Fossella, J., Flombaum, J. I., & Posner, M. I. (2005). The activation of attentional networks. *Neuroimage*, 26, 471–479.

Olsen et al. 917

Forstmann, B. U., van den Wildenberg, W. P., & Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2008). Neural mechanisms, temporal dynamics, and individual differences in interference control. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20, 1854–1865.

Fox, M. D., Snyder, A. Z., Vincent, J. L., Corbetta, M., Van Essen, D. C., & Raichle, M. E. (2005). The human brain is intrinsically organized into dynamic, anticorrelated functional networks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A.*, 102, 9673–9678.

Fox, M. D., Zhang, D., Snyder, A. Z., & Raichle, M. E. (2009). The global signal and observed anticorrelated resting state brain networks. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 101, 3270–3283.

Fransson, P. (2005). Spontaneous low-frequency BOLD signal fluctuations: An fMRI investigation of the resting-state default mode of brain function hypothesis. *Human Brain Mapping*, 26, 15–29.

Ghajar, J., & Ivry, R. B. (2009). The predictive brain state: Asynchrony in disorders of attention? *Neuroscientist*, 15, 232–242.

Green, D. M., & Swets, J. A. (1966). Signal detection theory and psychophysics. New York: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Hartwigsen, G., Bestmann, S., Ward, N. S., Woerbel, S., Mastroeni, C., Granert, O., et al. (2012). Left dorsal premotor cortex and supramarginal gyrus complement each other during rapid action reprogramming. *Journal* of *Neuroscience*, 32, 16162–16171.

Heyder, K., Suchan, B., & Daum, I. (2004). Cortico-subcortical contributions to executive control. Acta Psychologica (Amsterdam), 115, 271–289.

Holland, D., Kuperman, J. M., & Dale, A. M. (2010). Efficient correction of inhomogeneous static magnetic field-induced distortion in echo planar imaging. *Neuroimage*, 50, 175–183.

Hu, S., & Li, C. S. (2012). Neural processes of preparatory control for stop signal inhibition. *Human Brain Mapping*, 33, 2785–2796.

Jenkinson, M., Bannister, P., Brady, M., & Smith, S. (2002). Improved optimization for the robust and accurate linear registration and motion correction of brain images. *Neuroimage*, 17, 825–841.

Jenkinson, M., & Smith, S. (2001). A global optimisation method for robust affine registration of brain images. *Medical Image Analysis*, 5, 143–156.

Kelly, A. M., Uddin, L. Q., Biswal, B. B., Castellanos, F. X., & Milham, M. P. (2008). Competition between functional brain networks mediates behavioral variability. *Neuroimage*, 39, 527–537.

Kim, C., Chung, C., & Kim, J. (2012). Conflict adjustment through domain-specific multiple cognitive control mechanisms. *Brain Research*, 1444, 55–64.

Kim, C., Johnson, N. F., Cilles, S. E., & Gold, B. T. (2011). Common and distinct mechanisms of cognitive flexibility in prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31, 4771–4779.

prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*, 4771–4779. Koechlin, E., Ody, C., & Kouneiher, F. (2003). The architecture of cognitive control in the human prefrontal cortex. *Science*, *302*, 1181–1185.

Koechlin, E., & Summerfield, C. (2007). An information theoretical approach to prefrontal executive function. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 11, 229–235.

Langner, R., Steinborn, M. B., Chatterjee, A., Sturm, W., & Willmes, K. (2010). Mental fatigue and temporal preparation in simple reaction-time performance. *Acta Psychologica* (*Amsterdam*), 133, 64–72.

Laufer, I., Negishi, M., Lacadie, C. M., Papademetris, X., & Constable, R. T. (2011). Dissociation between the activity of the right middle frontal gyrus and the middle temporal gyrus in processing semantic priming. *PLoS One, 6*, e22368.

Lieberman, M. D., & Cunningham, W. A. (2009). Type I and type II error concerns in fMRI research: Re-balancing the scale. Social Cognitive & Affective Neuroscience, 4, 423–428. Lim, J., Wu, W. C., Wang, J., Detre, J. A., Dinges, D. F., & Rao, H. (2010). Imaging brain fatigue from sustained mental workload: An ASL perfusion study of the time-on-task effect. *Neuroimage*, 49, 3426–3435.

Little, D. M., Kraus, M. F., Joseph, J., Geary, E. K., Susmaras, T., Zhou, X. J., et al. (2010). Thalamic integrity underlies executive dysfunction in traumatic brain injury. *Neurology*, 74, 558–564.

Mathiak, K. A., Klasen, M., Weber, R., Ackermann, H., Shergill, S. S., & Mathiak, K. (2011). Reward system and temporal pole contributions to affective evaluation during a first person shooter video game. *BMC Neuroscience*, 12, 66.

McGuire, P. K., Paulesu, E., Frackowiak, R. S., & Frith, C. D. (1996). Brain activity during stimulus independent thought. *NeuroReport*, 7, 2095–2099.

McKiernan, K. A., Kaufman, J. N., Kucera-Thompson, J., & Binder, J. R. (2003). A parametric manipulation of factors affecting task-induced deactivation in functional neuroimaging. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 15, 394–408.

Menon, V., & Uddin, L. Q. (2010). Saliency, switching, attention and control: A network model of insula function. *Brain Structure & Function*, 214, 655–667.

Nee, D. E., Kastner, S., & Brown, J. W. (2011). Functional heterogeneity of conflict, error, task-switching, and unexpectedness effects within medial prefrontal cortex. *Neuroimage*, 54, 528–540.

Nelson, S. M., Dosenbach, N. U., Cohen, A. L., Wheeler, M. E., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2010). Role of the anterior insula in task-level control and focal attention. *Brain Structure & Function*, 214, 669–680.

Ogg, R. J., Zou, P., Allen, D. N., Hutchins, S. B., Dutkiewicz, R. M., & Mulhern, R. K. (2008). Neural correlates of a clinical continuous performance test. *Magnetic Resonance Imaging*. 26, 504–512.

Imaging, 26, 504–512. Petersen, S. E., & Dubis, J. W. (2012). The mixed block/ event-related design. *Neuroimage*, 62, 1177–1184.

event-related design. *Neuroimage*, 62, 1177–1184. Posner, M. I., & Rothbart, M. K. (2007). Research on attention networks as a model for the integration of psychological science. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 1–23.

Rabin, L. A., Barr, W. B., & Burton, L. A. (2005). Assessment practices of clinical neuropsychologists in the United States and Canada: A survey of INS, NAN, and APA division 40 members. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 20, 33–65.

Raz, A., & Buhle, J. (2006). Typologies of attentional networks. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 7, 367–379.

Riccio, C. A., & Reynolds, C. R. (2001). Continuous performance tests are sensitive to ADHD in adults but lack specificity.
A review and critique for differential diagnosis. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 931, 113–139.
Riccio, C. A., Reynolds, C. R., Lowe, P., & Moore, J. J. (2002).

Riccio, C. A., Reynolds, C. R., Lowe, P., & Moore, J. J. (2002). The continuous performance test: A window on the neural substrates for attention? *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 17, 235–272.

Rotshtein, P., Soto, D., Grecucci, A., Geng, J. J., & Humphreys, G. W. (2011). The role of the pulvinar in resolving competition between memory and visual selection: A functional connectivity study. *Neuropsychologia*, 49, 1544–1552.

Rypma, B., Prabhakaran, V., Desmond, J. E., Glover, G. H., & Gabrieli, J. D. (1999). Load-dependent roles of frontal brain regions in the maintenance of working memory. *Neuroimage*, 9, 216–226.

Seeley, W. W., Menon, V., Schatzberg, A. F., Keller, J., Glover, G. H., Kenna, H., et al. (2007). Dissociable intrinsic connectivity networks for salience processing and executive control. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *27*, 2349–2356.

Volume 25, Number 6

918 Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience

- Seger, C. A. (2008). How do the basal ganglia contribute to categorization? Their roles in generalization, response selection, and learning via feedback. *Neuroscience & Biobebavioral Reviews*, *32*, 265–278.
- Smith, S. M. (2002). Fast robust automated brain extraction. *Human Brain Mapping*, 17, 143–155.
 Stoeckel, C., Gough, P. M., Watkins, K. E., & Devlin, J. T.
- Stoeckel, C., Gough, P. M., Watkins, K. E., & Devlin, J. T. (2009). Supramarginal gyrus involvement in visual word recognition. *Cortex*, 45, 1091–1096.
- Tana, M. G., Montin, E., Cerutti, S., & Bianchi, A. M. (2010). Exploring cortical attentional system by using fMRI during a Continuous Performance Test. *Computational Intelligence* and Neuroscience, 329213.
- Taren, A. A., Venkatraman, V., & Huettel, S. A. (2011). A parallel functional topography between medial and lateral prefrontal cortex: Evidence and implications for cognitive control. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31, 5026–5031.
- Taylor, P. C., Nobre, A. C., & Rushworth, M. F. (2007). Subsecond changes in top down control exerted by human medial frontal cortex during conflict and action selection: A combined transcranial magnetic stimulation electroencephalography study. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27, 11343–11353.
- Thyreau, B., Schwartz, Y., Thirion, B., Frouin, V., Loth, E., Vollstädt-Klein, S., et al. (2012). Very large fMRI study using the

IMAGEN database: Sensitivity–specificity and population effect modeling in relation to the underlying anatomy. *Neuroimage*, *61*, 295–303.

- Van der Werf, Y. D., Witter, M. P., Uylings, H. B., & Jolles, J. (2000). Neuropsychology of infarctions in the thalamus: A review. *Neuropsychologia*, 38, 613–627.
- Venkatraman, V., Rosati, A. G., Taren, A. A., & Huettel, S. A. (2009). Resolving response, decision, and strategic control: Evidence for a functional topography in dorsomedial prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29, 13158–13164.
- Visser, M., Jefferies, E., Embleton, K. V., & Lambon Ralph, M. A. (2012). Both the middle temporal gyrus and the ventral anterior temporal area are crucial for multimodal semantic processing: Distortion-corrected fMRI evidence for a double gradient of information convergence in the temporal lobes. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 24, 1766–1778.
- Weissman, D. H., Roberts, K. C., Visscher, K. M., & Woldorff, M. G. (2006). The neural bases of momentary lapses in attention. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9, 971–978.
- Wilk, H. A., Ezekiel, F., & Morton, J. B. (2012). Brain regions associated with moment-to-moment adjustments in control and stable task-set maintenance. *Neuroimage*, 59, 1960–1967.

Paper II

Is not included due to copyright

Paper III

Cerebral Cortex Advance Access published February 20, 2014

Cerebral Cortex doi:10.1093/cercor/bhu023

Altered Cognitive Control Activations after Moderate-to-Severe Traumatic Brain Injury and Their Relationship to Injury Severity and Everyday-Life Function

Alexander Olsen^{1,6}, Jan Ferenc Brunner^{2,6}, Kari Anne Indredavik Evensen^{3,4,11}, Torun Gangaune Finnanger^{5,7}, Anne Vik^{2,8}, Toril Skandsen^{2,6}, Nils Inge Landrø^{9,12} and Asta Kristine Håberg^{2,10}

¹MI-Lab and Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging, ²Department of Neuroscience, ³Department of Public Health and General Practice, ⁴Department of Laboratory Medicine, Children's and Women's Health and ⁵The Regional Centre for Child and Youth Mental Health and Child Welfare (RKBU) – Central Norway, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway, ⁶Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, ⁷Children's Clinic, ⁸Department of Neurosurgery, ⁹National Competence Centre for Complex Symptom Disorders and ¹⁰Department of Radiology, St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway, ¹¹Department of Physiotherapy, Trondheim Municipality, Trondheim, Norway and ¹²Clinical Neuroscience Research Group, Department of Psychology, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

Address correspondence to Alexander Olsen, MI-Lab and Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Postboks 8905, 7491 Trondheim, Norway. Email: alexander.olsen@ntnu.no

This study investigated how the neuronal underpinnings of both adaptive and stable cognitive control processes are affected by traumatic brain injury (TBI). Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) was undertaken in 62 survivors of moderate-to-severe TBI (>1 year after injury) and 68 healthy controls during performance of a continuous performance test adapted for use in a mixed block- and event-related design. Survivors of TBI demonstrated increased reliance on adaptive task control processes within an a priori core region for cognitive control in the medial frontal cortex. TBI survivors also had increased activations related to time-on-task effects during stable task-set maintenance in right inferior parietal and prefrontal cortices. Increased brain activations in TBI survivors had a dose-dependent linear positive relationship to injury severity and were negatively correlated with self-reported cognitive control problems in everyday-life situations. Results were adjusted for age, education, and fMRI task performance. In conclusion, evidence was provided that the neural underpinnings of adaptive and stable control processes are differently affected by TBI. Moreover, it was demonstrated that increased brain activations typically observed in survivors of TBI might represent injury-specific compensatory adaptations also utilized in everyday-life situations.

Keywords: cognitive control, compensation, continuous performance test, executive function, fMRI, time-on-task

Introduction

Moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury (TBI) can cause varying degrees of cognitive control deficits, which in turn have negative impact on long-term functional outcome (Draper and Ponsford 2008; Ponsford et al. 2008). Cognitive control is supported by overlapping and distinct brain regions operating on different temporal scales (Dosenbach et al. 2006; Olsen et al. 2013). Processes such as response conflict- and error processing (Desmet et al. 2011; Nee et al. 2011) operate within a rapid reactive "adaptive" temporal scale, whereas sustained attention (Ogg et al. 2008) and stable task-set maintenance (Altmann and Gray 2002) are believed to be supported by proactive "stable" processes. The balance between adaptive and stable control processes has been shown to shift in aging (Paxton et al. 2008) and schizophrenia (Edwards et al. 2010)

© The Author 2014. Published by Oxford University Press.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/3.0/), which permits non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact journals. permissions@oup.com

toward relying more on adaptive processes relative to stable. This emphasizes the dissociation between the different temporal systems and demonstrates their vulnerability to ageing and disease as well as indicates potential compensatory mechanisms (Braver 2012). Furthermore, only the stable control system seems to be altered as an effect of time-on-task (TOT) (Olsen et al. 2013), suggesting that this network may be particularly prone to the effects of cognitive fatigue (Cook et al. 2007). Cognitive fatigue is prevalent after TBI and has been related to the need for increased effort during task performance (Ponsford et al. 2012). It is still an open question whether adaptive and stable control systems are affected differently by TBI.

A region active during both adaptive and stable control processes has reliably been observed in the medial frontal cortex (MFC) in healthy participants (Dosenbach et al. 2006; Olsen et al. 2013). Interestingly, this brain region is also of particular interest after TBI, as demonstrated in several functional imaging studies (Scheibel et al. 2007; Hillary 2008; Rasmussen et al. 2008; Cazalis et al. 2011; Sozda et al. 2011). Indeed, the MFC is among the brain regions most consistently demonstrated to have altered blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) signal in several neurologic populations, including TBI (Hillary 2008). Accordingly, the core region for cognitive control within the MFC is potentially a key region for understanding how both adaptive and stable control processes are affected by TBI.

Previous functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies have typically shown that survivors of moderate-tosevere TBI exhibit both increased and more widespread brain activations during performance of various cognitive tasks (Christodoulou et al. 2001; Scheibel et al. 2007; Rasmussen et al. 2008). It has been proposed that TBI survivors engage more neuronal resources to uphold adequate performance levels related to cognitive control (Turner and Levine 2008; Kohl et al. 2009; Turner et al. 2011). Increased BOLD activation after TBI has been positively correlated with both more severe injury and better fMRI task performance (Newsome et al. 2007; Scheibel et al. 2007, 2009), lending some support to its role as an injury-specific compensatory mechanism. However, whether increased activation after TBI represent true compensatory mechanisms has yet to be elucidated (Hillary 2008, 2011). Moreover, the majority of previous fMRI studies on the effects of TBI have included relatively small heterogeneous samples, often reported imaging results uncorrected for multiple comparisons and/or failed to adjust for established outcome moderators such as age and education. It is therefore a need for further validation in sufficiently powered samples in order to establish the significance of previous findings.

Furthermore, a limitation when interpreting the functional role of BOLD activations in relation to task performance is that the 2 are inevitably related merely due to the way analyses are traditionally performed (Price et al. 2006; Hillary 2008). Consequently, it is considered crucial for the validity of BOLD activation differences between healthy controls and neurologically impaired participants that fMRI task performance is kept highly similar between groups and/or adjusted for (Price et al. 2006). Another implication of the tight coupling between fMRI task performance and brain activations is that validation of the functional significance of BOLD alterations should ideally rely on other measures than fMRI task performance (or highly similar neuropsychological tests) as such. Consequently, in contrast to previous studies, the present study implemented an alternative approach by utilizing the Behavioral Rating Inventory of Executive Function-Adult version (BRIEF-A) (Roth et al. 2005), which is a comprehensive and well-validated self-report measure of cognitive control function in everyday-life situations (Garcia-Molina et al. 2012; Lovstad et al. 2012; Waid-Ebbs et al. 2012).

In this study, the neuronal correlates of adaptive and stable control processes in moderate-to-severe TBI were investigated using a continuous performance test (Conners et al. 2003) adapted for use in a mixed block- and event-related fMRI design (Olsen et al. 2013). This particular test was chosen because of its extensive use in clinical settings (Rabin et al. 2005), well-described psychometric abilities (Riccio et al. 2002; Conners et al. 2003), capacity to measure both stable and adaptive control processes (Olsen et al. 2013), as well as having relatively simple task demands. The latter was important to ensure that both TBI survivors and healthy controls could perform the test accurately, which is a prerequisite for the validity of fMRI studies with neurological populations (Price et al. 2006).

Extending previous studies, both stable and adaptive control processes were investigated in order to delineate adaptations of these neural systems as a consequence of brain injury. First, 1) it was hypothesized that TBI survivors would demonstrate a shift toward relying more on adaptive task control processes (Paxton et al. 2008; Edwards et al. 2010; Braver 2012) within a predefined core region for cognitive control in the MFC (Olsen et al. 2013). Secondly, 2) it was predicted that TBI survivors would exhibit increased and more widespread BOLD activation (Christodoulou et al. 2001; Scheibel et al. 2007; Rasmussen et al. 2008) related to stable task-set maintenance TOT increases (Olsen et al. 2013), possibly in order to uphold adequate performance levels despite cognitive fatigue (Cook et al. 2007; Kohl et al. 2009). Finally, in order to explore the functional significance of possible BOLD alterations, 3) it was investigated whether such alterations would show a dose relationship with injury severity, and 4) if it was correlated with cognitive control function in everyday-life situations as measured with BRIEF-A (Roth et al. 2005), while controlling for fMRI task performance and the established outcome moderators age and education.

2 Cognitive Control Activations after TBI • Olsen et al.

Materials and Methods

Participants

A total of 73 survivors with chronic moderate-to-severe TBI according to the criteria set by the Head Injury Severity Scale (HISS) (Stein and Spettell 1995) and 78 age-, sex-, and education-matched healthy controls were recruited for the present study. TBI survivors were recruited from a database of patients previously admitted to the Department of Neurosurgery, St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway. Details on how demographic and injury-related data were prospectively collected in the acute stage have been previously described (Skandsen et al. 2010). Glasgow outcome scale extended (GOSE) was administered at the time of fMRI. A self-report form and an interview were used to assess years of completed education. Healthy controls were recruited from friends and family of TBI patients, as well as from workplaces in Trondheim, Norway.

Inclusion criteria for both groups included being between 14- and 65-years old the year the testing was performed, fluency in the Norwegian language, ability to cooperate during fMRI testing, absence of previous moderate or severe head injury, diagnosed neurologic or psychiatric condition, as well as MRI incompatible implants. Eleven TBI survivors were excluded from further analysis: 3 due to missing fMRI data, 5 due to excessive movement (defined as relative displacement of >0.5 mm in any direction), 2 due to falling asleep during scanning, and 1 due to previously diagnosed psychiatric or neurologic disease that was not discovered before the day of scanning. This left 62 TBI survivors (17 women), for the full analyses in this study. Patient characteristics are presented in Table 1. Ten healthy controls were excluded: 3 because of missing data due to technical problems, 2 due to previously diagnosed psychiatric or neurologic conditions discovered at the day of testing, 4 due to excessive movement (defined as relative displacement of >0.5 mm in any direction), and 1 due to excessive fMRI artifacts. A total of 68 healthy controls (20 women) were hence included in the full analyses in this study. An independent t-test revealed no statistically significant age difference (P=0.86) between TBI survivors (M = 32.4, SD = 14.2) and healthy controls (M = 33.8, SD = 13.6).

Tahlo	1		
Ianic			

Descriptive data characte	rizing 1	TBI	survivors
---------------------------	----------	-----	-----------

Variable Years since injury ^a GCS score ^a PTA duration Short (<7 days) Long (≥7 days) Missing data Injury mechanism Vehicle accident Falls Skiing accident Other/unknown Early MRI: TAI grading No TAI TAI 1 TAI 2 TAI 3 Missing data Early MRI: cortical contusi No contusions One 2 or more Missing data GOSE score at fMRI testim Moderate disability	Total (n	= 62)	Modera	ite (n = 35)	Severe ($n = 27$)		
	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	
Years since injury ^a	2.8	1.5–5.4	2.7	1.5–5.4	3	1.5-5.4	
GCS score ^a	9	3-14	12	9-14	6	3-8	
PTA duration							
Short (<7 days)	35	56.5	24	68.6	11	40.7	
Long ($\geq 7 \text{ days}$)	24	38.7	10	28.6	14	51.9	
Missing data	3	4.8	1	2.9	2	7.4	
Injury mechanism							
Vehicle accident	30	48.4	15	42.9	15	55.6	
Falls	25	40.3	13	37.1	12	44.4	
Skiing accident	3	4.8	3	8.6	0	0	
Other/unknown	4	6.5	4	11.5	0	0	
Early MRI: TAI grading							
No TAI	18	29.0	14	40.0	4	14.8	
TAI 1	18	29.0	7	20.0	11	40.7	
TAI 2	18	29.0	11	31.4	7	25.9	
TAI 3	6	9.7	2	5.7	4	14.8	
Missing data	2	3.2	1	2.9	1	3.7	
Early MRI: cortical contu:	sions						
No contusions	15	24.2	9	25.7	6	22.2	
One	14	22.6	7	20	7	25.9	
2 or more	31	50.0	18	51.4	13	48.1	
Missing data	2	3.2	1	2.9	1	3.7	
GOSE score at fMRI testi	ng						
Moderate disability	25	40.3	13	37.1	12	44.4	
Good recovery	37	59.7	22	62.9	15	55.6	

Note: Descriptive data for the total TBI group, and moderate and severe TBI as defined by the Head Injury Severity Scale (HISS). TAI, traumatic axonal injury based on radiological evaluation of T2*, FLAIR and T2 images in the early phase (see Skandsen et al. 2010 for details).

GCS, Glasgow coma scale; PTA, post-traumatic amnesia; GOSE, Glasgow outcome scale extended: Good recovery. GOSE score 7–8: Moderate disability. GOSE score 5–6.

^aNumbers representing GCS and years since injury are given as medians and ranges.

Neither was there a statistically significant difference in years of completed education (P = 0.57) between TBI survivors (M = 12.0, SD = 2.3) and healthy controls (M = 12.1, SD = 2.2). Written informed consent was obtained (also from parents if participants were under the age of 18). The study protocol adhered to the Helsinki Declaration and was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics.

Design of fMRI Task

An in-house-developed Not-X CPT (Olsen et al. 2013) inspired by the Conners' CPT (Conners et al. 2003) was presented to the participants in a mixed block- and event-related BOLD fMRI design (Petersen and Dubis 2012). The task consisted of a total of 480 stimuli, divided into 432 targets and 48 non-targets (10%). Targets consisted of randomly chosen letters (A-Z) other than "X," and non-targets were the letter X. Each stimulus was presented on the screen for 250 ms. The task was presented as 2 consecutive ~15-min runs, where each run consisted of 16 interleaving task blocks and 16 baseline (fixation cross) blocks. Each block contained 15 stimuli, and both inter-block intervals (IBIs) and inter-stimuli intervals (ISIs) were randomly scrambled within each block (with 6 IBIs of 14 s, 5 IBIs of 16 s, and 5 IBIs of 18 s and 5 ISIs of 1 s, 5 ISIs of 2 s, and 5 ISIs of 4 s). The jittered presentation of ISIs ensured sampling of different time points of the hemodynamic response curve, allowing for event-related fMRI analysis (Petersen and Dubis 2012). Counterbalancing was applied to eliminate systematic effects of ISI, IBI, or order of the different stimulus types (targets and non-targets). The task design was implemented using Matlab (The MathWorks, Inc., Natick, USA).

Not-X CPT Paradigm Procedure

Participants were instructed to respond as fast and accurately as possible by pressing a response button whenever a target (A-Z) was presented on the screen, and to withhold their response whenever the letter X appeared. All participants went through a practice session using a desktop computer outside the scanner room together with an experimenter who ensured that each individual performed the task as intended before the actual fMRI session. E-prime 1.2 (Psychology Software Tools, Pittsburgh, USA) was used for stimulus presentation and timing of stimuli. MRI-compatible video-goggles (VisualSystem, Nordic NeuroLab, Bergen, Norway) were used for visual presentation during scanning for 95 subjects. Due to technical problems with the goggles, the remaining subjects had to use a head-coil-mounted mirror system and a MRI compatible monitor (Siemens AG, Erlangen, Germany). Using photo diodes and an oscilloscope, a difference of ~60-ms stimulus onset delay was detected for the monitor relative to the goggles, which was adjusted for during post-processing of response- and fMRI data. A fiber optic response grip (ResponseGrip, Nordic NeuroLab, Bergen, Norway) was used for registration of subject responses, and all behavioral data were stored in individual log files by utilizing a customized Python-based log-script interacting with E-prime.

Self-Report Measure of Cognitive Control

The BRIEF-A was used as a self-report measure of cognitive control (Roth et al. 2005). BRIEF-A is a 75-item self-report questionnaire that provides 9 subscales measuring different domains of cognitive control: 1) inhibit, 2) Shift, 3) Emotional Control, 4) Self-Monitor, 5) Initiae, 6) Working Memory, 7) Plan/Organize, 8) Task Monitor, and 9) Organization of Materials. Participants were asked to indicate the frequency of the statement belonging to each item on a 3-point Likert scale (1—never, 2—sometimes, and 3—often). Based on these subscales, a Behavioral Regulation Index (BRI, sum of subscales 1–4), Metacognition Index (MI, sum of subscales 5–9), and a Global Executive Composite score (GEC, sum of subscales 1–9) were calculated and used for further analyses in this study.

Three healthy controls had one missing single item score each. In these cases, missing scores were handled according to recommendations in the BRIEF-A manual, by replacing the missing value with the value 1 (never). One healthy control had 7 missing single item scores and was excluded from further analyses involving BRIEF-A. There was no missing data for BRIEF-A in the TBI group.

MRI Scanning

All MRI data were acquired on a Siemens Trio with a 12-channel Head Matrix Coil (Siemens AG). Head motion was reduced by the use of foam pads around the subjects' heads. During Not-X CPT performance -380 T2* weighted, BOLD-sensitive volumes were acquired for each "run," using an echo-planar imaging pulse sequence with TR of 2400 ms. TE of 35 ms. FOV of 244 mm. matrix of 80 × 80. slice thickness of 3 mm, and a total of 40 slices, giving an in-plane resolution of $3\!\times\!3$ mm. Slices were positioned transversal along the A-P axis. Before each "run," 2 spin echo sequences (TR = 2010 ms, TE = 35 ms, FOV = 244mm, slice thickness = 3 mm, and matrix 80 × 80, giving an in-plane resolution of $3\times3\,\text{mm})$ with opposite phase encoding (A–P and P–A) were acquired for correction of static magnetic field-induced distortion (Holland et al. 2010). For anatomical reference, a T1-weighted 3D MPRAGE volume was acquired (TR = 2300 ms, TE = 30 ms, FOV = 256 mm, slice thickness = 1.2 mm, and matrix 256×256 , giving an in-plane resolution of 1×1 mm).

Analysis of Behavioral Data

IBM SPSS 20.0 was used for statistical processing of behavioral data. Based on the behavioral raw data from the Not-X CPT task, the following CPT measures were calculated: "Hit Reaction Time," "Hit Reaction Time Standard Error," "Omission Errors," "Commission Errors. "Response style (β)," and "Detectability (d')" (Conners et al. 2003; Olsen et al. 2013). To investigate TOT effects, the Not-X CPT task was divided into 4 time epochs after collapsing "run 1" and "run 2." Each time epoch was of equal length and balanced with regard to all task demands. A previous study demonstrated that the majority of TOT-related brain activation changes could be detected by comparing time epoch 1 with time epoch 4 of the test (Olsen et al. 2013). The focus was therefore on the first and last quarter of the task when investigating TOT effects in this study. To get a representation of each individuals change in behavioral performance with TOT, difference scores (Δ) were computed for each Not-X CPT measure by subtracting the value from time epoch 1 from the value from time epoch 4: Δ = time epoch 4 - time epoch 1.

In order to assess group differences, separate (for Not-X CPT performance and \triangle Not-X CPT performance) 2 × 6 multivariate analyses of variance (MANOVA) were applied, with group as a fixed factor (healthy controls, TBI survivors), and the 6 performance measures as dependent variables. As it is considered to be important for the validity of fMRI studies with neurological populations that performance is similar between the groups that are compared (Price et al. 2006), type II errors were a bigger concern than type I errors for these particular analyses. For exploratory and descriptive purposes, it was therefore decided to also assess and report univariate results and 95% CI for the difference of each single measure, even when the MANOVA did not reveal a statistically significant main effect. Partial ETA squared ($\eta\rho^2$) was calculated in order to investigate effect sizes.

A similar MANOVA as described earlier was applied for investigating between-group differences in self-reported (2×3 MANOVA, BRIEF-A) measures of cognitive control.

Analysis of MRI Data

Non-brain structures were removed with BET (Smith 2002) and motion correction done with MCFLIRT (Jenkinson et al. 2002). Correction of geometrical distortions was done as described by Holland et al. (2010). Then, the data were smoothed (Gaussian kernel FWHM 6 mm), grand mean intensity normalized, high pass temporal filtered (50 s for block analysis and 25 s for event-related analysis), before linear registration of fMRI data to native high-resolution space (T1 MPRAGE) using 7 degrees of freedom (Jenkinson and Smith 2001; Jenkinson et al. 2002), followed by nonlinear registration of individual high-resolution structural image to MNI152 1-mm standard template using 12 degrees of freedom and a 8-mm warp resolution (Anderson et al. 2007a, 2007b).

Whole-Brain and ROI Analyses

BOLD activity related to task blocks and individual trials was modeled using the general linear model. The hemodynamic response function was convolved with a standard Gamma variate. Initially, all contrasts were computed for each of the 2 "runs" separately and then combined using a fixed-effects model. Finally, mixed-effects models were used to create group average statistical images as well as investigate group differences for each individual contrast. Both whole-brain and ROI-based analyses were performed. For all whole-brain analyses, SPMs were corrected for multiple comparisons by using a cluster threshold of Z > 2.3, and a corrected cluster significance threshold of P < 0.05. Main peak Z-values with up to 5 local maxima and size of clusters (number of voxels) in standard $1 \times 1 \times 1$ mm MNI space were extracted. For anatomical denotation of location of activation, visual inspection and the Harvard Oxford cortical and subcortical structural brain atlases as incorporated in the FSL software were applied.

The stable task-set maintenance (task block > rest block) and adaptive task control (non-targets>targets) contrasts were created including data from the task as a whole (time epoch 1, 2, 3, and 4). First, an omnibus whole-brain analysis was performed in order to explore overall effects between healthy controls and TBI survivors. Second, according to the hypothesis regarding a shift toward more adaptive task control processing in TBI survivors, an ROI analysis was performed to specifically investigate differences in stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control in an a priori chosen 10-mm sphere region in the MFC (x = 5, y = 20, z = 41). This region was chosen due to its role in a core network for cognitive control, which activates reliably in relation to both stable and adaptive cognitive control processes (Dosenbach et al. 2006; Olsen et al. 2013). Also, this particular brain region is among the brain regions that most reliably have shown increased task-related activation in TBI survivors as compared with healthy controls (Hillary 2008). For this analysis, parameter estimates for BOLD signal changes were extracted from each individual participant, compared between patients and controls, and finally also related to TBI injury severity as defined by HISS (Stein and Spettell 1995). As age and education was originally matched on the whole group level (TBI vs. healthy controls), a 3×2 multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) was used with group as a fixed factor (healthy controls. moderate TBI, and severe TBI), BOLD contrasts as dependent variables (stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control), and age, years of completed education, and the 6 Not-X CPT performance measures as covariates.

In order to investigate TOT effects, the following contrasts were created: stable task-set maintenance TOT increase (task block time epoch 4>task block time epoch 1), stable task-set maintenance TOT decrease (task block time epoch 1 > task block time epoch 4), adaptive task control TOT increase (non-targets time epoch $4\,{>}\,{\rm non-targets}$ time epoch 1), and adaptive task control TOT decrease (non-targets time epoch 1 > non-targets time epoch 4). In addition to the a priori MFC ROI also used for the previously described stable and adaptive contrasts, ad-hoc ROI analyses were performed to demonstrate the between-group effects with regard to injury severity as defined by HISS (Stein and Spettell 1995). Spherical ROIs (10 mm) were based on main peaks in the right inferior parietal lobe (IPL) (x = 53, y = -43, z=36) and PFC (x=35, y=27, z=38) demonstrating statistically significant differences between TBI survivors and healthy controls in the whole-brain analyses of the TOT effect contrast (Table 4). As for the main contrasts, a MANCOVA was used, with group as a fixed factor (healthy controls, moderate TBI, and severe TBI) and ROIs as dependent variables. Age, years of completed education, and Δ Not-X CPT measures (the relevant performance measure for these particular contrasts) were used as covariates.

Relationships between fMRI and BRIEF-A

In order to investigate the functional significance of the Not-X CPT fMRI results, findings were related to a self-report measure of cognitive control (BRIEF-A). Separate partial correlation models were applied for TBI survivors and healthy controls. First, parameter estimates extracted from the "core network" MFC ROI in both the overall stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control contrasts and BRIEF-A measures were included in a partial correlation model. This model controlled for age, years of completed education, and Not-X CPT performance measures. For the TBI group, the model additionally controlled for GCS score, in order to adjust for general effects of injury severity. GCS was used as a covariate instead of HISS, as it is based on a continuous scale, which provided more variability in the scores, and hence represented a more appropriate and conservative approach for use in the partial correlation model. A similar partial correlation model was applied using the ad-hoc TOT stable task-set maintenance ROIs, controlling for Δ Not-X CPT measures in lieu of the overall Not-X CPT measures.

Results

Behavioral Results

Overall and Δ Not-X CPT performance was highly similar between TBI survivors and healthy controls, and no statistically significant differences were found between the groups (Table 2). However, TBI survivors reported significantly more everyday problems with cognitive control than healthy controls, on all 3 BRIEF-A measures (Table 3).

Imaging Results for Overall Stable Task-Set Maintenance and Adaptive Task Control

A MANCOVA was used to investigate differences across healthy controls and TBI survivors in BOLD activation in the a priori MFC ROI, related to stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control during the whole task. The assumption of homogeneity of regression slopes was not violated, indicating that the relationship between the dependent variables (stable task-set maintenance and adaptive task control) did not vary as a function of group (healthy controls, moderate TBI, and severe TBI), $F_{6, 252} = 1.828$, P = 0.094, and $\eta \rho^2 = 0.42$. There was a statistically significant main effect of group, $F_{4, 238} = 2.591$, P=0.037, and $\eta \rho^2 = 0.042$. Univariate analyses revealed that the main effect was driven by an effect for adaptive task control, $F_{10, 119} = 4.248$, P < 0.001, and $\eta \rho^2 = 0.263$. There was no statistically significant effect for stable task-set maintenance, $F_{10, 119} = 0.822$, P = 0.608, and $\eta \rho^2 = 0.065$. The planned polynomial contrast demonstrated a significant linear trend for adaptive task control, P = 0.004, indicating that BOLD activation increased proportionally with injury severity when adjusted for age, years of completed education, and Not-X CPT measures (Fig. 1). There were no statistically significant differences between TBI survivors and healthy controls for the 2 main contrasts, stable task-set maintenance (task block > rest block) and adaptive task control (non-targets > targets) in the omnibus whole-brain analyses.

Imaging Results for TOT Effects

TBI survivors had statistically significant larger increase in activation as an effect of TOT for the stable task-set maintenance contrast in right parietal and frontal areas, as compared with healthy controls (Table 4, Fig. 2). The assumption of homogeneity of regression slopes was met for the MANCOVA used for further investigation of stable task-set maintenance TOT effects within ROIs, $F_{9, 378} = 1.486$, P = 0.151, and $\eta \rho^2 = 0.034$. A significant main effect of group (healthy controls, moderate TBI, and severe TBI) was evident, $F_{6, 236} = 2.210$, P = 0.043, and ηp^2 = 0.053. This effect was driven by the effects of the right PFC ROI, $F_{10, 119} = 2.523$, P = 0.009, and $\eta \rho^2 = 0.175$, as well as the right IPL ROI, $F_{10, 119} = 2.919$, P = 0.003, and $\eta \rho^2 = 0.197$, whereas no statistically significant effect was present for the a priori chosen MFC ROI. Planned polynomial contrasts demonstrated that BOLD activation in the right PFC ROI (P = 0.002) and the right IPL (P=0.001) were both linearly related to injury severity when adjusted for age, years of completed education, and Δ Not-X CPT measures (Fig. 1).

Table 2

Not-X CPT and Δ Not-X CPT measures across TBI survivors and healthy controls

Variable	MANOVA	Group	п	Mean	95% CI of means	95% CI of difference	Р	$\eta \rho^2$
Not-X CPT								
Hit RT (ms)	F (6, 123) = 1.09, $P = 0.373$, and $\eta \rho^2 = 0.050$	TBI	62	416.73	402.21, 431.24	-25.80, 14.35	< 0.573	0.002
		Control	68	422.45	408.59, 436.31			
Hit RT SEM		TBI	62	6.16	5.61, 6.72	-0.92, 0.61	< 0.692	0.001
		Control	68	6.32	5.79, 6.85			
Omissions		TBI	62	9.18	6.18, 12.18	-0.55, 7.76	< 0.088	0.023
		Control	68	5.57	2.71, 8.44			
Commissions		TBI	62	16.90	14.68, 19.13	-1.78, 4.38	< 0.405	0.005
		Control	68	15.60	13.48, 17.73			
Response style (β)		TBI	62	0.14	0.11, 0.18	-0.01, 0.92	< 0.098	0.021
		Control	68	0.10	0.06, 0.13			
Detectability (d')		TBI	62	2.75	2.54, 2.96	-0.522, 0.06	< 0.123	0.018
		Control	68	2.98	2.78, 3.18			
∆ Not-X CPT	2							
Δ Hit RT (ms)	F (6, 123) = 0.421, P = 0.864, and $\eta \rho^2 = 0.020$	TBI	62	8.25	0.77, 15.73ª	-17.17, 3.51	< 0.194	0.013
		Control	68	15.08	7.94, 22.24ª			
Δ Hit RT SEM		TBI	62	0.59	-0.90, 2.09	-1.91, 2.22	< 0.884	< 0.001
		Control	68	0.44	-0.99, 1.87			
Δ Omissions		TBI	62	1.90	0.69, 3.12	-1.31, 2.06	< 0.661	0.002
		Control	68	1.53	0.37, 2.69ª			
Δ Commissions		I BI	62	0.19	-0.40, 0.79	-0.65, 0.98	< 0.692	0.001
		Control	68	0.03	-0.54, 0.59			
Δ Response style (β)		IBI	62	0.08	0.03, 0.12	-0.05, 0.08	< 0.697	0.001
		Control	68	0.06	0.02, 0.11°			
Δ Detectability (d')		I BI	62	-0.21	-0.38, -0.03 ^a	-0.32, 0.17	< 0.527	0.003
		Control	68	-0.13	-0.30, 0.04			

Note: The table presents multi- and uni-variate results from a comparison of Not-X CPT and Δ Not-X CPT performance measures across TBI survivors and healthy controls. MANOVA, multivariate analysis of variance; Δ , difference score (time epoch 4 – time epoch 1); SEM, standard error of the mean; TBI, traumatic brain injury; CI, confidence interval; $\eta\rho^2$, partial ETA squared. ^aWithin-group univariate TOT effects for Δ Not-X CPT performance measures at the P < 0.05 level.

Table 3

Self-report measures of cognitive control across TBI survivors and healthy controls

oon report n												
Variable	MANOVA	Group	п	Mean	95% CI of means	95% Cl of difference	Р	$\eta \rho^2$				
BRIEF-A												
BRI	F (3,125) = 4.89, $P = 0.003$, and $\eta \rho^2 = 0.11$	TBI	62	43.82	41.77, 45.88	2.57, 8.27	< 0.001	0.100				
(·, ·, ·, ·, ·, ·, ·, ·, ·, ·, ·, ·, ·, ·	Control	67	38.40	36.43, 40.38								
MI		TBI	62	60.55	57.36, 63.74	0.49, 9.33	< 0.030	0.037				
		Control	67	55.64	52.58, 58.71							
GEC		TBI	62	104.37	99.49, 109.25	3.57, 17.10	< 0.003	0.067				
		Control	67	94.05	88.35, 98.74							

Note: The table presents multi- and uni-variate results from comparisons of BRIEF-A measures across TBI survivors and healthy controls. One healthy control was excluded from the analyses involving BRIEF-A due to too many missing item scores (see Methods).

MANOVA, multivariate analysis of variance; BRI, Behavioral Regulation Index; MI, Metacognition Index; GEC, Global Executive Composite; TBI, traumatic brain injury; CI, confidence interval; $\eta \rho^2$, partial ETA squared.

There were also noteworthy within-group effects for stable task-set maintenance TOT effects in the explorative whole-brain analysis. Healthy controls had large clusters of significant activations related to stable task-set maintenance TOT increase in midline posterior and anterior regions, including the precuneus, posterior cingulate cortex, ventromedial prefrontal cortex, and frontal poles (Fig. 2). Parallel to this, healthy controls had significant decreases of activation as an effect of TOT in the right anterior insula/frontal operculum, as well as in frontal midline regions encompassing the anterior cingulate-, paracingulate-, and supplementary motor cortices. TBI survivors also had stable task-set maintenance TOT increase of activation in midline posterior and anterior regions (e.g., in the precuneus, posterior cingulate cortex, ventromedial prefrontal cortex, and frontal poles), however far more extensive and widespread than for the healthy controls (Fig. 2). In addition to the midline regions also activated in the healthy controls, TBI survivors had particularly pronounced additional areas of increased activation bilaterally in the inferior parietal lobules, as well as bilaterally in dorso-lateral regions of the frontal cortex, in addition to several subcortical regions. Contrary to healthy controls, TBI survivors had no statistically significant decreases in activation as a function of TOT. There were no within- or between-group TOT effects for adaptive task control.

Relationships between BOLD Activation and BRIEF-A Scores

The partial correlation model revealed several statistically significant findings for the TBI group. The general finding was that BOLD signal increases in several ROIs were related to lower levels of self-reported problems associated with cognitive control (Table 5). There were no statistically significant relationships between the BOLD signal in any of the ROIs and BRIEF-A scores for healthy controls (Table 5).

Discussion

The present study revealed 4 main findings with importance to understanding alterations of neuronal correlates to cognitive



Figure 1. ROI analyses across healthy controls, moderate- and severe TBI survivors. The figure shows the results of planned polynomial contrasts following statistically significant MANCOVAs. Only statistically significant results are shown. Results are adjusted for age, education, and Not-X CPT performance (Δ Not-X CPT performance for TOT effects). TOT, time-on-task; ROI, region of interest; MFC, medial frontal cortex; IPL, inferior parietal cortex; PFC, prefrontal cortex. Error bars represent \pm standard error of estimated marginal means.

Table 4

Differences between TBI survivors and healthy controls on TOT activations related to stable task-set maintenance (Δ stable task-set maintenance)

Anatomical region	R/L	Size (number of voxels)	Ζ	Coordinates for peak activation (MNI)		
				X	γ	Ζ
TBI survivors $>$ healthy controls (Δ stable to	ask-set	maintenance)				
Supramarginal gyrus, posterior division	R	24 769	4.21	53	-43	36
Supramarginal gyrus, posterior division	R	lm	4.1	50	-43	36
Angular gyrus	R	lm	4.05	47	-45	29
Angular gyrus	R	lm	3.78	56	-54	49
Angular gyrus	R	lm	3.76	49	-49	47
Angular gyrus	R	lm	3.63	54	-55	49
Middle frontal gyrus	R	16 777	3.98	35	27	38
Frontal pole	R	lm	3.87	34	46	5
Frontal pole	R	lm	3.80	37	45	6
Middle frontal gyrus	R	lm	3.73	54	15	44
Middle frontal gyrus	R	lm	3.72	56	15	41
Frontal pole	R	lm	3.58	16	53	14

Note: Results were corrected for multiple comparisons by using a cluster threshold of Z > 2.3, and a corrected cluster significance threshold of P = 0.05. Main peak Z-values (and up to 5 local maxima within each cluster) and size of clusters funmber of voxels) in standard 1 × 1 × 1 mm

MNI space were extracted and presented in the table. For anatomical denotation, visual inspection, and the Harvard Oxford cortical and subcortical structural brain atlases as incorporated in the FSL software were applied.

Im, local maxima, R/L, right/left; Δ stable task-set maintenance, stable task-set maintenance time epoch 1 vs. stable task-set maintenance time epoch 4.

control after TBI: 1) during Not-X CPT performance, TBI survivors demonstrated an overall shift toward utilizing more adaptive task control processes in a core region for cognitive control in the MFC, 2) accompanied by increased stable task-set maintenance BOLD activations as an effect of TOT in the right IPL and PFC, as compared with healthy controls. Increases in BOLD activation were related to 3) injury severity in a linear dose-dependent fashion and 4) to lower levels of self-reported problems with cognitive control, a relationship only present in TBI survivors, and not in healthy controls.

Increased Reliance on Adaptive Task Control in the MFC After TBI

In the context of no general whole-brain differences and highly similar performance, TBI survivors had increased

6 Cognitive Control Activations after TBI · Olsen et al.

activation related to adaptive task control in an a priori chosen ROI in the MFC known to be extremely reliably activated during both adaptive and stable control processes (Dosenbach et al. 2006; Olsen et al. 2013). Interestingly, this increase in activation had a linear dose relationship to injury severity, with stronger activation with more severe TBI, when adjusted for age, education, and fMRI task performance. Moreover, there was no difference in activation between healthy controls and TBI survivors for the overall stable task-set maintenance contrast in the same MFC ROI.

Increased activations after TBI within the MFC have been found in several other studies using other cognitive tasks (Christodoulou et al. 2001; Scheibel et al. 2007; Rasmussen et al. 2008) and been related to injury severity in a study that included 30 patients with sub-acute (3 months after injury) TBI (Scheibel et al. 2009). Our study extends previous findings by showing that adaptive and stable control processes are affected differently by injury severity and that these changes are persisting into the chronic stage. More specifically, in a task where TBI survivors could uphold similar performance to healthy controls, they recruited more neuronal resources related to adaptive task control. This can be interpreted as a compensatory mechanism, similar to findings in other populations (Paxton et al. 2008; Edwards et al. 2010; Braver 2012). It should, however, be noted that in these previous studies, both increased probe related, and at the same time reduced cue related, PFC activation was observed. This was not the case in the present study, as there was no significant group difference for the stable task-set maintenance contrast. One possible explanation for this result could be that it was partially influenced by increased variability, in particular in the TBI group, due to TOT-related changes in this contrast.

Increased TOT Effects for Stable Task-Set Maintenance in TBI Survivors

A whole-brain exploratory analysis investigating differences between healthy controls and TBI survivors revealed differences in TOT effects for stable task-set maintenance, but not for adaptive task control. This supports that stable task-set maintenance is particularly susceptible to cognitive fatigue as a
Stable task-set maintenance TOT effects Healthy controls (n = 68)



Figure 2. Whole-brain TOT effects for stable task-set maintenance. SPMs are corrected for multiple comparisons using a cluster threshold of Z > 2.3, P = 0.05. Results are presented on a 1-mm MNI standard space template. SPM, Statistical Parametric Mapping; MNI, Montreal Neurological Institute.

function of TOT (Olsen et al. 2013). Clusters of increased BOLD activation as a function of TOT were found in TBI survivors, as compared with healthy controls, with main peaks in the IPL and PFC in the right hemisphere. The IPL and PFC have been suggested to play a crucial role in a right lateralized attention control network (Corbetta and Shulman 2002). The right IPL has also previously been related to Not-X CPT performance (Ogg et al. 2008; Tana et al. 2010) and suggested to be part of the core network for cognitive control (Olsen et al. 2013). Moreover, in addition to PFC regions, a region just posterior to this right IPL region has previously been related to cognitive fatigue after TBI (Kohl et al. 2009).

The right PFC in particular is more extensively recruited in response to increased task demands in several neurological populations, including TBI (Hillary 2008). This recruitment may indicate that increased cognitive control resources are allocated. It has also been observed that PFC activations in TBI increase from the early stage after TBI until 6 months later (Sanchez-Carrion et al. 2008), suggesting that such increases represent an adaptive change in this region developing in the rehabilitation phase after injury.

In TBI survivors, the TOT effect was shown to be linearly related to injury severity, after adjusting for age, education, and fMRI task performance. This implies underlying injury-specific changes involved in the stable task-set maintenance TOT increase differences. Both in this and in a previous study (Olsen et al. 2013), there were no within-group changes in commission errors as an effect of TOT. There were, however, changes in response time, omission errors, and response style, suggesting that the threshold for Not-X responses was

Table 5

Correlations between BOLD activation and self-report measures of cognitive control for TBI survivors and healthy controls

	BRIEF-A		
	BRI	MI	GEC
TBI survivors ($n = 62$)			
Overall main contrasts ^{ab}			
Stable task-set maintenance MFC	-0.177	-0.363**	-0.305*
Adaptive task control MFC	-0.077	-0.058	-0.069
Stable task-set maintenance TOT effects ^{bc}			
MFC	-0.346*	-0.281*	-0.322*
Right IPL	-0.423**	-0.400**	-0.431**
Right PFC	-0.369**	-0.317*	-0.355**
Healthy controls ($n = 67$)			
Overall main contrasts ^a			
Stable task-set maintenance MFC	-0.091	0.009	-0.048
Adaptive task control MFC	-0.078	-0.062	-0.077
Stable task-set maintenance TOT effects ^c			
MFC	-0.081	-0.074	-0.085
Right IPL	-0.222	-0.067	-0.145
Right PFC	0.100	0.089	0.103

Note: Partial correlations (r) between NOT-X CPT fMRI ROI parameter estimates and BRIEF-A measures. One healthy control was excluded from the analyses involving BRIEF-A due to several missing item scores (see Methods).

^aControlled for age, education, and Not-X CPT performance measures. ^bAdditionally controlled for GCS score. ^cControlled for age, education, and Δ Not-X CPT performance measures.

 $^{\ast}P < 0.05$ (two-tailed). $^{\ast\ast}P < 0.01$ (two-tailed).

increased, implying a top-down regulation through strategy change. It makes sense that compensatory mechanisms are more readily implemented in a top-down fashion, rather than in a system relying on reactive bottom-up processes. A disadvantage of proactive- (stable) as opposed to reactive (adaptive) control is that it is computationally more demanding and thereby uses more neural resources (Braver 2012). By engaging the stable task-set maintenance network, there are fewer resources available for other tasks over a prolonged period of time. It is therefore plausible that an increased reliance on stable task-set maintenance relative to adaptive task control may lead to increased fatigue after TBI (Kohl et al. 2009; Ponsford et al. 2012), despite partially compensating for some of the cognitive deficits after injury (Braver 2012). However, this needs to be further investigated as the present study was limited by the lack of an independent measure of fatigue to specifically evaluate this interpretation.

In order to activate the bottom-up adaptive system, particularly salient stimuli are needed (Seeley et al. 2007; Menon and Uddin 2010). In light of this, it can be speculated whether the shift toward increased adaptive processing within the MFC as found in the overall adaptive task control contrast represents an increased burden on the adaptive system due to insufficient compensation (preparation) by the use of stable task-set maintenance (Jahfari et al. 2012). Since the number of commission errors was stable throughout the task and TOT effects were not seen for BOLD activation related to adaptive task control in this study, future studies should aim to investigate nonlinear relationships or functional connectivity interactions between the 2 networks in order to test this hypothesis (Dosenbach et al. 2007; Hillary et al. 2011; Bonnelle et al. 2012; Gratton et al. 2012).

Both TBI survivors and healthy controls had pronounced within-group increases of activation in areas of the DMN as an effect of TOT. Activations in DMN regions have been linked to prospective planning (Buckner et al. 2008), hence suggesting a possible role in a proactive compensatory control system (Braver 2012). However, increased activity in DMN areas such as the precuneus and posterior cingulate cortex has previously also been related to impairments of sustained attention in TBI patients (Bonnelle et al. 2011), possibly due to a failure in successfully deactivating these regions (Weissman et al. 2006). Moreover, disrupted structural white-matter integrity between typical task-positive regions, such as anterior insula and presupplementary motor cortex/anterior cingulate gyrus, may be related to this failure (Bonnelle et al. 2012). TBI survivors in our study also seemed to recruit more pronounced DMN node activation; however, despite the already mentioned findings in the right IPL, no other DMN regions survived the statistical threshold in a direct comparison between the groups.

According to the within-group analysis of TOT effects, TBI subjects also recruited additional subcortical regions, including the basal ganglia. Previous fMRI studies have highlighted the role of the interaction between the basal ganglia and frontal cortex for proactive selective response suppression (Majid et al. 2013), as well as decision-making under time pressure (Forstmann et al. 2008). Moreover, in their model of central fatigue, Chaudhuri and Behan (2000) proposed that fatigue observed in a range of patient groups might be caused by a failure of the non-motor function of the basal ganglia, which in turn may affect the striatal-thalamic-frontal cortical system. Particularly interesting in this context is that increased activation in the basal ganglia related to cognitive fatigue in TBI survivors was observed in a study utilizing an ROI analysis specifically aimed at investigating this model (Kohl et al. 2009). Furthermore, an interesting line of very recent TBI research demonstrated that reduced fronto-striatal white-matter integrity (Leunissen et al. 2013a) and possibly related subcortical atrophy changes (Leunissen et al. 2013b) were associated with task-switching impairments.

Another interesting within-group observation was that healthy controls demonstrated a stable task-set maintenance TOT decrease in the MFC and right insula, which are part of the core network for cognitive control (Dosenbach et al. 2006; Olsen et al. 2013), whereas no such effect was apparent within the TBI group. Such a TOT decrease can be interpreted as a habituation effect or reduced processing needs due to a practice effect. An important factor to consider is that compensation and/or habituation may be displayed differently in healthy controls and TBI survivors. In accordance with the compensation hypothesis, it has been found that TBI survivors exhibit increased TOT-related activation during performance of a modified coding task, both within-group and as compared with healthy controls (Kohl et al. 2009). However, healthy controls in the same study demonstrated decreased TOT-related activation on a within-group level, which is better accommodated by a habituation hypothesis (Kohl et al. 2009). The finding that compensation/habituation mechanisms may be different in injured- as compared with healthy-brains was also supported by our study. This was demonstrated by the fact that stable task-set maintenance TOT activity increase during Not-X CPT was functionally related to BRIEF-A only in TBI survivors and not in healthy controls.

In mixed fMRI designs, there is generally a tendency for lower statistical power for event-related, relative to blockrelated, contrasts (Miezin et al. 2000; Petersen and Dubis 2012). Additionally, in the present study, there were relatively few non-targets as compared with targets in the Not-X CPT (48 vs. 432), potentially introducing additional concerns regarding the sensitivity and precision of this contrast. However, as demonstrated in our previous study in healthy participants (Olsen et al. 2013) as well as the ROI analysis in the present study, this contrast vielded extremely robust results on a within-group level. It is therefore highly unlikely that the observation of less between-group differences related to adaptive task control, as compared with stable task-set maintenance, was merely caused by a lack of statistical power. An alternative explanation for more general TBI-related increases in the BOLD signal without presence of differences in task performance may be that they are driven by permanent functional brain reorganization (Hillary 2008), or physiological and structural factors not related to function as such (Hillary and Biswal 2007). However, the finding of significant between-group TOT effects makes this explanation unlikely, as these are withintask transient changes, more likely to be related to compensation (Hillary 2008). Another potentially confounding factor is that the presence of global signal change may introduce noise in the data when investigating the BOLD signal over an extended time period. We used a well-balanced task design and analysis approach (e.g., by combining 2 runs) in addition to conventional filtering to minimize this effect. Furthermore, the fact that TOT effects were present in typical task-positive regions for this task, and that they were different between groups, also gives a strong indication that our results were not due to such effects (Fox et al. 2009).

TBI-Related BOLD Increases Might Play a Compensatory Role for Everyday Cognitive Control Function

Stable task-set maintenance BOLD signal increases during the task as a whole and in particular as an effect of TOT were related to experiencing less everyday problems with cognitive control as measured with BRIEF-A. This was only evident in TBI survivors, and not healthy controls, suggesting that the increased BOLD activations may represent injury-specific compensatory mechanisms successfully applied in unrestricted everyday-life situations after injury. Considering the underlying positive linear association between BOLD increase and injury severity, it is noteworthy that the association between self-reported cognitive control function and increased activation was present after adjusting for injury severity. Consequently, the increased BOLD activation appears to represent both injury severity mechanisms and compensatory mechanisms associated with improved self-reported cognitive control function.

An important implication from these findings is that caution should be applied when generalizing relationships between cognitive control and BOLD activation in healthy controls to those of neurological populations such as TBI (Hillary and Biswal 2007), also due to the fact that differences in signal changes appear to be multifactorial. As discussed earlier, differences with regard to habituation and compensatory mechanisms in the healthy and injured brain (Kohl et al. 2009) may further complicate the interpretation of differences in neuronal activation between healthy controls and neurological populations such as TBI.

An alternative explanation of our results may be that TBI survivors who exhibit BOLD increases underreport their cognitive deficits, due to impaired self-awareness, which may be present in some TBI survivors (Hart et al. 2005). This is, however, rather unlikely, given the temporally dynamic TOT effects, and that impaired self-awareness in chronic TBI usually is considered a more stable trait. Also, previous studies have demonstrated relatively strong agreement on the magnitude of cognitive deficits between family informants and TBI survivors (Lannoo et al. 1998; Lovstad et al. 2012). However, future studies should aim to investigate this aspect more directly, for example by relating BOLD increases after moderate-to-severe TBI to scores on the informant version of the BRIEF-A.

Summary and Conclusions

This study demonstrated that the neural underpinnings of adaptive and stable task control processes are differently affected by injury and that increased BOLD activations observed in moderate-to-severe TBI survivors might represent injuryspecific compensatory mechanisms also utilized in everydaylife situations. A particular strength of this study was that results were adjusted for the effects of fMRI task performance, as well as the established outcome moderators, age and education.

To this date, this is the largest fMRI study in survivors of moderate-to-severe TBI. New knowledge was provided utilizing a validated fMRI-adapted version of a commonly administered clinical continuous performance test, carefully integrated within an innovative neurocognitive theoretical framework. By relating fMRI findings to the most comprehensive and increasingly popular self-report form for cognitive control function (BRIEF-A), this knowledge has the potential for giving rise to valuable new questions within basic and clinical TBI research, as well as new perspectives for interpretation of clinical test results.

Funding

This study was supported by the Norwegian Research Council through Medical Imaging Laboratory (MI-LAB) at the Norwegian University of Science and Technology. Funding to pay the Open Access publication charges for this article was provided by the Norwegian Research Council through Medical Imaging Laboratory (MI-Lab) at the Norwegian University of Science and Technology.

Notes

We thank Benjamin Garzon, PhD, and Jian Xu, PhD, for support when implementing the task design in Matlab, E-Prime, and Python. We also thank the radiographers at St. Olavs Hospital for crucial help with MRI data collection, and TBI survivors and healthy controls for participating in this study. *Conflict of Interest*: None declared.

References

- Altmann EM, Gray WD. 2002. Forgetting to remember: the functional relationship of decay and interference. Psychol Sci. 13:27–33.
- Anderson JLR, Jenkinson M, Smith S. 2007a. Non-Linear optimisation. Oxford: FMRIB Centre.
- Anderson JLR, Jenkinson M, Smith S. 2007b. Non-Linear registration aka spatial normalisation. Oxford: FMRIB Centre.
- Bonnelle V, Ham TE, Leech R, Kinnunen KM, Mehta MA, Greenwood RJ, Sharp DJ. 2012. Salience network integrity predicts default mode network function after traumatic brain injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 109:4690–4695.
- Bonnelle V, Leech R, Kinnunen KM, Ham TE, Beckmann CF, De Boissezon X, Greenwood RJ, Sharp DJ. 2011. Default mode network connectivity predicts sustained attention deficits after traumatic brain injury. J Neurosci. 31:13442–13451.
- Braver TS. 2012. The variable nature of cognitive control: a dual mechanisms framework. Trends Cogn Sci. 16:106–113.

- Buckner RL, Andrews-Hanna JR, Schacter DL. 2008. The brain's default network: anatomy, function, and relevance to disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1124:1–38.
- Cazalis F, Babikian T, Giza C, Copeland S, Hovda D, Asarnow RF. 2011. Pivotal role of anterior cingulate cortex in working memory after traumatic brain injury in youth. Front Neurol. 1:158.
- Chaudhuri A, Behan PO. 2000. Fatigue and basal ganglia. J Neurol Sci. 179:34–42.
- Christodoulou C, DeLuca J, Ricker JH, Madigan NK, Bly BM, Lange G, Kalnin AJ, Liu WC, Steffener J, Diamond BJ et al. 2001. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of working memory impairment after traumatic brain injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 71:161–168.
- Conners CK, Epstein JN, Angold A, Klaric J. 2003. Continuous performance test performance in a normative epidemiological sample. J Abnorm Child Psychol. 31:555–562.
- Cook DB, O'Connor PJ, Lange G, Steffener J. 2007. Functional neuroimaging correlates of mental fatigue induced by cognition among chronic fatigue syndrome patients and controls. NeuroImage. 36:108–122.
- Corbetta M, Shulman GL. 2002. Control of goal-directed and stimulusdriven attention in the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci. 3:201–215.
- Desmet C, Fias W, Hartstra E, Brass M. 2011. Errors and conflict at the task level and the response level. J Neurosci. 31:1366–1374.
- Dosenbach NU, Fair DA, Miezin FM, Cohen AL, Wenger KK, Dosenbach RA, Fox MD, Snyder AZ, Vincent JL, Raichle ME et al. 2007. Distinct brain networks for adaptive and stable task control in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 104:11073–11078.
- Dosenbach NU, Visscher KM, Palmer ED, Miezin FM, Wenger KK, Kang HC, Burgund ED, Grimes AL, Schlaggar BL, Petersen SE. 2006. A core system for the implementation of task sets. Neuron. 50:799–812.
- Draper K, Ponsford J. 2008. Cognitive functioning ten years following traumatic brain injury and rehabilitation. Neuropsychology. 22: 618–625.
- Edwards BG, Barch DM, Braver TS. 2010. Improving prefrontal cortex function in schizophrenia through focused training of cognitive control. Front Hum Neurosci. 4:32.
- Forstmann BU, Dutilh G, Brown S, Neumann J, von Cramon DY, Ridderinkhof KR, Wagenmakers EJ. 2008. Striatum and pre-SMA facilitate decision-making under time pressure. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 105:17538–17542.
- Fox MD, Zhang D, Snyder AZ, Raichle ME. 2009. The global signal and observed anticorrelated resting state brain networks. J Neurophysiol. 101:3270–3283.
- Garcia-Molina A, Tormos JM, Bernabeu M, Junque C, Roig-Rovira T. 2012. Do traditional executive measures tell us anything about daily-life functioning after traumatic brain injury in Spanishspeaking individuals? Brain Inj. 26:864–874.
- Gratton C, Nomura EM, Perez F, D'Esposito M. 2012. Focal brain lesions to critical locations cause widespread disruption of the modular organization of the brain. J Cogn Neurosci. 24:1275–1285.
- Hart T, Whyte J, Kim J, Vaccaro M. 2005. Executive function and self-awareness of "real-world" behavior and attention deficits following traumatic brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil. 20: 333–347.
- Hillary FG. 2011. Determining the nature of prefrontal cortex recruitment after traumatic brain injury: a response to Turner. Front Syst Neurosci. 5:24.
- Hillary FG. 2008. Neuroimaging of working memory dysfunction and the dilemma with brain reorganization hypotheses. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 14:526–534.
- Hillary FG, Biswal B. 2007. The influence of neuropathology on the FMRI signal: a measurement of brain or vein? Clin Neuropsychol. 21:58–72.
- Hillary FG, Medaglia JD, Gates K, Molenaar PC, Slocomb J, Peechatka A, Good DC. 2011. Examining working memory task acquisition in a disrupted neural network. Brain. 134:1555–1570.
- Holland D, Kuperman JM, Dale AM. 2010. Efficient correction of inhomogeneous static magnetic field-induced distortion in Echo Planar Imaging. NeuroImage. 50:175–183.
- Jahfari S, Verbruggen F, Frank MJ, Waldorp LJ, Colzato L, Ridderinkhof KR, Forstmann BU. 2012. How preparation changes the need for

top-down control of the basal ganglia when inhibiting premature actions. J Neurosci. 32:10870–10878.

- Jenkinson M, Bannister P, Brady M, Smith S. 2002. Improved optimization for the robust and accurate linear registration and motion correction of brain images. NeuroImage. 17:825–841.
- Jenkinson M, Smith S. 2001. A global optimisation method for robust affine registration of brain images. Med Image Anal. 5:143–156.
- Kohl AD, Wylie GR, Genova HM, Hillary FG, Deluca J. 2009. The neural correlates of cognitive fatigue in traumatic brain injury using functional MRI. Brain Inj. 23:420–432.
- Lannoo E, Colardyn F, Vandekerckhove T, De Deyne C, De Soete G, Jannes C. 1998. Subjective complaints versus neuropsychological test performance after moderate to severe head injury. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 140:245–253.
- Leunissen I, Coxon JP, Caeyenberghs K, Michiels K, Sunaert S, Swinnen SP. 2013a. Subcortical volume analysis in traumatic brain injury: the importance of the fronto-striato-thalamic circuit in task switching. Cortex. 51:67–81.
- Leunissen I, Coxon JP, Caeyenberghs K, Michiels K, Sunaert S, Swinnen SP. 2013b. Task switching in traumatic brain injury relates to cortico-subcortical integrity. Hum Brain Mapp. doi: 10.1002/ hbm.22341.
- Lovstad M, Funderud I, Endestad T, Due-Tonnessen P, Meling TR, Lindgren M, Knight RT, Solbakk AK. 2012. Executive functions after orbital or lateral prefrontal lesions: neuropsychological profiles and self-reported executive functions in everyday living. Brain Inj. 26:1586–1598.
- Majid DS, Cai W, Corey-Bloom J, Aron AR. 2013. Proactive selective response suppression is implemented via the basal ganglia. J Neurosci. 33:13259–13269.
- Menon V, Uddin LQ. 2010. Saliency, switching, attention and control: a network model of insula function. Brain Struct Funct. 214:655–667.
- Miezin FM, Maccotta L, Ollinger JM, Petersen SE, Buckner RL. 2000. Characterizing the hemodynamic response: effects of presentation rate, sampling procedure, and the possibility of ordering brain activity based on relative timing. Neuroimage. 11:735–759.
- Nee DE, Kastner S, Brown JW. 2011. Functional heterogeneity of conflict, error, task-switching, and unexpectedness effects within medial prefrontal cortex. NeuroImage. 54:528–540.
- Newsome MR, Scheibel RS, Steinberg JL, Troyanskaya M, Sharma RG, Rauch RA, Li X, Levin HS. 2007. Working memory brain activation following severe traumatic brain injury. Cortex. 43:95–111.
- Ogg RJ, Zou P, Allen DN, Hutchins SB, Dutkiewicz RM, Mulhern RK. 2008. Neural correlates of a clinical continuous performance test. Magn Reson Imaging. 26:504–512.
- Olsen A, Ferenc Brunner J, Evensen KA, Garzon B, Landro NI, Haberg AK. 2013. The functional topography and temporal dynamics of overlapping and distinct brain activations for adaptive task control and stable task-set maintenance during performance of an fMRI-adapted clinical continuous performance test. J Cogn Neurosci. 25:903–919.
- Paxton JL, Barch DM, Racine CA, Braver TS. 2008. Cognitive control, goal maintenance, and prefrontal function in healthy aging. Cereb Cortex. 18:1010–1028.
- Petersen SE, Dubis JW. 2012. The mixed block/event-related design. NeuroImage. 62:1177–1184.
- Ponsford J, Draper K, Schonberger M. 2008. Functional outcome 10 years after traumatic brain injury: its relationship with demographic, injury severity, and cognitive and emotional status. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 14:233–242.
- Ponsford JL, Ziino C, Parcell DL, Shekleton JA, Roper M, Redman JR, Phipps-Nelson J, Rajaratnam SM. 2012. Fatigue and sleep disturbance following traumatic brain injury—their nature, causes, and potential treatments. J Head Trauma Rehabil. 27:224–233.
- Price CJ, Crinion J, Friston KJ. 2006. Design and analysis of fMRI studies with neurologically impaired patients. J Magn Reson Imaging. 23:816–826.
- Rabin IA, Barr WB, Burton IA. 2005. Assessment practices of clinical neuropsychologists in the United States and Canada: a survey of INS, NAN, and APA Division 40 members. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. 20:33–65.

- Rasmussen IA, Xu J, Antonsen IK, Brunner J, Skandsen T, Axelson DE, Berntsen EM, Lydersen S, Haberg A. 2008. Simple dual tasking recruits prefrontal cortices in chronic severe traumatic brain injury patients, but not in controls. J Neurotrauma. 25:1057–1070.
- Riccio CA, Reynolds CR, Lowe P, Moore JJ. 2002. The continuous performance test: a window on the neural substrates for attention? Arch Clin Neuropsychol. 17:235–272.
- Roth R, Isquith P, Gioia G. 2005. Behavior rating inventory of executive function-adult version. Lutz, FL: PAR.
- Sanchez-Carrion R, Fernandez-Espejo D, Junque C, Falcon C, Bargallo N, Roig T, Bernabeu M, Tormos JM, Vendrell P. 2008. A longitudinal fMRI study of working memory in severe TBI patients with diffuse axonal injury. NeuroImage. 43:421–429.
- Scheibel RS, Newsome MR, Steinberg JL, Pearson DA, Rauch RA, Mao H, Troyanskaya M, Sharma RG, Levin HS. 2007. Altered brain activation during cognitive control in patients with moderate to severe traumatic brain injury. Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 21: 36–45.
- Scheibel RS, Newsome MR, Troyanskaya M, Steinberg JL, Goldstein FC, Mao H, Levin HS. 2009. Effects of severity of traumatic brain injury and brain reserve on cognitive-control related brain activation. J Neurotrauma. 26:1447–1461.
- Seeley WW, Menon V, Schatzberg AF, Keller J, Glover GH, Kenna H, Reiss AL, Greicius MD. 2007. Dissociable intrinsic connectivity networks for salience processing and executive control. J Neurosci. 27:2349–2356.
- Skandsen T, Kvistad KA, Solheim O, Strand IH, Folvik M, Vik A. 2010. Prevalence and impact of diffuse axonal injury in patients with

moderate and severe head injury: a cohort study of early magnetic resonance imaging findings and 1-year outcome. J Neurosurg. 113:556–563.

- Smith SM. 2002. Fast robust automated brain extraction. Hum Brain Mapp. 17:143–155.
- Sozda CN, Larson MJ, Kaufman DAS, Schmalfuss IM, Perlstein WM. 2011. Error-related processing following severe traumatic brain injury: an event-related functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study. Int J Psychophysiol. 82:97–106.
- Stein SC, Spettell C. 1995. The Head Injury Severity Scale (HISS): a practical classification of closed-head injury. Brain Inj. 9:437–444.
- Tana MG, Montin E, Cerutti S, Bianchi AM. 2010. Exploring cortical attentional system by using fMRI during a continuous performance test. Comput Intell Neurosci. DOI: 329213.
- Turner GR, Levine B. 2008. Augmented neural activity during executive control processing following diffuse axonal injury. Neurology. 71:812–818.
- Turner GR, McIntosh AR, Levine B. 2011. Prefrontal Compensatory Engagement in TBI is due to altered functional engagement of existing networks and not functional reorganization. Front Syst Neurosci. 5:9.
- Waid-Ebbs JK, Wen PS, Heaton SC, Donovan NJ, Velozo C. 2012. The item level psychometrics of the behaviour rating inventory of executive function-adult (BRIEF-A) in a TBI sample. Brain Inj. 26:1646–1657.
- Weissman DH, Roberts KC, Visscher KM, Woldorff MG. 2006. The neural bases of momentary lapses in attention. Nat Neurosci. 9:971–978.

Paper IV

White matter microstructure in moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury: the impact of acute phase injury related variables and associations with global outcome, performance-based and self-reported cognitive control function

Håberg AK^{1,2}, Olsen A^{3,4}, Moen KG^{1,5}, Schirmer-Mikalsen K^{3,6}, Visser E⁷, Finnanger TG^{8,9}, Evensen KAI^{10,11}, Skandsen T^{1,4}, Vik A^{1,5}, Eikenes L³

- 1. Department of Neuroscience, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Trondheim, Norway
- 2. Department of Medical Imaging, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital Trondheim, Norway
- 3. Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Trondheim, Norway
- 4. Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway
- 5. Department of Neurosurgery, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway
- 6. Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, St. Olav Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway
- FMRIB Centre, University of Oxford, Nuffield Department of Clinical Neurosciences, John, Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford, UK
- Regional Centre for Child and Youth Mental Health and Child Welfare Central Norway, Faculty of Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Trondheim, Norway
- Division of Mental Healthcare, Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, St Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway
- Department of Public Health and General Practice and Department of Laboratory Medicine, Children's and Women's Health, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Trondheim, Norway
- 11. Department of Physiotherapy, Trondheim Municipality, Trondheim, Norway

Address for correspondence

Asta Kristine Håberg Department of Neuroscience Faculty of Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) Post box 8905 7491Trondheim Norway Tel: +47 73551352, Fax: +47 73 55 13 50 E-mail: <u>asta.haberg@ntnu.no</u>.

Running title: White matter in chronic traumatic brain injury

Grant information: The study was financed by the Norwegian Research Council and the Norwegian National Advisory Unit for functional MRI

Conflicts of interests: The authors declare no conflicts of interests

Abstract

The first aim of this study was to elucidate the impact of acute phase injury related and neuroimaging variables on white matter fractional anisotropy (FA), mean diffusivity (MD) and tract volumes in chronic moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury (TBI) survivors. The second aim was to examine the association between different chronic phase outcome measures (Glasgow Outcome Scale Extended scores, performance-based and self-reported cognitive control functioning) and FA, MD and tract volumes. Diffusion tenor imaging (DTI) at 3T was acquired >1 year after TBI in 49 moderate-to-severe TBI survivors and 50 matched controls. DTI data was analyzed with tract based spatial statistics and automated tractography. Moderate-to-severe TBI led to widespread FA decrease, MD increase and tract volume loss. FA was the primary denominator of injury severity demonstrated in comparisons of severe vs. moderate TBI, motor vehicle vs. fall accidents, and presence of diffuse axonal injury versus not. Reduced FA in thalamus and brain stem were specific to all grades of DAI. In chronic TBI, FA and MD were associated with Glasgow Comas Scale scores, number of microhemorrhages, and lesion volume on fluid attention inversion recovery images from the acute phase. In severe TBI, number of days with ≥ 3 episodes of cerebral perfusion pressure <70 mmHg was specifically associated with reduced MD, no effect of intracranial pressure (ICP) >20 mmHg on FA or MD was observed. Rotterdam computer tomography scores, mostly reflecting increased ICP due to edema and/or mass lesion, did not influence chronic phase FA or MD. Poor global outcome and performance-based cognitive control functioning were associated with widespread FA and MD changes in the TBSS analysis. Only MD from the automated tractography analysis correlated consistently with general outcome. Self-reported cognitive control function was not related to FA, MD or tract volumes. In conclusion, the primary traumatic injury mechanism and severity had significant impact on loss of FA and its distribution, while possible secondary pathophysiological mechanisms such as increased ICP or decreased CPP had no or limited effects on white matter microstructure in the chronic phase. General and performance-based outcomes in the chronic phase were associated with both FA and MD, but highly inconsistently with tract volume.

Keywords: MRI, head injury, intensive care unit, executive function, BRIEF

Introduction

The axons of white matter (WM) are particularly vulnerable to stretch associated with acceleration-deceleration forces in traumatic brain injury (TBI) (STRICH 1956, Peerless & Rewcastle 1967). The ensuing WM pathology is a diffuse, predominantly secondary axotomy described as diffuse axonal injury (DAI) (Smith *et al.* 2003, Povlishock 1992). Oligodendrocytes and myelin sheaths are also affected in DAI, and the changes in these structures take place over a very protracted time course (Coleman & Freeman 2010, Johnson *et al.* 2013b). DAI has been observed in all TBI severities (Bigler 2013b, Bigler 2013a).

Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) is a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) technique for assessing WM microstructure *in vivo* (Pierpaoli *et al.* 1996, Basser & Pierpaoli 1996, Beaulieu 2002). This technique has been shown to depict DAI in TBI survivors even when there is no sign of injury on conventional MRI (Newcombe *et al.* 2011, Kumar *et al.* 2009). From DTI, several measures can be derived of which fractional anisotropy (FA) and mean diffusivity (MD) are commonly reported. FA is a measure considered to reflect primary and secondary axonal injury in TBI (Bigler 2013a, Li *et al.* 2013), while mean diffusivity (MD) in general is considered a measure of disorders of myelination as well as loss of axons (Song *et al.* 2005, Song *et al.* 2002, Li et al. 2013). DTI data can be analyzed with different approaches, and it has been suggested that a combination of several methods should be used to explore the complexity of WM injury in TBI (Spitz *et al.* 2013, Leunissen *et al.* 2014). In the current study tract based spatial statistics (TBSS) (Smith *et al.* 2006) and an automated tractography method (Visser *et al.* 2011) not previously used in TBI, were implemented.

Earlier studies have shown that both WM FA and MD are altered in chronic TBI of varying severity (Bendlin *et al.* 2008, Inglese *et al.* 2005, Kumar et al. 2009, Xu *et al.* 2007). WM tract volume reduction has not been examined as extensively as FA and MD in TBI, and the results so far are inconsistent (Brandstack *et al.* 2013, Kurki *et al.* 2013). However, total WM volume has been shown to decline slowly, and not be significantly reduced before 1 year after injury (Brezova *et al.* 2014). Thus, it is possible that WM tract volume loss is better portrayed in a late chronic phase as in the current study. Moreover, the histopathological changes in WM take place over several years following TBI (Johnson *et al.* 2013a, Johnson et al. 2013b), and therefore time since injury may impact on WM FA, MD and volumes.

A particular goal of the current study was to verify if FA, as opposed to MD, is the DTI measures primarily reflecting injury severity, as would be expected based on the specific increase in axonal loss in all WM regions with more severe injury (Gennarelli *et al.* 1982, Povlishock 1992). It follows that the FA decrease should be greater in severe than moderate TBI. Likewise, presence of DAI and increasing severity of DAI grade should be associated with a more notable FA decrease. As DAI results from strong acceleration/deceleration forces, present in motor vehicle accidents (MVA) to a larger extent than in falls (Adams *et al.* 1984, Adams *et al.* 1982, Davceva *et al.* 2012, Meythaler *et al.* 2001), we predicted that TBI survivors of MVA had more conspicuous FA decreases than those surviving falls.

The second aim was to explore the relationship between WM FA and MD and common clinical and neuroimaging variables from the acute and subacute phase of TBI. Since the propagation of traumatic forces through WM has direct impact on the level of consciousness after TBI (Meythaler et al. 2001), we predicted that Glasgow coma scale (GCS) scores would be associated with both FA and MD changes in the corpus callosum (CC), hemispheric WM, and mesencephalon (Chatelin *et al.* 2011, Levin *et al.* 1988, Ommaya & Gennarelli 1974). Correlations between GCS scores and tract volumes were also investigated. Posttraumatic amnesia (PTA) describes alterations in alertness, emotional responses and processing in several cognitive domains, not only memory, following TBI (Marshman *et al.* 2013). To date only the relationship between PTA and FA in mild TBI has been studied using a whole brain WM region of interest (ROI) approach (Benson *et al.* 2007). DAI grading based on conventional MRI is used to assess the severity of DAI in TBI in the clinic (Gentry 1994). The presence of micro hemorrhages versus no micro hemorrhages has been shown to reduce FA and increase MD in several WM tracts, indi-

cating a relationship between conventional MRI based DAI grading and DTI measures (Kinnunen et al. 2011). How DAI, as reflected in number of micro hemorrhages and lesion volume load on fluid attention inversion recovery MRI in the early phase of TBI, is associated with chronic phase FA and MD is yet unknown. By elucidating this relationship the potential of everyday clinical practice for assessing extent of WM involvement in TBI can be reappraised. Rotterdam computer tomography (CT) scores (Maas et al. 2005) from acute phase CT scans are used as an outcome predictor in TBI patients. These scores reflect mainly the presence of brain edema and mass lesions, and therefore increasing intracranial pressure (ICP). Whether the increased ICP associated with such changes have long term effects on WM microstructure remains relatively unexplored. The results from an animal study (Lafrenaye et al. 2012) and a patient study (Newcombe et al. 2011) in the acute and subacute phase, respectively, indicate that elevated ICP does not increase WM injury in the adult. To further elucidate the role of ICP on WM, we examined the effect of ICP increases as measured in the intensive care unit (ICU) in a subgroup of severe TBI patients. The effect of decreased cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP), which is associated with risk of ischemic brain injury (Bullock & Povlishock 2007), was also investigated in the same TBI group. In other pathologies (e.g. premature birth, cerebrovascular disease), as well as in aging, reduced CPP leads primarily to demyelination, and if sufficiently severe also axonal damage (Børch et al. 2010, Back 2006, Vernooij et al. 2008, Fazekas et al. 1993). Hence CPP decreases in TBI may affect MD more than FA. Normal aging leads to both lower FA and increased MD (Bendlin et al. 2010). TBI impacts on the normal age related changes in WM microstructure, remains unknown.

The third main aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between WM microstructure and different types of outcome. The outcome measures included general outcome as measured with Glasgow Outcome Scale Extended (GOSE), as well as both performance-based and self-reported cognitive control function. Cognitive control or executive control function appears to be particularly important for independent living and mental health following TBI (Finnanger *et al.* 2013, Spitz et al. 2013). One key challenge in the clinical assessment of cognitive control function is that it is multifaceted, and not considered not to be fully captured by performance-based neuropsychological tests (Toplak *et al.* 2013, Isquith *et al.* 2013). As a consequence, structured self-report measures of cognitive control function have gained popularity, and are now widely used in clinical evaluations of TBI survivors. Despite a certain degree of overlap, information from performance-based and self-report measures is clearly measuring different aspects of cognitive control (Toplak et al. 2013, Isquith et al. 2013). Whether self-reported and performance-based cognitive control measures are supported by the same neuronal correlates remain unexplored. Previous studies in TBI have primarily examined the relationship between outcome measures and FA (Niogi *et al.* 2008, Spitz et al. 2013, Hulkower *et al.* 2013), but some have included for instance MD or other combinations of DTI measures (Betz *et al.* 2012, Kinnunen et al. 2011, Sidaros *et al.* 2008). In the current study the associations between FA, MD and tract volumes as obtained from TBSS and automated tractography and different outcome variables were examined with the goal of establishing which of the WM measure(s) best describes outcome.

Materials and methods

The study protocol adhered to the Helsinki Declaration and was approved by the Regional ethics committee. All participants received financial reimbursement of 1000 Norwegian kroner. Written informed consent was obtained (also from parents if participants were under the age of 16).

TBI group

A total of 73 survivors with chronic (> 1 year after injury) moderate to severe TBI according to the Head injury severity scale (HISS) (Stein & Spettell 1995) were recruited from the prospective and consecutive head injury database at St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway (Skandsen et al. 2009). All were admitted in the period 2004-2008. Inclusion criteria in the present study were age between 14-66 years at time of DTI, fluency in the Norwegian language, ability to cooperate during neuropsychological testing as indicated by GOSE scores of \geq 5 at 12 months after injury, absence of head injury before the injury leading to inclusion in the head injury database, neurologic or psychiatric condition, as well as standard MRI contraindications. Data from the acute phase related to injury mechanism, TBI severity, CT and MRI neuroimages, and clinical data. For severe TBI patients admitted to the ICU, ICP and CPP data was obtained from the ICU part of the head injury database (Schirmer-Mikalsen *et al.* 2013). At time of the DTI investigation in the chronic phase of TBI, outcome data were collected.

Healthy control group

In total, 78 healthy age, sex and education matched controls were recruited (from friends and family of TBI patients, as well as from different workplaces). The healthy controls underwent the same examinations as the TBI survivors at time of DTI scanning.

Acute phase data

Injury mechanism was classified as motor vehicle accident (MVA), fall or other. Classification of the TBI as moderate or severe was done using HISS scores (Stein & Spettell 1995) which in turn is also based on the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) on admission (Teasdale & Jennett 1974). GCS score was assessed at time of arrival in the emergency room, or before intubation in case of a pre-hospital intubation. All patients included had GCS score ≤ 13 that could not be explained by other factors than the head injury (Skandsen *et al.* 2010, Moen *et al.* 2012). A GCS score ≤ 8 is considered as severe while GCS score between 9-13 as moderate TBI according to the HISS criteria (Stein & Spettell 1995).

The Rotterdam CT score (Maas et al. 2005) used was from the worst CT scan obtained in the acute phase. The Rotterdam CT scoring was performed by one radiologists.

MRI at 1.5T (Siemens Symphony Sonata; Siemens Medical, Erlangen, Germany) was acquired as soon as feasible and the clinical condition allowed for it, between 2-41 (mean 12) days post injury. Sagittal turbo spin-echo (TSE) T2 weighted, sagittal, coronal and transverse T2 fluid attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) weighted, transverse T2* weighted gradient echo imaging (GRE) and diffusion weighted imaging (DWI) with diffusion gradients in x, y and z dimensions and images at b=0, 500 and 1000 s/mm² were used for DAI classification by two experienced senior neuroradiologists (Skandsen et al., 2010). DAI was classified into Grade 1; traumatic lesions confined to lobar WM, Grade

2; lesions also detected in CC, and Grade 3; presence of brainstem lesions (Gentry 1994). Total number of microbleeds was counted in the T2* scans and total FLAIR lesion volume obtained from manually drawn FLAIR lesion masks (Moen *et al.* 2014, Moen et al. 2012).

In the TBI patients duration of PTA was assessed and recorded during the subacute phase by experienced clinicians based on notes from nurses in the records, patients recall of events or, for patients referred to rehabilitation, with the orientation log (Jackson *et al.* 1998). PTA duration was categorized into intervals of 0-1 week, 1-2 weeks, 2-3 weeks, 3-4 weeks and >4 weeks (RUSSELL & SMITH 1961).

A total of 21 included severe TBI survivors were treated in the ICU. There is no level levidence for recommending thresholds for ICP or CPP (Bullock & Povlishock 2007). The guideline suggests ICP to be kept below 20-25 mmHg, which has been shown to improve outcome (Vik et al. 2008, Karamanos et al. 2014). In this study \ge 3 episodes of ICP \geq 20 mmHg during one day was registered as deviating from the treatment goal. For CPP the data are less consistent with regard to outcome, perhaps due to variable methods of deriving CPP (Rao et al. 2013), and/or the presence of varying degrees of autoregulation deficits in TBI patients (White & Venkatesh 2008). The guidelines from 2007 recommend a CPP of <60 mmHg, but CPP <70 mmHg is advocated under certain circumstances to avoid risk of ischemia (Bullock & Povlishock 2007). The earlier guidelines used a cut off of CPP <70 mmHg (Maas et al. 1997). The patients in this study were admitted to the ICU before as well as after the guidelines for CPP treatment goals were changed. In the ICU database \geq 3 episodes per day with CPP <70 mmHg, 60-69 and <60 mmHg are registered. Since there were few days with \ge 3 episodes of CPP <60 mmHg, the number of days with \geq 3episodes <70 mmHg were used in this study. For details on ICU treatment after implementation of the 2007 guidelines see (Schirmer-Mikalsen et al. 2013).

Chronic phase data

Time since injury was calculated as number of days between the time of injury and the DTI scan was performed.

Global outcome was assessed with Glasgow Outcome Scale Extended (GOSE) assessing social reintegration and independent living after TBI (Wilson *et al.* 1998, Jennett *et al.* 1981). GPOSE was scored face-to-face, using a structural interview by trained experimenters at the time of DTI. GOSE scores range from 1 (dead, minimum score) to 8 (upper level good recovery, maximum score).

Number of years of completed education was assessed based on both a self-report form and an interview at time of scanning.

The Behavioral Rating Inventory of Executive Function Adult version (BRIEF-A) was included as a self-report measure of cognitive control function (Roth 2005). BRIEF-A consists of 75 items measuring behavioral, emotional and cognitive aspects of cognitive control functioning. Each item is rated on a three-point frequency scale (0 = never; 1 = sometimes; 2 = often). Five of the 75 items are designed to detect invalid response styles (inconsistencies or negativity), while the remaining 70 items make up three composite index scores: the global executive composite score, behavioral regulation index, and metacognitive index. The global executive composite score consists of items measuring inhibition, shift, and emotional control, while behavioral regulation index reflects self-monitoring items, and the metacognitive index includes items describing initiation, working memory, planning/organization, task monitoring, and organization of materials.

The D-KEFS Trail Making Test (D-KEFS TMT) (Delis DC 2001) was included as a performance based measure of cognitive control functions. D-KEFS TMT consists of five different subtests where subtest 1 is visual scanning, subtest 2 is letter sequencing, subtest 3 is number sequencing, subtest 4 is letter-number sequencing, and subtest 5 is motor speed. Time used to complete each subtest was included in further analyses.

Statistical comparisons of demographics and cognitive control measures between TBI and controls

Independent t-tests were applied in order to test group differences in age, years of completed education, and scores on the performance-based cognitive control measure D-KEFS TMT and the self-reported measure, BRIEF-A. A chi square analysis was used to test differences in proportions between groups with regard to sex distribution. The level of statistical significance was set to p < 0.05 (two sided).

Chronic phase MRI acquisition

DTI scans were acquired in the chronic phase of TBI on a 3 T Siemens Trio with Quantum gradients (30 mT/m) with a 12-channel Head Matrix Coil (Siemens AG, Erlangen, Germany). The DTI sequence was a single-shot balanced-echo EPI sequence acquired in 30 non-collinear directions with $b = 1000 \text{ s/mm}^2$ using the following parameters: TR = 6800 ms, TE = 84 ms, FOV 240 x 240 mm, slice thickness 2.5 mm, acquisition matrix 96 x 96, giving isotropic voxels of 2.5 mm. Fifty-five transversal slices with no gap were acquired giving full brain coverage. For each slice, six images without diffusion weighting (b=0), and 30 images with diffusion gradients were acquired. The DTI sequence was repeated twice to increased signal to noise ratio. In order to correct for image distortion caused by magnetic susceptibility artifacts two additional b=0 images were acquired with opposite phase-encoding polarity (Holland *et al.* 2010).

DTI analyses

DTI data was analyzed with the tools of the FMRIB software library (FSL, Oxford Centre for Functional MRI of the Brain, UK; <u>www.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl</u>) and automated tractography as described by Visser et al. (2011). First the two DTI acquisitions and extra b=0 images were merged into a single 4D file, and image artifacts due to motion and eddy current distortions were minimized by registration of the DTI acquisitions to the b=0 image using affine registration. Image distortion caused by magnetic susceptibility artifacts was minimized with a nonlinear B0-unwarping method using paired images with opposite phase-encoding polarities, resulting in opposite spatial distortion patterns, and alignment of the resulting images using a fast nonlinear registration procedure (Holland et al. 2010). The brain was extracted using Brain Extraction Tool (BET, part of FSL).

Tract-based spatial statistics (TBSS)

FMRIB's Diffusion Toolbox (FDT) was used to fit a diffusion tensor model to the raw diffusion data in each voxel. Voxelwise maps of the eigenvalues (λ_1 , λ_2 , λ_3), FA and MD were calculated for the TBI and control groups. Voxelwise statistical analysis of the diffusion data was performed using Tract-Based Spatial Statistics (TBSS, part of FSL) (Smith et al. 2007, Smith et al. 2006). Briefly, all subjects' FA data was aligned to each other, thereby identifying the "most typical" subject in the study, which was used as the target image. This target image was affine-aligned to the MNI152 standard space using a nonlinear registration tool IRTK (part of FSL) (Rueckert et al. 1999), and all the FA images were transformed into 1x1x1mm MNI152 space by combining the nonlinear transform to the target FA image with the affine transform from that target to MNI152 space. A mean FA image was created from all the aligned FA images, and thinned to create a skeletonized mean FA representing the centers of all WM tracts common to all the subjects in the analysis. The mean FA skeleton was thresholded to $FA \ge 0.2$ to include the major WM pathways, but exclude peripheral tracts and grey matter. Each subject's aligned FA data was then projected onto the skeleton by searching perpendicular from the skeleton for maximum FA values in individual subject's FA map. Statistical comparisons were then restricted to voxels in the skeleton. Voxelwise statistics of the skeletonized FA, MD and eigenvalue data were carried out using Randomise (part of FSL) to test for group differences (FA, MD and eigenvalues) and to examine the relationship between FA and MD and the different independent variables. Randomise carries out permutation-based testing and inference using Threshold-Free Cluster Enhancement (TFCE) (Nichols and Holmes, 2002) with a correction for multiple comparisons, and the statistical threshold for all the analysis were p<0.05, corrected for sex and age at MRI. Two sample independent t-tests were performed to investigate the presence of significant group differences in FA and MD between the entire TBI group versus healthy control group, and for dichotomized TBI groups: moderate versus severe TBI, injury mechanism MVA versus fall, no DAI (grade 0) versus all DAI (grades 1+2+3), DAI (grade 1) versus DAI (grade 2+3) groups. Randomise was also used to examine the relationship between FA and MD and the demographic (age at time of DTI), injury related (GCS score and time since injury), clinical (duration of PTA, number of days with \geq 3 episodes of ICP >20 mmHG or CPP < 70 mmHg), neuroimaging (number of micro hemorrhages, volume of FLAIR lesions and Rotterdam CT scores), global outcome (GOSE scores), self-reported (BRIEF sub-indices), and performance-based (D-KEFS TMT subtests 1-5) cognitive control function, performed as separate regression analyses. The anatomical locations of regions with significant group differences or associations with regard to FA and/or MD were identified in a WM atlas (Mori *et al.* 2005).

Automated tractography segmentation method

Tractography

The Camino package was used for diffusion analysis and generation of streamlines (Cook PA 2006). To parameterize voxel diffusion profiles, q-ball reconstruction was used, as it is computationally efficient and provides adequate resolution of crossing fibers in many white matter regions (Tuch 2004). Spherical harmonics up to fourth order were used as basis functions. Up to three principal diffusion directions were determined in each voxel and these were used as a basis for tractography. Streamlines were generated using the interpolated deterministic streamlining method, as implemented in Camino, with an FA threshold of 0.15. All voxels with an FA value greater than 0.25 were used as seed voxels.

Nonlinear registration

The mean b=0 volumes for all subjects were affinely registered with FLIRT (part of FSL) to the MNI152 template. A custom group template was created by averaging the registered volumes. The original b=0 volumes were then nonlinearly registered with FNIRT (part of FSL) to the group template. The streamlines were warped from subject space to the group template using the deformation fields produced by FNIRT.

Clustering

To find consistent bundles of streamlines across subjects, a clustering approach previously described in Visser et al. (2011) was used, clustering the streamlines based on their pair wise distances. Before clustering, all streamlines were linearly resampled to 25 points, and the streamlines from all 99 subjects were concatenated. Clustering was performed on the merged dataset consisting of streamlines from all subjects, allowing for the identification of clusters that are consistent across all subjects. To allow for the processing of the full set of data, the multi-subject dataset was randomly partitioned into subsets of 10.000 streamlines. In each of these subsets, 250 clusters were identified using hierarchical clustering. The hierarchical clustering process is based on repeatedly finding clusters with the lowest mutual distance and merging them until 250 clusters are identified. The clustered subsets were then combined to obtain segmentations with the same number of clusters for the full dataset, using a distance-based matching procedure to find corresponding labels across subsets. The clustering step was repeated 100 times with different random partitions to obtain a stable segmentation, by selecting the cluster assignments that occurred most often for each streamline, and to find statistics indicating the consistency of these assignments between repetitions. White matter structures were then identified in 10 randomly selected subjects from both groups by extracting the corresponding labels from the multi-subject clustering result. These labels could be applied to either the original or resampled streamlines, and are consistent in all the individuals in the study. For each subject, the clusters were extracted with pruning (thresholding), and concatenated to form the corresponding fiber tracts: corpus callosum (CC), superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF) and inferior longitudinal fasciculus/inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus (ILF/IFOF). ROIs were made for the extracted fiber tracts and converted into subject diffusion space, to extract mean FA, MD, λ_1 , λ_2 , λ_3 and volume for each tract separately in the left and right hemisphere in each subject. Tract volume was calculated for each WM tract by summing the number of voxels containing at least one streamline and multiplying by voxel volume. It is important to note that this value reflects the number of voxels within the tract that exceeded the tracking FA threshold, and might deviate from the actual volume.

For further analyses, values obtained from the tractography method was extracted and analyzed in SPSS. Mann-Whitney U tests (two-tailed) with significance set to p> 0.05 were used to compare FA, MD, λ_1 , λ_2 , λ_3 and volume of CC, left and right SLF and ILF/IFOF in the TBI and the healthy control groups due to lack of normal distributions. Separate partial correlation models adjusting for age and sex were applied for TBI survivors and healthy controls in order to investigate the relationship between the DTI measures obtained from tractography and injury severity (GCS score), global outcome (GOSE score), and cognitive control measures (BRIEF-A and D-KEFS TMT subtests1-5). For the TBI survivors, the relationship between the volumes of the tracts and DAI and time since injury was also investigated by partial correlation models adjusted for age and sex.

To more directly compare the FA values in CC from the TBSS and the automated tractography method, a ROI was manually drawn on the TBSS' WM-skeleton which only included voxels in CC. Mean FA was calculated from the CC TBSS ROI and compared with the mean FA in CC from the automated tractography method using a Mann-Whitheny U test (two tailed) with significance set to p>0.05.

For images used in figures, the FSL 1mm mean FA template was used as the background image. The images are shown in radiological convention, i.e. the right side of the subjects is on the left side of the images.

Results

In total 49 DTI scans (36 male) were suitable for analysis in the TBI group. Of the 73 TBI subjects initially included, 14 subjects were excluded due to vibration artifacts in the DTI scans, 2 due to missing DTI, 2 due to missing correction scans, and 6 due to DTI acquisitions in only 12 directions. There was ~50-50% moderate and severe TBI patients included, ³/₄ had any grade of DAI and about half had PTA>1 week (Table 1). The mean GOSE score at time of DTI was 6.7 (range 5-8), i.e. all TBI survivors in the current study recovered with moderate disability or better. The GOSE scores were not significant different between the moderate (6.8±1.1) and the severe TBI groups (6.5±1.1) (*p*=0.36).

There were 50 healthy controls matching the 49 TBI survivors that were included in the current study. They were chosen among the controls with high quality DTI scans.

A summary of the group characteristics for the TBI and control subjects included in the analyses is given in Table 1. There were no statistical significant differences with regard to age, sex distribution, length of completed education, or on the different scores on the performance-based test of cognitive control, D-KEFS TMT, between the TBI and the control groups (Table 1). With regard to the self-reported cognitive control measure, the TBI group scored significantly higher on the BRIEF-A global executive composite score and behavior regulation index than the healthy controls, but there was no group difference for the metacognitive index (Table 1).

TBSS analyses of group differences between TBI and control groups

Significantly decreased FA and increased MD were present in all major WM tracts and the brain stem in the TBI group compared to the control group (Figure 1). The reduced FA was mainly caused by an increase in the radial eigenvalues (data not shown). In the control group a strong negative association was found between FA and age at time of scanning in all major WM tracts, except for very limited involvement of the anterior and posterior limb of the internal capsule (Figure 2). A positive association between MD and age was more circumscribed and included the anterior CC, fornix, external capsule and optic radiation in the healthy controls (Figure 2). No associations between FA or MD and age were present in the TBI group.

Impact of acute phase injury related, neuroimaging and clinical variables on chronic phase FA and MD in the TBI group

Injury severity and mechanism had significant impact on FA in particular. The severe TBI group had significantly lower FA in the truncal part of CC compared to the moderate TBI group, but there was no difference in MD (Figure 1). The MVA group had significantly lower FA in the right hemisphere SLF, posterior corona radiata, ILF/IFOF and external capsule compared to the fall group (Figure 1). No differences in MD were ob-

served between the MVA and fall groups. The group with DAI had significantly lower FA in the entire CC, anterior and posterior limbs of the internal capsule, peripheral parts of intra- and inter-hemispheric tracts, thalamus and brain stem compared to the no DAI group (Figure 1). MD was not decreased in the deeper, midline structures (i.e. thalamus and brain stem), only in the long intrahemispheric tracts and CC in the DAI group compared to the non-DAI group (Figure 1). In the DAI grade 2+3 group, FA was significantly lower in the CC, and right anterior corona radiate plus external capsule compared to DAI grade 1 group, but there were no MD difference (Figure 1).

Time since injury was not associated with FA or MD values. GCS scores were positively associated with FA, most notably in CC and thalamus, but also in the external capsule, SLF, ILF/IFOF and the more peripheral hemispheric tracts (Figure 3). The MD increases associated with lower GCS scores were more or less the inverse of the FA decreases (Figure 3). PTA duration was negatively associated with FA values in all WM tracts including the peripheral hemispheric tracts and temporal lobe tracts as well as the thalamus, but excluding the posterior limb of internal capsule (Figure 3). MD was similarly, but inversely, related to PTA duration (Figure 3). Both the number of micro hemorrhages and the FLAIR lesion volume were significantly associated with reduced FA in all major WM tracts including the peripheral parts of the hemispheric WM tracts and thalamus (Figure 3). The associations between number of micro hemorrhages and FLAIR volumes with MD were the inverse of that of FA (Figure 3). Rotterdam CT scores were not associated with FA or MD values. Number of days with \geq 3 episodes of ICP >20 mmHg was not associated with FA or MD changes. Number of days with \geq 3 episodes of CPP <70 mmHg was associated with increased MD in the anterior CC and corona radiate (Figure 3), but no FA changes.

Associations between different outcome measures in chronic phase and FA and MD from the TBSS analysis in TBI and control groups

In the TBI group GOSE scores were positively associated with FA in CC, external capsule, SLF and ILF/IFOF including some of the more peripheral tracts, plus the brain stem (Figure 3). For MD a significant negative association was present also in the thalamus (Figure 3). In the TBI group the scores for D-KEFS TMT subtests 1-4 were negatively correlated with FA and positively with MD in all central and peripheral WM tracts. The correlations were most striking between FA and subtest 1, 3 and 4, while the significant correlations between FA and subtest 2 were predominantly located to the right hemisphere (Figure 4). For subtests 1-4, FA and MD changes mirrored each other (Figure 4). There were no associations between FA or MD and subtest 5, i.e. the motor speed test. In the control group FA correlated with subtest 3, similarly to that in the TBI group, although the more superior brain regions and thalamus were not involved in the controls (Figure 4). There were no statistically significant correlations between FA and the other D-KEFS TMT subtests in the controls. There were no associations between the BRIEF-A sub indices and FA or MD in the TBI or control groups.

Automated tractography in TBI and control groups

Representative tractographies of CC, SLF and ILF/IFOF in one TBI survivor and one control subject are shown in Figure 5. TBI survivors had significantly lower tract volumes for all studied tracts except left SLF (Table 2). Moreover, all tracts' median FA values were significantly lower while median MD, λ_1 , λ_2 , and λ_3 values were significantly higher in the TBI group compared to the control groups (Table 2). The direct comparison between FA in CC obtained from TBSS and automated tractography showed that FA was significantly higher (p<0.001) in the TBSS analysis in both the TBI and control groups (TBI: mean FA = 0.65±0.06 (median=0.66); controls: mean FA=0.72±0.04 (median=0.72)) compared to FA from automated tractography (TBI: FA=0.41±0.02 (median=0.43)).

In the TBI group, GCS scores were associated with volume loss in CC and right ILF/IFOF (Table 3). Furthermore, the volume of ILF/IFOF (left: r=-0.346, p=0.02; right: r=-0.470, p=0.001) was negatively correlated with DAI grade, no similar correlations were present for the other tracts' volumes. Time since injury correlated positively with CC volume (r=0.304, p=0.043), but not with the other tracts' volumes. Mean MD was the parameter from the tractograhy which was most consistently correlated with GOSE scores (Table 3). For the tract volumes, only the ILF/IFOF volumes were correlated with

GOSE scores. No other consistent findings were present (Table 3). No significant relationships between BRIEF-A sub indices scores and the automated tractography parameters were demonstrated in the TBI or healthy control groups (Table 4). D-KEFS TMT subtests 1-5 scores were somewhat inconsistently associated with FA and MD values obtained from the automated tractography analysis (Table 4). The associations with tract volumes and performance on D-KEFS TMT were even less consistent (Table 4). In the controls D-KEFS TMT subtests 1 and 3 was significantly correlated with volume of the CC, and FA plus volume of the right ILF/IFOF. No other correlations were found between the automated tractography measures and D-KEFS TMT scores in the controls.

Discussion

The present study revealed extensive changes in WM FA, MD and tract volumes in chronic moderate and severe TBI survivors with relatively good overall outcome and highly similar performance-based cognitive control function as compared to a well-matched healthy control group. There were six main findings in this study: (1) FA was the primary denominator of injury severity, (2) DAI of any grade led to lower FA in the thalamus and brain stem, (3) in severe TBI, days with CPP <70 mmHg had minor effects specifically on MD, (4) days with ICP >20 mmHg, as well as Rotterdam CT scores reflecting brain edema and /or mass lesions and thereby increasing ICP, did not significantly affect chronic phase FA or MD, (5) the relationship between chronic phase outcome and DTI measures varied between DTI analysis methods as well as between types of outcomes, but appeared in general to be associated with both FA and MD, and to a very limited extent tract volumes, (6) decreased performance-based cognitive control function following TBI was associated with widespread FA and MD changes, while self-reported cognitive control functions were not.

Impact of acute phase injury, clinical and neuroimaging variables on FA, MD and volumes in chronic moderate and severe TBI

The reduced FA in TBI resulted from increased diffusivity perpendicular to the tract axis, which implies loss of axons but also myelin (Beaulieu 2002, Song *et al.* 2003). FA was shown to be a particular sensitivity marker of injury severity as seen in the group compar-

isons between severe versus moderate TBI, MVA versus fall injuries, and DAI grade 2+3 versus DAI grade 1. These findings extend previous claims that FA is a representative measure, describing the distribution and severity of WM changes in TBI (Bigler 2013b, Bigler 2013a, Kinnunen et al. 2011).

Since DAI and GCS scores are connected (Skandsen et al. 2010, Ommaya & Gennarelli 1974, Gennarelli et al. 1982), it was not surprising that GCS scores were associated with FA as well as MD values in CC, long intra hemispheric tracts, thalamus and brainstem. This agrees with predictions of propagation of traumatic forces through WM based on biomechanical modeling as well as previously published results on the correlations between GCS scores and DTI parameters obtained in studies in several severities of TBI and using different types of DTI analysis approaches (Sorg et al. 2013, Adams et al. 1989, Chatelin et al. 2011, McAllister et al. 2012, Bayly et al. 2012). The duration of PTA was significantly associated with FA and MD in both central and peripheral WM tracts, and the thalamus. Furthermore, tracts connecting the temporal lobe with both posterior and anterior brain regions were affected. This suggests that PTA duration is a result of widespread disconnection of WM, including the temporal lobes and thalamus, which corresponds well with the overall disorientation and reduction in several cognitive domains often observed during PTA (Marshman et al. 2013). The brain correlates of PTA, however, needs further study, since few studies have examined patients during PTA. The lack of normal age related FA and MD changes in the TBI group further emphasized the impact of TBI on WM, demonstrating that moderate and severe TBI leads to WM pathology superseding normal physiological processes. There was no effect of time since injury on FA or MD in the TBSS analysis. This may be related to the fact that all TBI survivors were in the chronic phase, well past the first year after injury. One longitudinal study of FA changes over time in severe TBI showed no further decline in FA between 2 and 5 years after injury (Dinkel et al. 2013), and two other longitudinal studies during the first 6 months to 1 year after the injury reported changes within the time period of the studies (Kumar et al. 2009, Ljungqvist et al. 2011, Sidaros et al. 2008). There is also a study which showed that when taking age into account, FA and MD changes over time was not present in WM after TBI (Kinnunen et al. 2011). Taken together, FA and MD appear to

stabilize 1 year after TBI although histopathologically changes in WM continue (Vargas & Barres 2007, Johnson et al. 2013a). Surprisingly a positive correlation between time since injury and CC volume was demonstrated in the current study. It is difficult to reconcile this finding with the previous finding of total WM loss of ~ 2% of the intracranial volume during the first year after TBI (Brezova et al. 2014). One might speculate that reorganization is more prominent in the CC due to its sheer size, and/or that gliosis formation is more marked since the CC suffers the greatest strain (Chatelin et al. 2011, Levin et al. 1988, Ommaya & Gennarelli 1974), thence leading to volume increase with time since injury.

The presence and severity of DAI as described from the acute phase MRI scans (FLAIR lesion volumes, number of micro hemorrhages as well as DAI grade) were demonstrated to be closely linked to both FA and MD changes in the TBI survivors. Hence, early phase conventional MRI of DAI is a valuable tool for describing WM injury in TBI. As expected based on the distribution of DAI lesions (Gentry 1994), reduced FA and increased MD was observed in the CC in DAI grade 2 + 3 group versus DAI grade 1 group. However, there was no significant difference in brain stem FA or MD between the DAI grades. This may be due to DAI of any grade impacting on the brainstem. This interpretation is supported by the comparison no DAI versus DAI group which revealed significant FA changes in both the brainstem and thalamus in the latter group. Indeed, the brainstem appears to be particularly sensitivity to DAI as significantly smaller brain stem volumes are observed in all grades of DAI versus non DAI already in the acute phase of TBI (Brezova et al. 2014). Furthermore, the present results demonstrated that the thalamus was particularly sensitive to DAI. The thalamic FA changes in the chronic phase may reflect secondary changes resulting from disconnection of the thalamus and cortex due to DAI in corona radiata, and/or represent primary thalamic injury as DAI lesions in thalamus are present in early phase after TBI (Moen et al. 2014, Moen et al. 2012, Little et al. 2010). Only the volume of ILF/IFOF was correlated with DAI grade. This finding may point to deeper hemispheric tracts as being more affected with increasing DAI grade.

Number of days with ≥ 3 episodes of CPP <70 mmHg was associated with increased MD, but no changes in FA in the TBI group admitted to ICU. This suggests that oligodendrocytes are particularly vulnerable to CPP decreases in TBI, similar to observations in other cerebral pathologies and in normal aging (Børch et al. 2010, Back 2006, Vernooij et al. 2008, Fazekas et al. 1993). The cut-off of CPP<70 mmHg is high according to today's guidelines (Bullock & Povlishock 2007), and may include normal physiological CPP fluctuations. However, since the number of events was based on number of days with at least 3 episodes of CPP <70 mmHg, it seems likely that CPP dysregulation was present in the severe TBI patients included in the analysis. The MD changes associated with the CPP measures were located to the arterial territory shared by the middle and anterior cerebral arteries, pointing to an ischemic origin and the vulnerability of the water shed areas to CPP drops. It should be noted that a possible effect of decreased CPP on MD is unlikely to affect overall outcome, which is the most common end point used to evaluate ICU treatment protocols. Still, the MD increase in anterior CC and corona radiata may influence cognitive outcome as MD in these regions was associated with performance on D-KEFS TMT subtests. There was no measurable influence of days with \geq 3 episodes of ICP >20mmHg on WM FA or MD in the severe TBI group admitted to ICU. This is in line with acute experimental data (Lafrenave et al. 2012), and results from the early phase of TBI (Newcombe et al. 2011). In a study of the long term effect (~5 years) of raised ICP in the acute phase after TBI on CC microstructure in children, the patient group with ICP >20 mmHg and/or treatment for lowering ICP for >3 days was shown to have reduced FA and increased MD in the CC compared to the group without ICP elevation (Tasker et al. 2010). It may be that children are more sensitive to ICP >20 mmHg as their normal ICP is lower than in the adult (Rangel-Castilla et al. 2008). Taken together with the lack of associations between FA or MD and Rotterdam CT scores, which also reflect increased ICP, the current study does not find support for elevated ICP per se leading to additional WM injury in adults surviving TBI.

White matter in chronic moderate and severe TBI as described by automated tractography

The automatic tractography method demonstrated that the volume of WM tracts was significantly reduced in the chronic phase of TBI, concurring with the WM atrophy taking place during the first year after TBI (Brezova et al. 2014). Previous studies have used other tractography methods, more mixed TBI groups, and shorter follow up which may have lead to less consistent findings with regard to tract volumes in TBI groups (Brandstack et al. 2013, Kurki et al. 2013). In this study the FA, MD, eigenvalues and volumes were consistent between SLF and ILF/IFOF in the two hemispheres in both the TBI and the control groups. The current study demonstrated that CC had the greatest volume loss (~16% of controls), followed by ILF/IFOF (~10%), and SLF (0-7%).

In the TBI group GCS scores were associated with greater volumes loss in CC, but not consistently with the volume of the other tracts. CC is considered to be the tract experiencing the largest force in TBI (Chatelin et al. 2011, Levin et al. 1988, Ommaya & Gennarelli 1974). It is therefore not surprising that the largest and most consistent effect on volume was found in this structure. However, as described above, CC volume was also found to be positively associated with time since injury. Together these findings suggest that both the initial traumatic forces as well as inherent responses in CC following TBI lead to the observed macro- and microstructural CC changes.

Even though the tractography results appeared to be consistent with regard to tract FA, MD and volumes in both the TBI and control groups, the associations between these measures and the acute phase and outcome measures were highly inconsistent compared to the TBSS results. The most consistent finding for GCS scores were increased MD in CC, right and left SLF and right ILFO/IFO. Thus, mean FA value of an entire tract does not appear to reflect injury severity to the same extent as MD of the tract. These results concur with a previous study which showed that FA values obtained with tractography are significantly affected by the methodology used and often deviate considerably from that in central parts of the tract (Kurki et al. 2013). The impact of analysis method on FA is clearly illustrated in the present study in the direct comparison between FA in the CC

from tractography and from the CC ROI using TBSS which showed significantly lower FA with tractography. This result is to be expected since the automated tractography encompasses larger parts of the CC and therefore includes more peripheral parts with lower FA values. By including WM with lower FA, the effect of injury severity on WM will not be as striking. These results point to TBSS as the method of choice for depicting injury severity.

Chronic phase outcome measures and associations with WM FA, MD and tract volumes In the TBSS analysis widespread FA decreases and MD increases in the same regions were demonstrated to be associated with poorer general outcome measured with GOSE and performance-based cognitive control measured with D-KEFS TMT subtests 1-4. The tractography analysis, on the other hand, showed that mean MD in all tracts was associated with GOSE scores while FA was not. Furthermore, FA, MD and tract volumes from automated tractography were found to be associated with D-KEFS TMT subtests 1-5, but the findings were inconsistent both with regard to subtests and tracts involved. Taken together, these results demonstrated that both FA and MD changes determine outcome, but that different approaches to DTI analysis as well as the type of outcome measured give somewhat varying results. Tract volumes were to a very limited and inconsistent extent associated with outcome, and will not be discussed further.

In the TBI group widespread regions of reduced FA and increased MD were associated with poorer performance on D-KEFS TMT subtests 1-4, but not subtest 5 measuring motor speed. This result illustrates how subtests 1-4 might rely more upon integration and communication within a distributed cognitive control brain network (Power & Petersen 2013, Dosenbach *et al.* 2007) than pure motor speed. Previous studies have demonstrated associations between reduced FA and increased MD in several of the same WM tracts and poorer cognitive control performance after TBI (Leunissen *et al.* 2013, Kinnunen et al. 2011, Niogi et al. 2008, Spitz et al. 2013). In addition, the present data supports an important role of microstructural integrity of the thalamus for cognitive control functions in particular, but not overall outcome as indicated by the lack of significant association between GOSE scores and FA and MD in thalamus in the TBSS analysis. In the healthy

control group, FA was positively associated with D-KEFS TMT subtest 3. In general, significant associations between FA or MD and performance based scores on neuropsy-chological tests are infrequently observed in healthy controls, but is a common finding in groups with different cerebral pathologies (Eikenes *et al.* 2012, Eikenes *et al.* 2011, Nir *et al.* 2013, Deng *et al.* 2013) concurring with the current results.

The significant self-reported deficits in cognitive control functions measured with BRIEF-A in the TBI group, were not correlated with FA, MD or tract volumes from the TBSS or automated tractography analyses. The lack of a relationship between self-reported changes in cognitive control function and changes in FA and MD combined with the presence of such associations for performance-based measures of cognitive control, supports the suggested distinction between cognitive control function measured by self-report as opposed to performance (Toplak et al. 2013, Isquith et al. 2013). In a recent study, we demonstrated that increased BOLD activation in prefrontal and parietal cortex after moderate to severe TBI was associated with less self-reported cognitive control problems, thus possibly representing a compensatory mechanism (Olsen *et al.* 2014). Taken together, WM integrity appears to determine the objective effectiveness (i.e. performance based measure) of cognitive control processing while grey matter changes, such as those detected with fMRI, seems to underlie the individual's experience of effort with regard to cognitive control (i.e. self-report) following TBI.

Limitations

The strength of the study is the prospective design with clinical and neuroimaging data, plus the well-matched healthy control group. Still, some clinical data was available only in subgroups of TBI survivors, as shown in Table 1. For instance not all severe TBI patients had ICP and CPP monitoring, and data was therefore available in 16 out of 23 severe TBI survivors. Moreover, when the TBI group was divided into clinical subgroups, the number of individuals in some of the groups was small, e.g. in the DAI 3 group, which made it impossible to study the different DAI grades separately. Furthermore, many statistical tests were performed in this study, and only the TBSS analyses were corrected for multiple comparisons. This increases the risk of type 1 errors. In addition, not

all data had a normal distribution parametric correlation analysis was implemented, e.g. GCS scores and number of days with CPP and ICP deviations, which may have caused type II errors. Finally, although representing key measurement tools of self-reported and performance-based cognitive control function, the selection of only the D-KEFS TMT and BRIEF-A leaves some uncertainty whether other assessment tools could have provided different results.

The associations between the automated tractography measures and the different acute phase and outcome measures were rather inconsistent compared to that obtained with TBSS. The use of tractography needs further refinement and investigations to verify its role in TBI studies.

Conclusions

Loss of FA, MD and tract volumes following moderate to severe TBI is widespread, and reflects the propagation of the traumatic forces through the brain. FA is particularly sensitive to injury severity and mechanism, while FA and MD are both important for outcome. Tract volume on the other hand was not consistently found to be related to outcome. DAI of all grades in the acute phase specifically affects thalamus and brainstem microstructure in the chronic phase. Performance-based, but not self-reported, cognitive control functions were associated with WM FA and MD changes suggesting that the brain correlates differ between self-reported and performance-based cognitive control measures. Based on previous and current findings performance impairments are more closely related to WM microstructure while self-reported problems are associated with changes in cortical activations.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank radiologist Ingrid H Strand for Rotterdam CT scoring, neuroradiologists Mari Folvik, Kjell Arne Kvistad, and Jana Rydland for DAI grading in the acute phase, the MRI technologist for helping with the scanning, Jarle Ladstein for compiling the library for phase correction, and Sigrun Flækken and Inger Helene Hamborg for their help in collecting performance-based cognitive outcome data.

References

- Adams, J. H., Doyle, D., Ford, I., Gennarelli, T. A., Graham, D. I. and McLellan, D. R. (1989) Diffuse axonal injury in head injury: definition, diagnosis and grading. *Histopathology*, **15**, 49-59.
- Adams, J. H., Doyle, D., Graham, D. I., Lawrence, A. E. and McLellan, D. R. (1984) Diffuse axonal injury in head injuries caused by a fall. *Lancet*, **2**, 1420-1422.
- Adams, J. H., Graham, D. I., Murray, L. S. and Scott, G. (1982) Diffuse axonal injury due to nonmissile head injury in humans: an analysis of 45 cases. *Ann Neurol*, **12**, 557-563.
- Back, S. A. (2006) Perinatal white matter injury: the changing spectrum of pathology and emerging insights into pathogenetic mechanisms. *Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev*, **12**, 129-140.
- Basser, P. J. and Pierpaoli, C. (1996) Microstructural and physiological features of tissues elucidated by quantitative-diffusion-tensor MRI. *J Magn Reson B*, **111**, 209-219.
- Bayly, P. V., Clayton, E. H. and Genin, G. M. (2012) Quantitative imaging methods for the development and validation of brain biomechanics models. *Annu Rev Biomed Eng*, 14, 369-396.
- Beaulieu, C. (2002) The basis of anisotropic water diffusion in the nervous system a technical review. *NMR Biomed*, **15**, 435-455.
- Bendlin, B. B., Fitzgerald, M. E., Ries, M. L. et al. (2010) White matter in aging and cognition: a cross-sectional study of microstructure in adults aged eighteen to eighty-three. *Dev Neuropsychol*, **35**, 257-277.
- Bendlin, B. B., Ries, M. L., Lazar, M., Alexander, A. L., Dempsey, R. J., Rowley, H. A., Sherman, J. E. and Johnson, S. C. (2008) Longitudinal changes in patients with traumatic brain injury assessed with diffusion-tensor and volumetric imaging. *Neuroimage*, 42, 503-514.
- Benson, R. R., Meda, S. A., Vasudevan, S. et al. (2007) Global white matter analysis of diffusion tensor images is predictive of injury severity in traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*, 24, 446-459.
- Betz, J., Zhuo, J., Roy, A., Shanmuganathan, K. and Gullapalli, R. P. (2012) Prognostic value of diffusion tensor imaging parameters in severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*, 29, 1292-1305.
- Bigler, E. D. (2013a) Neuroimaging Biomarkers in Mild Traumatic Brain Injury (mTBI). Neuropsychol Rev, 23, 169-209.
- Bigler, E. D. (2013b) Traumatic brain injury, neuroimaging, and neurodegeneration. *Front Hum Neurosci*, **7**, 395.
- Brandstack, N., Kurki, T. and Tenovuo, O. (2013) Quantitative diffusion-tensor tractography of long association tracts in patients with traumatic brain injury without associated findings at routine MR imaging. *Radiology*, **267**, 231-239.
- Brezova, V., ^kG, M., T, S., A, V., JB, B., O, S. and AK, H. (2014) Prospective longitudinal MRI study of brain volumes and diffusion changes during the first year after moderate to severe traumatic brain injury. *NeuroImage Clinical*.
- Bullock, M. and Povlishock, J. (2007) Guidelines for the management of severer traumatic brain injury. 3rd edition., (B. T. Foundation ed.), Vol. 24, pp. S1-116. Journal of Neurotrauma.
- Børch, K., Lou, H. C. and Greisen, G. (2010) Cerebral white matter blood flow and arterial blood pressure in preterm infants. *Acta Paediatr*, **99**, 1489-1492.
- Chatelin, S., Deck, C., Renard, F., Kremer, S., Heinrich, C., Armspach, J. P. and Willinger, R. (2011) Computation of axonal elongation in head trauma finite element simulation. *J Mech Behav Biomed Mater*, **4**, 1905-1919.

- Coleman, M. P. and Freeman, M. R. (2010) Wallerian degeneration, wld(s), and nmnat. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, **33**, 245-267.
- Cook PA, B. Y., Nedjati-Gilani K, et al (2006) Camino: Open-Source Diffusion-MRI Reconstruction and Processing. *Proceedings of the International Society for Magnetic* Resonance in Medicine, **14**, 2759.
- Davceva, N., Janevska, V., Ilievski, B., Petrushevska, G. and Popeska, Z. (2012) The occurrence of acute subdural haematoma and diffuse axonal injury as two typical acceleration injuries. *J Forensic Leg Med*, **19**, 480-484.
- Delis DC, K. E., Kramer J (2001) Delis Kaplan Executive Function System. The Psychological Corporation, San Antonio, TX, US.
- Deng, B., Zhang, Y., Wang, L., Peng, K., Han, L., Nie, K., Yang, H., Zhang, L. and Wang, J. (2013) Diffusion tensor imaging reveals white matter changes associated with cognitive status in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen*, **28**, 154-164.
- Dinkel, J., Drier, A., Khalilzadeh, O. et al. (2013) Long-Term White Matter Changes after Severe Traumatic Brain Injury: A 5-Year Prospective Cohort. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*.
- Dosenbach, N. U., Fair, D. A., Miezin, F. M. et al. (2007) Distinct brain networks for adaptive and stable task control in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **104**, 11073-11078.
- Eikenes, L., Løhaugen, G. C., Brubakk, A. M., Skranes, J. and Håberg, A. K. (2011) Young adults born preterm with very low birth weight demonstrate widespread white matter alterations on brain DTI. *Neuroimage*, **54**, 1774-1785.
- Eikenes, L., Martinussen, M. P., Lund, L. K., Løhaugen, G. C., Indredavik, M. S., Jacobsen, G. W., Skranes, J., Brubakk, A. M. and Håberg, A. K. (2012) Being born small for gestational age reduces white matter integrity in adulthood: a prospective cohort study. *Pediatr Res*, **72**, 649-654.
- Fazekas, F., Kleinert, R., Offenbacher, H., Schmidt, R., Kleinert, G., Payer, F., Radner, H. and Lechner, H. (1993) Pathologic correlates of incidental MRI white matter signal hyperintensities. *Neurology*, 43, 1683-1689.
- Finnanger, T. G., Skandsen, T., Andersson, S., Lydersen, S., Vik, A. and Indredavik, M. (2013) Differentiated patterns of cognitive impairment 12 months after severe and moderate traumatic brain injury. *Brain injury : [BI]*, 27, 1606-1616.
- Gennarelli, T. A., Thibault, L. E., Adams, J. H., Graham, D. I., Thompson, C. J. and Marcincin, R. P. (1982) Diffuse axonal injury and traumatic coma in the primate. *Ann Neurol*, **12**, 564-574.
- Gentry, L. R. (1994) Imaging of closed head injury. Radiology, 191, 1-17.
- Holland, D., Kuperman, J. M. and Dale, A. M. (2010) Efficient correction of inhomogeneous static magnetic field-induced distortion in Echo Planar Imaging. *Neuroimage*, **50**, 175-183.
- Hulkower, M. B., Poliak, D. B., Rosenbaum, S. B., Zimmerman, M. E. and Lipton, M. L. (2013) A decade of DTI in traumatic brain injury: 10 years and 100 articles later. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 34, 2064-2074.
- Inglese, M., Makani, S., Johnson, G., Cohen, B. A., Silver, J. A., Gonen, O. and Grossman, R. I. (2005) Diffuse axonal injury in mild traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *J Neurosurg.*, **103**, 298-303.
- Isquith, P. K., Roth, R. M. and Gioia, G. (2013) Contribution of rating scales to the assessment of executive functions. *Applied neuropsychology. Child*, **2**, 125-132.
- Jackson, W. T., Novack, T. A. and Dowler, R. N. (1998) Effective serial measurement of cognitive orientation in rehabilitation: the Orientation Log. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, **79**, 718-720.
- Jennett, B., Snoek, J., Bond, M. R. and Brooks, N. (1981) Disability after severe head injury: observations on the use of the Glasgow Outcome Scale. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 44, 285-293.
- Johnson, V. E., Stewart, J. E., Begbie, F. D., Trojanowski, J. Q., Smith, D. H. and Stewart, W. (2013a) Inflammation and white matter degeneration persist for years after a single traumatic brain injury. *Brain*, **136**, 28-42.
- Johnson, V. E., Stewart, W. and Smith, D. H. (2013b) Axonal pathology in traumatic brain injury. *Exp Neurol*, **246**, 35-43.
- Karamanos, E., Teixeira, P. G., Sivrikoz, E., Varga, S., Chouliaras, K., Okoye, O. and Hammer, P. (2014) Intracranial pressure versus cerebral perfusion pressure as a marker of outcomes in severe head injury: a prospective evaluation. *Am J Surg*.
- Kinnunen, K. M., Greenwood, R., Powell, J. H., Leech, R., Hawkins, P. C., Bonnelle, V., Patel, M. C., Counsell, S. J. and Sharp, D. J. (2011) White matter damage and cognitive impairment after traumatic brain injury. *Brain*, **134**, 449-463.
- Kumar, R., Husain, M., Gupta, R. K., Hasan, K. M., Haris, M., Agarwal, A. K., Pandey, C. M. and Narayana, P. A. (2009) Serial changes in the white matter diffusion tensor imaging metrics in moderate traumatic brain injury and correlation with neuro-cognitive function. J. Neurotrauma, 26, 481-495.
- Kurki, T. J., Laalo, J. P. and Oksaranta, O. M. (2013) Diffusion tensor tractography of the uncinate fasciculus: pitfalls in quantitative analysis due to traumatic volume changes. J Magn Reson Imaging, 38, 46-53.
- Lafrenaye, A. D., McGinn, M. J. and Povlishock, J. T. (2012) Increased intracranial pressure after diffuse traumatic brain injury exacerbates neuronal somatic membrane poration but not axonal injury: evidence for primary intracranial pressure-induced neuronal perturbation. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 32, 1919-1932.
- Leunissen, I., Coxon, J. P., Caeyenberghs, K., Michiels, K., Sunaert, S. and Swinnen, S. P. (2013) Task switching in traumatic brain injury relates to cortico-subcortical integrity. *Hum Brain Mapp*.
- Leunissen, I., Coxon, J. P., Caeyenberghs, K., Michiels, K., Sunaert, S. and Swinnen, S. P. (2014) Task switching in traumatic brain injury relates to cortico-subcortical integrity. *Hum Brain Mapp*, **35**, 2459-2469.
- Levin, H. S., Williams, D., Crofford, M. J. et al. (1988) Relationship of depth of brain lesions to consciousness and outcome after closed head injury. *J Neurosurg*, **69**, 861-866.
- Li, S., Sun, Y., Shan, D., Feng, B., Xing, J., Duan, Y., Dai, J., Lei, H. and Zhou, Y. (2013) Temporal profiles of axonal injury following impact acceleration traumatic brain injury in rats--a comparative study with diffusion tensor imaging and morphological analysis. *Int J Legal Med*, **127**, 159-167.
- Little, D. M., Kraus, M. F., Joseph, J., Geary, E. K., Susmaras, T., Zhou, X. J., Pliskin, N. and Gorelick, P. B. (2010) Thalamic integrity underlies executive dysfunction in traumatic brain injury. *Neurology*, **74**, 558-564.
- Ljungqvist, J., Nilsson, D., Ljungberg, M., Sörbo, A., Esbjörnsson, E., Eriksson-Ritzén, C. and Skoglund, T. (2011) Longitudinal study of the diffusion tensor imaging properties of the corpus callosum in acute and chronic diffuse axonal injury. *Brain Inj*, **25**, 370-378.
- Maas, A. I., Dearden, M., Teasdale, G. M. et al. (1997) EBIC-guidelines for management of severe head injury in adults. European Brain Injury Consortium. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*, **139**, 286-294.
- Maas, A. I., Hukkelhoven, C. W., Marshall, L. F. and Steyerberg, E. W. (2005) Prediction of outcome in traumatic brain injury with computed tomographic characteristics: a

comparison between the computed tomographic classification and combinations of computed tomographic predictors. *Neurosurgery*, **57**, 1173-1182; discussion 1173-1182.

- Marshman, L. A., Jakabek, D., Hennessy, M., Quirk, F. and Guazzo, E. P. (2013) Post-traumatic amnesia. *J Clin Neurosci*, **20**, 1475-1481.
- McAllister, T. W., Ford, J. C., Ji, S., Beckwith, J. G., Flashman, L. A., Paulsen, K. and Greenwald, R.
 M. (2012) Maximum principal strain and strain rate associated with concussion diagnosis correlates with changes in corpus callosum white matter indices. *Ann Biomed Eng*, **40**, 127-140.
- Meythaler, J. M., Peduzzi, J. D., Eleftheriou, E. and Novack, T. A. (2001) Current concepts: diffuse axonal injury-associated traumatic brain injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, **82**, 1461-1471.
- Moen, K. G., Brezova, V., Skandsen, T., Håberg, A. K., Folvik, M. and Vik, A. (2014) Traumatic Axonal Injury: The Prognostic Value of Lesion Load in Corpus Callosum, Brain Stem, and Thalamus in Different Magnetic Resonance Imaging Sequences. *J Neurotrauma*.
- Moen, K. G., Skandsen, T., Folvik, M., Brezova, V., Kvistad, K. A., Rydland, J., Manley, G. T. and Vik, A. (2012) A longitudinal MRI study of traumatic axonal injury in patients with moderate and severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 83, 1193-1200.
- Mori, S., Wakana, S. and Van Zijl, P. C. M. (2005) *MRI atlas of human white matter*. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands ; Boston.
- Newcombe, V., Chatfield, D., Outtrim, J. et al. (2011) Mapping traumatic axonal injury using diffusion tensor imaging: correlations with functional outcome. *PLoS One*, **6**, e19214.
- Niogi, S. N., Mukherjee, P., Ghajar, J. et al. (2008) Structural dissociation of attentional control and memory in adults with and without mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain*, **131**, 3209-3221.
- Nir, T. M., Jahanshad, N., Villalon-Reina, J. E., Toga, A. W., Jack, C. R., Weiner, M. W., Thompson,
 P. M. and (ADNI), A. s. D. N. I. (2013) Effectiveness of regional DTI measures in distinguishing Alzheimer's disease, MCI, and normal aging. *Neuroimage Clin*, 3, 180-195.
- Olsen, A., Brunner, J. F., Indredavik Evensen, K. A., Finnanger, T. G., Vik, A., Skandsen, T., Landro, N. I. and Haberg, A. K. (2014) Altered Cognitive Control Activations after Moderate-to-Severe Traumatic Brain Injury and Their Relationship to Injury Severity and Everyday-Life Function. Cereb Cortex.
- Ommaya, A. K. and Gennarelli, T. A. (1974) Cerebral concussion and traumatic unconsciousness. Correlation of experimental and clinical observations of blunt head injuries. *Brain*, **97**, 633-654.
- Peerless, S. J. and Rewcastle, N. B. (1967) Shear injuries of the brain. *Can Med Assoc J*, **96**, 577-582.
- Pierpaoli, C., Jezzard, P., Basser, P. J., Barnett, A. and Di Chiro, G. (1996) Diffusion tensor MR imaging of the human brain. *Radiology*, **201**, 637-648.
- Povlishock, J. T. (1992) Traumatically induced axonal injury: pathogenesis and pathobiological implications. *Brain Pathol*, **2**, 1-12.
- Power, J. D. and Petersen, S. E. (2013) Control-related systems in the human brain. *Current opinion in neurobiology*, **23**, 223-228.
- Rangel-Castilla, L., Rangel-Castillo, L., Gopinath, S. and Robertson, C. S. (2008) Management of intracranial hypertension. *Neurol Clin*, **26**, 521-541, x.
- Rao, V., Klepstad, P., Losvik, O. K. and Solheim, O. (2013) Confusion with cerebral perfusion pressure in a literature review of current guidelines and survey of clinical practise. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med, 21, 78.

- Roth, R., Isquith P, Gioia, G. (2005) *Behavior Raing Inventory of Executive Function-Adult Version*. PAR, Lutz, FL.
- Rueckert, D., Sonoda, L. I., Hayes, C., Hill, D. L., Leach, M. O. and Hawkes, D. J. (1999) Nonrigid registration using free-form deformations: application to breast MR images. *IEEE Trans Med Imaging*, **18**, 712-721.
- RUSSELL, W. R. and SMITH, A. (1961) Post-traumatic amnesia in closed head injury. *Arch Neurol*, **5**, 4-17.
- Schirmer-Mikalsen, K., Moen, K. G., Skandsen, T., Vik, A. and Klepstad, P. (2013) Intensive care and traumatic brain injury after the introduction of a treatment protocol: a prospective study. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand*, **57**, 46-55.
- Sidaros, A., Engberg, A. W., Sidaros, K., Liptrot, M. G., Herning, M., Petersen, P., Paulson, O. B., Jernigan, T. L. and Rostrup, E. (2008) Diffusion tensor imaging during recovery from severe traumatic brain injury and relation to clinical outcome: a longitudinal study. *Brain*, 131, 559-572.
- Skandsen, T., Kvistad, K., Solheim, O., Strand, I., Folvik, M. and Vik, A. (2009) Prevalence and impact of diffuse axonal injury in patients with moderate and severe head injury: a cohort study of early magnetic resonance imaging findings and 1-year outcome. *Journal* of neurosurgery.
- Skandsen, T., Kvistad, K. A., Solheim, O., Strand, I. H., Folvik, M. and Vik, A. (2010) Prevalence and impact of diffuse axonal injury in patients with moderate and severe head injury: a cohort study of early magnetic resonance imaging findings and 1-year outcome. J Neurosurg, 113, 556-563.
- Smith, D. H., Meaney, D. F. and Shull, W. H. (2003) Diffuse axonal injury in head trauma. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*, **18**, 307-316.
- Smith, S. M., Jenkinson, M., Johansen-Berg, H. et al. (2006) Tract-based spatial statistics: voxelwise analysis of multi-subject diffusion data. *Neuroimage*, **31**, 1487-1505.
- Smith, S. M., Johansen-Berg, H., Jenkinson, M. et al. (2007) Acquisition and voxelwise analysis of multi-subject diffusion data with tract-based spatial statistics. *Nat Protoc*, 2, 499-503.
- Song, S. K., Sun, S. W., Ju, W. K., Lin, S. J., Cross, A. H. and Neufeld, A. H. (2003) Diffusion tensor imaging detects and differentiates axon and myelin degeneration in mouse optic nerve after retinal ischemia. *Neuroimage*, **20**, 1714-1722.
- Song, S. K., Sun, S. W., Ramsbottom, M. J., Chang, C., Russell, J. and Cross, A. H. (2002) Dysmyelination revealed through MRI as increased radial (but unchanged axial) diffusion of water. *Neuroimage*, **17**, 1429-1436.
- Song, S. K., Yoshino, J., Le, T. Q., Lin, S. J., Sun, S. W., Cross, A. H. and Armstrong, R. C. (2005) Demyelination increases radial diffusivity in corpus callosum of mouse brain. *Neuroimage*, 26, 132-140.
- Sorg, S. F., Delano-Wood, L., Luc, N. et al. (2013) White Matter Integrity in Veterans With Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: Associations With Executive Function and Loss of Consciousness. J Head Trauma Rehabil.
- Spitz, G., Maller, J. J., O'Sullivan, R. and Ponsford, J. L. (2013) White matter integrity following traumatic brain injury: the association with severity of injury and cognitive functioning. *Brain Topogr*, **26**, 648-660.
- Stein, S. C. and Spettell, C. (1995) The Head Injury Severity Scale (HISS): a practical classification of closed-head injury. *Brain injury* : [*BI*], **9**, 437-444.
- STRICH, S. J. (1956) Diffuse degeneration of the cerebral white matter in severe dementia following head injury. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, **19**, 163-185.

- Tasker, R. C., Westland, A. G., White, D. K. and Williams, G. B. (2010) Corpus callosum and inferior forebrain white matter microstructure are related to functional outcome from raised intracranial pressure in child traumatic brain injury. *Dev Neurosci*, **32**, 374-384.
- Teasdale, G. and Jennett, B. (1974) Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness. A practical scale. *Lancet*, **2**, 81-84.
- Toplak, M. E., West, R. F. and Stanovich, K. E. (2013) Practitioner review: do performance-based measures and ratings of executive function assess the same construct? *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry*, **54**, 131-143.
- Tuch, D. S. (2004) Q-ball imaging. Magn Reson Med, 52, 1358-1372.
- Vargas, M. E. and Barres, B. A. (2007) Why is Wallerian degeneration in the CNS so slow? *Annu Rev Neurosci*, **30**, 153-179.
- Vernooij, M. W., van der Lugt, A., Ikram, M. A., Wielopolski, P. A., Vrooman, H. A., Hofman, A., Krestin, G. P. and Breteler, M. M. (2008) Total cerebral blood flow and total brain perfusion in the general population: the Rotterdam Scan Study. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 28, 412-419.
- Vik, A., Nag, T., Fredriksli, O. A., Skandsen, T., Moen, K. G., Schirmer-Mikalsen, K. and Manley, G. T. (2008) Relationship of "dose" of intracranial hypertension to outcome in severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosurg*, **109**, 678-684.
- Visser, E., Nijhuis, E. H., Buitelaar, J. K. and Zwiers, M. P. (2011) Partition-based mass clustering of tractography streamlines. *Neuroimage*, **54**, 303-312.
- Wilson, J. T., Pettigrew, L. E. and Teasdale, G. M. (1998) Structured interviews for the Glasgow Outcome Scale and the extended Glasgow Outcome Scale: guidelines for their use. J Neurotrauma, **15**, 573-585.
- Xu, J., Rasmussen, I. A., Lagopoulos, J. and Haberg, A. (2007) Diffuse axonal injury in severe traumatic brain injury visualized using high-resolution diffusion tensor imaging. J. Neurotrauma, 24, 753-765.

	TBI group		Cont		
Variable	No.	mean (SD) or %	No.	mean (SD) or %	P-value
Age (mean, SD)	49	29.2 (12.1)	50	32.7 (12.1)	n.s.
Male (%)	36	73.5	36	72	n.s.
Years of completed education (mean, SD)	49	11.9 (2.3)	50	12.16 (2.16)	n.s.
Moderate TBI (%)	26	53.1			
Severe TBI (%)	23	46.9			
Time since injury in years (mean, SD)	49	2.8 (1.1)			
Injury mechanism	49				
Motor vehicle accident (%)	23	46.9			
Fall (%)	22	44.9			
Other injury mechanism (%)	4	8.2			
GCS score (mean, SD)	49	8.8 (3.6)			
Rotterdam CT score (mean, SD)	38	2.7 (1.1)			
DAI grading	47	95.9			
No DAI (%)	12	25.5			
DAI 1 (%)	14	29.8			
DAI 2 (%)	16	34.0			
DAI 3 (%)	5	10.6			
Flair lesion volume (mean, SD)	38	1708.3 (2310.8)			
Number of microhemorrhages	38	13.8 (12.2)			
(mean, SD)					
ICP* (mean, SD)	16	2.8 (5.1)			
CPP** (mean, SD)	16	5.6 (5.1)			
PTA duration	47	95.9			
0-1 week (%)	24	49.0			
1-2 weeks (%)	9	18.4			
2-3 weeks (%)	5	10.2			
3-4 weeks (%)	3	6.1			
> 4 weeks (%)	5	10.2			
GOSE score (mean, SD)	49	6.7 (1.4)			
BRIEF-A					
GEC (mean, SD)	48	105.4 (25.4)	49	94.7 (14.5)	< 0.05
BRI (mean, SD)	48	44.6 (10.9)	49	38.7 (6.8)	< 0.01
MI (mean, SD)	48	60.8 (15.9)	49	56.0 (9.2)	n.s.
D-KEFS TMT					
Subtest 1 (mean, SD)	48	22.1 (6.8)	50	21.0 (5.5)	n.s.
Subtest 2 (mean, SD)	48	28.5 (11.5)	50	25.0 (8.1)	n.s.
Subtest 3 (mean, SD)	47	28.3 (11.2)	50	27.3 (14.9)	n.s.
Subtest 4 (mean, SD)	47	79.8 (29.1)	50	76.6 (33.3)	n.s.
Subtest 5 (mean, SD)	48	22.9 (7.3)	50	20.7 (5.2)	n.s.

Table 1. Demographics, injury characteristics, global outcome, and cognitive control measures in the traumatic brain injury and healthy control groups

Between group differences for age, years of completed education, and cognitive control measures were investigated with independent t-tests. A chi square test was applied in order to test differences between groups with regard to sex distribution. P < 0.05 (two-sided) was considered statistically significant. Statistically significant results are highlighted as bold text. TBI = traumatic brain injury. MRI = Magnetic Resonance Imaging. DAI = traumatic axonal injury. GCS = Glasgow Coma Scale. CT = Computer Tomography. ICP = Intra Cranial Pressure. CPP = Cerebral Perfusion Pressure. BRI = Behavioral Regulation Index. MI = Metacognitive Index. GEC = Global Executive Composite. TMT = Trail Making Test. SD = standard deviation. PTA = Post Traumatic Amnesia. GOSE = Glasgow Outcome Scale Extended. * Number of days with ≥ 3 episodes of ICP >20 mmHg only measured in a subgroup of severe TBI.

White matter tract			TBI group		Control group			p-value	
								1	
Corpus callosum (CC)	FA	0.416	(0.414 ±	0.018)	0.434	(0.436 ±	0.018)	<0.001	
	MD	0.82	(0.83 ±	0.04)	0.78	(0.78 ±	0.03)	<0.001	
	λ1	1.23	(1.23 ±	0.05)	1.19	(1.19 ±	0.03)	<0.001	
	λ2	0.72	(0.73 ±	0.04)	0.68	$(0.67 \pm$	0.03)	<0.001	
	λ3	0.53	(0.54 ±	0.04)	0.48	$(0.49 \pm$	0.03)	<0.001	
	vol (ml)	117.30	(117.71 ±	28.21)	135.09	(137.07 ±	17.01)	<0.001	
Left inferior longitudinal	FA	0.375	(0.377 ±	0.02)	0.398	(0.397 ±	0.012)	<0.001	
fasciculus/ inferior	MD	0.81	(0.83 ±	0.07)	0.77	$(0.78 \pm$	0.03)	<0.001	
fronto-occipital fasciculus	λ1	1.16	(1.18 ±	0.08)	1.13	(1.13 ±	0.04)	<0.001	
(L ILF/IFOF)	λ2	0.74	(0.75 ±	0.07)	0.70	$(0.70 \pm$	0.03)	<0.001	
	λ3	0.54	(0.55 ±	0.06)	0.51	(0.50 ±	0.03)	<0.001	
	vol (ml)	39.36	(38.53 ±	10.78)	45.60	(44.74 ±	9.01)	<0.001	
Right inferior longitudinal	FA	0.373	(0.374 ±	0.021)	0.397	(0.396 ±	0.022)	<0.001	
fasciculus/ inferior	MD	0.81	(0.82 ±	0.04)	0.77	(0.77 ±	0.03)	<0.001	
fronto-occipital fasciculus	λ1	1.17	(1.17 ±	0.05)	1.12	(1.12 ±	0.04)	<0.001	
(R ILF/IFOF)	λ2	0.74	(0.75 ±	0.04)	0.70	$(0.70 \pm$	0.03)	<0.001	
	λ3	0.54	$(0.55 \pm$	0.04)	0.50	(0.50 ±	0.03)	<0.001	
	vol (ml)	39.17	(37.38 ±	9.32)	43.45	(43.61 ±	7.95)	<0.001	
Left superior longitudinal	FA	0.378	(0.376 ±	0.018)	0.390	(0.388 ±	0.016)	<0.001	
fasciculus (L SLF)	MD	0.77	(0.77 ±	0.03)	0.73	(0.73 ±	0.03)	<0.001	
	λ1	1.08	(1.09 ±	0.04)	1.05	$(1.05 \pm$	0.03)	<0.001	
	λ2	0.71	(0.71 ±	0.03)	0.67	$(0.67 \pm$	0.03)	<0.001	
	λ3	0.50	(0.5 ±	0.03)	0.47	$(0.47 \pm$	0.02)	<0.001	
	vol (ml)	19.20	(19.83 ±	4.47)	21.16	(21.05 ±	5.3)	<0.001	
Right superior longitudinal	FA	0.348	(0.347 ±	0.015)	0.361	(0.362 ±	0.016)	<0.001	
fasciculus (R SLF)	MD	0.77	(0.78 ±	0.03)	0.73	(0.73 ±	0.03)	<0.001	
	λ1	1.07	(1.07 ±	0.04)	1.03	(1.03 ±	0.03)	<0.001	
	λ2	0.72	(0.72 ±	0.03)	0.68	$(0.68 \pm$	0.03)	<0.001	
	λ3	0.53	(0.53 ±	0.03)	0.49	$(0.49 \pm$	0.03)	<0.001	
	vol (ml)	35.73	(36.26 ±	6.08)	41.11	(39.6 ±	5.69)	<0.001	

Table 2. Median (in italic) and mean fractional anisotropy, diffusivity, $\lambda 1$, $\lambda 2$, $\lambda 3$ and tract volumes with standard deviations (in parenthesis) obtained with automated tractography in TBI and healthy control groups.

MD = mean diffusivity. FA = Fractional Anisotropy. λ = Lambda (eigenvalue). SD= standard deviation. MD, λ 1, λ 2 and λ 3 are given in 10⁻³ mm²/s. Between group differences were investigated with a Mann-Whitney U test. *p* < 0.05 (two-sided) was considered statistically significant, not corrected for multiple comparisons.

Table 3. Partial correlations (adjusted for age and sex) between mean fractional anisotro-
py and mean diffusivity, and tract volumes obtained with automated tractography, and
GCS and GOSE scores in the TBI group.

	Value	Score	Partial correlation (r)	<i>p</i> -value
Corpus callosum (CC)	Mean FA	GCS	242	.101
		GOSE	.232	.116
	Mean MD	GCS	391	.007
		GOSE	300	.040
	volume	GCS	.326	.025
		GOSE	.279	.057
Left inferior longitudinal fasciculus/	Mean FA	GCS	.247	.094
inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus		GOSE	.260	.078
(L ILF/IFOF)	Mean MD	GCS	281	.056
		GOSE	447	.002
	Volume	GCS	.242	.101
		GOSE	.481	.001
Right inferior longitudinal fasciculus/	Mean FA	GCS	.345	.018
inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus		GOSE	.117	.435
(R ILF/IFOF)	Mean MD	GCS	360	.013
		GOSE	318	.029
	Volume	GCS	.417	.004
		GOSE	.379	.009
Left superior longitudinal fasciculus	Mean FA	GCS	.163	.273
(L SLF)		GOSE	.446	.002
	Mean MD	GCS	377	.009
		GOSE	399	.005
	Volume	GCS	122	.416
		GOSE	.082	.582
Right superior longitudinal fasciculus	Mean FA	GCS	.251	.089
(R SLF)		GOSE	.222	.134
	Mean MD	GCS	316	.030
		GOSE	346	.017
	volume	GCS	.063	.676
		GOSE	.154	.303

Partial correlations (*r*) between white matter integrity (Tract FA, MD, volume), Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) and Glasgow Outcome Scale Extended (GOSE) scores. Results are adjusted for age and sex. Statistically significant was set o p < 0.05 (two-sided), uncorrected for multiple comparisons. FA = Fractional Anisotropy. MD = Mean Diffusivity.

Table 4. Partial within-group correlations (adjusted for age and sex) between mean fraction-
al anisotropy, mean diffusivity, mean tract volumes, and self reported (BRIEF-A) and per-
formance-based (D-KEFS subtests) cognitive control function in the TBI and healthy control
groups.

	Self-reported (BRIEF-A)			Perfomance	-based (D-KEFS TMT)			
	BRI	MI	GEC	Subtest 1	Subtest 2	Subtest 3	Subtest 4	Subtest 5
TBI group (n=46)								
FA								
Corpus callosum	093	.027	025	291	233	333*	325*	172
Right ILF/IFOF	062	061	012	297*	361*	093	281	130
Left ILF/IFOF	034	131	099	263	135	341*	236	173
Right SLF	044	062	059	423**	348*	288	344*	278
Left SLF	013	100	071	504***	368*	482***	397**	392**
MD								
Corpus callosum	007	064	040	.450**	.304*	.401**	.374*	.216
Right ILF/IFOF	073	118	103	.546***	.414**	.320*	.375*	.282
Left ILF/IFOF	.161	.221	.210	.183	.055	.209	.047	.088
Right SLF	.021	.050	.043	.485***	.369*	.337*	.295	.327*
Left SLF	.018	085	043	.405**	.305*	.422**	.402**	.242
Volume								
Corpus callosum	059	061	066	400**	130	340*	217	267
Right ILF/IFOF	206	100	154	364*	295	126	302*	204
Left ILF/IFOF	251	288	292	085	.084	043	.037	031
Right SLF	206	229	234	271	103	046	200	100
Left SLF	121	116	127	096	.750	229	053	.039
Control group (n=49)								
FA								
Corpus callosum	041	.116	.050	139	.014	244	027	016
Right ILF/IFOF	.148	.150	.161	251	216	370*	125	063
Left ILF/IFOF	.055	.056	.060	138	129	249	112	121
Right SLF	041	.088	.033	189	018	193	039	.036
Left SLF	.109	.209	.177	008	120	109	.047	.014
MD								
Corpus callosum	053	038	048	.033	091	.125	.054	072
Right ILF/IFOF	073	164	134	025	167	.072	.045	069
Left ILF/IFOF	167	226	215	165	014	.189	.015	170
Right SLF	109	129	130	.014	032	.229	003	111
Left SLF	011	059	041	.021	168	.118	081	149
Volume								
Corpus callosum	.197	.125	.169	061	180	290*	173	234
Right ILF/IFOF	.028	.047	.041	312	265	344*	180	162
Left ILF/IFOF	.490	.096	.081	.128	081	245	.096	001
Right SLF	122	.006	055	255	166	264	089	088
Left SLF	.116	.171	.158	.091	235	249	020	.144

Partial correlations (*r*) between white matter integrity (Tract FA, MD, volume), performance-based (D-KEFS Trails) and self-report (BRIEF-A) measures of cognitive control function. Results are adjusted for age and sex. BRI = Behavioral Regulation Index. MI = Metacognitive Index. GEC = Global Executive Composite. ILF/IFOF = Inferior Longitudinal Fasciculus/ Inferior Fronto-Occipital Fasciculus. SLF = Superior Longitudinal Fasciculus. Statistically significant results are highlighted as bold text. * = p < .05 (two-tailed). ** = p < .01 (two-tailed), *** = p < .001 (two-tailed). Corrections for multiple comparisons were not applied.

Figure legends

Figure 1. Between-group tract based spatial statistics (TBSS) results for fractional anisotropy and mean diffusivity.

The statistical threshold for significant group differences was p < 0.05, corrected for gender, age at MRI, and multiple comparisons as implemented in Randomise. The FSL 1mm mean FA template was used as the background image. The images are shown in radiological convention, i.e. the right side of the subjects is on the left side of the images. The x, y and z refer to MNI template coordinates. TBI = Traumatic Brain Injury, FA = Fractional Anisotropy, MD = Mean Diffusivity. DAI = Diffuse Axonal Injury.

Figure 2. Association between age and fractional anisotropy and mean diffusivity as obtained with tract based spatial statistics (TBSS) in the control group.

No effect of age on FA or MD was found in the TBI group. The statistical threshold was set to p < 0.05, corrected for multiple comparisons as implemented in Randomise. The FSL 1mm mean FA template was used as the background image. The images are shown in radiological convention, i.e. the right side of the subjects is on the left side of the images. The x, y and z refer to MNI template coordinates. FA = fractional anisotropy, MD = mean diffusivity.

Figure 3. Associations between acute phase injury related variables and neuroradiological findings, as well as chronic phase global outcome, and fractional anisotropy and mean diffusivity as obtained with tract based spatial statistics (TBSS).

The statistical threshold was set to p < 0.05, corrected for gender, age at MRI, and multiple comparisons as implemented in Randomise. The FSL 1mm mean FA template was used as the background image. The images are shown in radiological convention, i.e. the right side of the subjects is on the left side of the images. The x, y and z refer to MNI template coordinates. FA = fractional anisotropy, MD = mean diffusivity, GCS = Glasgow coma scale, FLAIR = fluid attenuated inversion recovery, PTA = post traumatic amnesia, GOSE = Glasgow outcome scale extended.

Figure 4. Associations between performance-based cognitive control function (D-KEFS TMT) and fractional anisotropy and mean diffusivity as obtained with tract based spatial statistics (TBSS) in the TBI and control groups.

The statistical threshold was set to p < 0.05, corrected for gender, age at MRI, and multiple comparisons as implemented in Randomise. The FSL 1mm mean FA template was used as the background image. The images are shown in radiological convention, i.e. the right side of the subjects is on the left side of the images. The x, y and z refer to MNI template coordinates. TBI = Traumatic Brain Injury, FA = Fractional Anisotropy, MD = Mean Diffusivity, D-KEFS TMT = Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System Trail Making Test, ns = non-significant.

Figure 5. Representative tractography images of corpus callosum (a), superior longitudinal fasciculus (b) and inferior longitudinal fasciculus/inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus (c) in one TBI survivor (male with severe TBI, age 21 at time of DTI) and one healthy control (female, age 20).

Figure 1

Fractional anisotropy (FA)



X = 5, Y = -13, Z = 21

Mean diffusivity (MD)

TBI > Healthy controls





X = 5, Y = -12, Z = 3

Severe TBI = Moderate TBI



Motor vehicle accident = Fall



X = 0, Y = 0, Z = 0

DAI > No DAI



DAI grade 2+3 = DAI grade 1



39

Figure 2

Healthy controls Fractional anisotropy (FA)





Figure 3.



41

Figure 4.



Figure 5.

